Impact of probiotics on commensal and pathogenic swine intestinal microbes

by

Weilan Wang

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Food Science and Technology

Department of Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Science

University of Alberta

© Weilan Wang, 2019

Abstract

The application of probiotics is considered an effective approach to improve overall health conditions and growth performance in swine. Understanding the properties of these probiotics is a prerequisite for the selection of probiotics for pigs. Here, a rational selection criteria of swine probiotics is discussed mainly based on divergent probiotic effects of different strains and practical purposes in swine production (Chapter 2). The systematically investigated ecological history rather than the source of isolates should be regarded as the natural origin of probiotic strains, which helps to correct the inconsistencies arising from incorrect identification of the source. Host-adapted probiotic strains are likely to associated with exclusive colonization while the nomadic or environmental strain exert better immune stimulating functions. Strains with potent enzymatic activity are fitter for grower pigs favoring feed digestion and enhancing growth performance.

Enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* (ETEC) is known to be a major pathogen in swine, however, this group of pathogens has a variable profile. Monitoring this profile of ETEC virulence factors could supply novel strategies to develop ETEC vaccines or fimbriae receptor analogues. In this thesis, a multiplex high-resolution melting curves-based qPCR (HRM-qPCR) assay was developed which enabled quantification of predominant ETEC fimbriae types and additionally monitored the presence or absence of other fimbriae types related to post-weaning diarrhea. Inclusion of host-adapted *L. reuteri* effectively reduced ETEC abundance in swine intestine (Chapter 4 and 5). In contrast, nomadic *L. fermentum* and *L. casei* did not show inhibitory effects on ETEC but eliminated *Clostridium* spp.. Furthermore, probiotic intervention showed limited alteration of commensal gut microbiota.

The feed transition after weaning also induces an increasing ability of intestinal microorganisms to harvest energy from dietary carbohydrates. To unravel the adaptation of the swine microbiome

to the dietary shift after weaning, a total of 360 high-quality microbial genomes were assembled as the first metagenomic-assembled-genomic reference for swine intestinal microbiota (Chapter 6). The reconstructed gut microbiome allowed identification of key microbial contributors to the degradation of starch, fructans, and lactose. Starch is a substrate for colonic microbiota and its metabolism is dependent on metabolic cooperativity between *Firmicutes* and *Bacteroidetes*. The functional prediction of the most abundant extracellular starch degrading enzyme in *Firmicutes* was further validated by protein purification and activity assays (Chapter 7). Fructans and lactose are fermented by simple enzymatic systems present in *Bacteroides* and *Lactobacillus* spp., respectively. The improved understanding of carbohydrate fermentation in the swine intestine enables the development of feeding models with higher feed efficiency and better pathogen control for weanling pigs.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Weilan Wang.

Chapter 2 has been published as: Wang WL and Gänzle MG. "Towards rational selection criteria for selection of probiotics in pigs" *Advances in applied microbiology*. I assembled the relevant information and wrote the manuscript with guidance from Dr. Gänzle.

Chapter 3 has been published as Wang W, Zijlstra RT, Gänzle MG. (2017). "Identification and quantification of virulence factors of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* by high-resolution melting curve quantitative PCR". *BMC Microbiology*, 17, 114. Drs. Gänzle and Zijlstra designed the experiments and reviewed the manuscript. I performed the experiments and data analysis and wrote the manuscript with Dr. Gänzle.

Chapter 4 has been published as Zhao X, Wang WL, Blaine, Sarah ST. Kane, Zijlstra RT, Gänzle MG (2018) "Impact of probiotic *Lactobacillus* spp. on autochthonous lactobacilli in weaned piglets". *Applied Microbiology*. I performed the animal study with Kim Williams and Zahra Dehghani, isolated digesta DNA, designed strain-specific primers, analyzed 16S sequencing data and contributed to the manuscript writing. Dr. Zhao performed feed fermentation, helped with sample collection, isolated fecal DNA, conducted qPCR and wrote the manuscript with Dr. Gänzle. Drs. Gänzle and Zijlstra designed the experiment and reviewed the manuscript.

Chapter 5 is in preparation for submission as: Wang W, Zijlstra RT, Gänzle MG. "Feeding *Lactobacillus fermentum, Lactobacillus casei*, or *Lactobacillus reuteri* reduces incidence of pathogen infection in weanling pigs". *Frontiers in Microbiology*. Drs. Gänzle and Zijlstra designed the experiment. Dr. Zhao performed feed fermentation and helped with sample collection. I conducted animal study, analyzed sample and data, wrote the manuscript with Dr. Gänzle.

Chapter 6 has been published as: Wang W, Hu H, Zijlstra RT, Zheng JS, Gänzle MG. "Metagenomic reconstructions of gut microbial metabolism in weanling pigs". *Microbiome*. Drs. Gänzle, Zheng and Zijlstra designed the experiment. I conducted animal study, analyzed bioinformatic data with Huifeng Hu, wrote the manuscript with Dr. Gänzle.

Chapter 7 contains experimental works performed by me with guidance from Dr. Gänzle.

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my supervisor, Dr. Michael Gänzle, for accepting me as a PhD student guiding my research during the past years. Thank you for all the support, patience and encouragement. I would also like to thank Dr. Lynn McMullen. Thank you for all the help, support, and encouragement that really motivated me to be more confident. My sincere thanks to my committee members Dr. Ruurd Zijlstra and Dr. Jens Walter for the all the suggestions and helps on my PhD program. Thanks goes to my examining committee members Dr. Paul Stothard and Dr. Paul Ross. Thank you for your time and all the great helps.

I am very grateful to Dr. Jinshui Zheng, Huifeng Hu, Dr. Xin Zhao, Dr. Ying Hu, Dr. Yalu Yan, Dr. Charlotte Heyer, Kim and Zahra. Thank you for all the helps and supports during our collaboration works. Thanks to Oanh Nguten, Lingxiao Zhang and Dr. David J Simpson for your great help on my gene clone and other molecular works. Thanks to Vandertol-Vanier for your help on all the ordering and delivery things. My especial thanks also go to my colleagues in lab 2-50. They are Dr. Xiaoxi (Brook) Lin, Dr. Xiaoyan Chen, Dr. Ying Hu, Dr. Ziyi Hu, Dr. Xin Zhao, Dr. Yalu Yan, Dr. David J Simpson, Dr. Januana Teixeira, Kaixing Tang, Zhen Li, Qing Li, Yuan Fang, Gautam Gaur, Oanh Nguten, Zhiying Wang, Nuanyi Liang.

I really appreciate all the funding supporters for my research and travelling during my PhD program: Department of AFNS, GSA and FGSR, Alberta Livestock and China Scholarship Council.

Lastly, my deepest love and gratitude go to my families. Thank for their understanding and support throughout my PhD study. Without their love and support, I cannot on the way to make my dreams come true. Thanks for everyone and everything in my life making me who I am today.

vi

Abstractii
Prefaceiv
Acknowledgements vi
List of Tables xii
List of Figures xiv
List of Abbreviations xvii
Chapter 1. Introduction1
1.1. Application of antibiotics and probiotics in swine production
1.2. Hypotheses and objectives
Chapter 2. Towards rational selection criteria for selection of probiotics in pigs
2.1. Introduction
2.2. Initial acquisition of early neonatal microbiome
2.2.1. Sow-to-piglets transmission sets the stage for the gut microbiome
2.2.2. Continuous host cross-talk with microbes shapes the developing gut microbiome 5
2.3. Bacterial-induced enteric disease in pigs
2.3.1. ETEC and Clostridial infection in early life of pigs9
2.3.2. Prevalence of bacterial induced colitis in later life of pigs 10
2.4. Probiotic at different stages of life
2.4.1. Application of probiotics in sow/neonates11
2.4.2. Application of probiotics in weanling piglets
2.4.3. Application of probiotics in grower / finisher pigs
2.5. Selection criteria for probiotic application17
2.6. Conclusion
Chapter 3. Identification and quantification of virulence factors of enterotoxigenic
Escherichia coli by high-resolution melting curve quantitative PCR
3.1. Introduction
3.2. Materials and methods
3.2.1. Microorganisms and growth conditions
3.2.2. Animals and growth environment
3.2.3. Sample collection and DNA extraction

Table of Contents

3.2.4. Identification and quantification of ETEC fimbriae genes by individual / multip	lex
HRM-qPCR	26
3.2.5. Quantification of uspA and toxin genes by SYBR Green based qPCR analysis	27
3.2.6. Statistical analysis	28
3.3. Results	28
3.3.1. Identification of genes encoding ETEC fimbriae by multiplex HRM-qPCR	28
3.3.2. Quantification of genes encoding ETEC fimbriae by multiplex HRM-qPCR	31
3.3.3. PCR quantification of genes encoding ETEC fimbriae in fecal samples	33
3.3.4. Comparison of multiplex HRM-qPCR to quantification with individual qPCR	
reactions	36
3.4. Discussion	37
3.5. Conclusion	40
Chapter 4 Impact of probiotic Lactobacillus spp. on autochthonous lactobacilli in wea	ined
piglets	42
4.1. Introduction	42
4.2. Materials and methods	43
4.2.1. Microorganisms and growth conditions	43
4.2.2. Experimental diet preparation	44
4.2.3. Animal experimentation	45
4.2.4. Extraction of DNA from intestinal and fecal microbiota samples	46
4.2.5. Design of strain-specific primers	46
4.2.6. In silico validation of group specific primers	47
4.2.7. Quantitative PCR for detection of probiotic strains	49
4.2.8. High-resolution melting (HRM)-qPCR for detection of Lactobacillus groups	49
4.2.9. High throughput sequencing of 16S rRNA sequence tags	50
4.2.10. Statistical analysis	50
4.3. Results	51
4.3.1. Strain-specific detection of probiotic strains.	51
4.3.2. Fate of ingested probiotic strains through piglet GIT	51
4.3.3. Effect of probiotic strains on abundance and composition of autochthonous	
lactobacilli	56

4.3.4. Effect of probiotic strains on autochthonous Lactobacillus communities in feces	58
4.4. Discussion	61
4.4.1. Development of a strain-specific qPCR assay to enumerate probiotic strains	61
4.4.2. Survival of freeze-dried and fresh probiotic cultures	62
4.4.3. Lifestyle of lactobacilli relate to intestinal survival	63
4.4.4. Impact of probiotic strains on autochthonous lactobacilli	63
Chapter 5. Feeding Lactobacillus fermentum, Lactobacillus casei, or Lactobacillus reuter	i
reduces pathogen load in weanling pigs	74
5.1. Introduction	74
5.2. Materials and methods	75
5.2.1. Microorganisms and growth conditions	75
5.2.2. Experimental diets and animals	76
5.2.3. Samples preparation and DNA extraction	77
5.2.4. Intestinal pathogen detection using qPCR and HRM-qPCR	77
5.2.5. Fecal microbiological analysis using 16S rRNA gene sequencing	79
5.2.6. Statistical analysis	79
5.3. Results	80
5.3.1. Animal health and growth performance of pigs	80
5.3.2. Reduction of pathogens and toxins in weanling pigs by feeding probiotic lactobaci	lli
	80
5.3.3 Longitudinal changes of ETEC virulence factors in swine feces during the first 21	
days after weaning	82
5.3.4. Alterations in fecal microbiota and Lactobacillus community by feeding lactobacil	lli
in weanling pigs	85
5.3.5. Contribution of feeding lactobacilli in restoring fecal microbiota from weaning	
dysbiosis	88
5.4. Discussion	88
Chapter 6. Metagenomic reconstructions of gut microbial metabolism in weanling pigs.	99
6.1. Introduction	99
6.2. Materials and methods	101
6.2.1. Diets, animals and samples	101

6.2.2. Intestinal microbial community analysis using 16S rRNA gene sequencing
6.2.3. Metagenomic sequencing, assembly, binning and genome annotation
6.2.4. Phylogenetic identification and calculation of the relative abundance
6.2.5. Reconstruction of metabolic pathways for carbohydrate fermentation
6.2.6. Statistical analysis
6.3. Results
6.3.1. Growth performance and gut health of pigs
6.3.2. Bacterial community composition analysis by 16S rRNA gene sequencing
6.3.3. Metagenomic reconstruction of fecal microbiome in weanling pigs
6.3.4. Reconstruction of metabolic pathways for starch, fructan and lactose metabolism in
weanling pigs
6.4. Discussion
6.4.1. Microbial composition in piglets differed by host derived factors and reshaped by diet
6.4.2. Novel reference with 596 genomes were reconstructed for swine fecal
microorganisms
6.4.3. Phylogeny and functions of high-quality genomes reconstructed for swine fecal
microorganisms
6.4.4. Microbial degradation of starch, fructans and lactose in weanling pigs 114
Supplementary materials
Chapter 7 Biochemical characterization of <i>glgB</i> gene cloned from swine intestinal bacteria
7.1. Introduction
7.2. Materials and methods
7.2.1. Bacteria, plasmid and growth condition146
7.2.2. Prediction and validation of $glgB$ gene sequences from swine intestinal bacteria 146
7.2.3. Branching enzyme <i>glgB</i> gene cloning and protein purification
7.2.4. Biochemical characterization of branching enzyme <i>glgB</i> gene clone
7.2.5. Statistical analysis
7.3. Results
7.3.1. Cloning glgB gene from swine intestinal bacteria in E. coli

7.3.2. Quantitative determination of amylose by measuring absorption of amylose-iodine-
complex
7.3.3. Verification of retained enzymatic activity of purified <i>glgB</i>
7.3.4. Biochemical characterisation of α - (1→4)-branching activity of <i>glgB</i> cloned from
swine intestinal bacteria
7.4. Discussion
7.5. Conclusion 153
Chapter 8. General discussion and conclusion155
8.1. Quantitative profile of virulence factors and virotype identification of ETEC in pig 155
8.2. Swine as source of fermentation organisms for cereal fermentations
8.3. Selection criteria for swine probiotic requires further linkage between host adaptation of
strains and host immune responses
8.4. Limitations and future directions
8.5. Conclusion 159
Bibliography

List of Tables

Table 2.2. Application and observations of probiotics in pigs
Table 2.3. Application and observations of probiotics in pathogen challenged piglets
Table 3.1. Synthetic DNA probes as positive controls for K99, F41, F18, and F6 fimbriae gene
sequences for qPCR and multiplex HRM-qPCR analysis
Table 3.2. Primers used for qPCR and multiplex HRM-qPCR analysis 25
Table 3.3. Melting temperature and calibration parameters for multiplex HRM-qPCR detection
of K99, F41, F18, F6 and K88 fimbriae genes 30
Table 3.4. Gene copy number of ETEC fimbriae genes, total ETEC fimbriae, UspA and toxins
genes of diarrhea observed, and health piglets detected by qPCR and HRM-qPCR methods 35
Table 4.1. Viable cell counts of probiotic strains in pig diets 45
Table 4.2. Primers used in PCR amplification 48
Table 4.3. Gene copy number of the orally administered probiotic strains in fecal samples 53
Table 4.4. Abundance of rDNA corresponding to the L. reuteri group, L. salivarius group, L.
delbrueckii group and Lactobacillus spp. relative to total bacterial rDNA in feces of piglets
<i>delbrueckii</i> group and <i>Lactobacillus</i> spp. relative to total bacterial rDNA in feces of piglets during the first 3 weeks post weaning
during the first 3 weeks post weaning 55
during the first 3 weeks post weaning
during the first 3 weeks post weaning
during the first 3 weeks post weaning

Table 5.3. ANOSIM a of Bray–Curtis dissimilarity calculated with ETEC virulence factor genes
content in feces at 0, 7, 14 and 21 days after weaning
Table 5.4. ANOSIM of weighted UniFrac distance matrix calculated with partial 16S rRNA
sequences
Table 5.5. Relative abundance (%) of bacterial genera in fecal microbiota of pigs during the first
3 weeks after weaning, determined by sequencing of 16S rRNA tags
Table 5.6. Bacterial genera with significant difference ($P < 0.05$) in relative abundance (%) of
fecal microbiota of the pigs feed with experimental diets during the first 3 weeks after weaning,
determined by sequencing of 16S rRNA tags
Table S5.1. Growth performance of pigs during the first 3 weeks after weaning
Table S5.2. Gene copy number for <i>Clostridium</i> Cluster I, <i>C. perfringens</i> α toxin I, LT, STa, STb,
E. coli, K99, F41, F18, F6 and K88 fimbriae in digesta collected from ileum, caecum and colon
at day 21
Table S5.3. Gene copy number for <i>Clostridium</i> Cluster I, <i>C. perfringens</i> α toxin I, LT, STa, STb,
E. coli, K99, F41, F18, F6 and K88 fimbriae in feces collected on days 0, 7, 14, and 21
Table 6.1. Growth performance of weanling pigs during the first 3 weeks after weanling 105
Table S6.1. Composition of diets to fulfil NRC recommendations (2012) for pigs (5-11kg) 119
Table S6.2. Experimental design and diets used in this study
Table S6.3. Quality assessment of 596 bins by CheckM 122
Table S6.4. Accession number and reference to the biochemical characterization of enzymes
BLAST for starch, fructan and lactose degradation143
Table 7.1. Concentration of iodine-binding amylose in raw or heated potato amylose after
digestion of clone B342 and B344 expressed protein

List of Figures

Figure 2.1. Different interactions of bifidobacteria and lactobacilli with immune cells in mucosa.
Figure 2.2. Major purpose of feeding probiotics at various growth stage and corresponding
desired properties
Figure 3.1. Melting curve of target sequence
Figure 3.2. Calibration of F6 by changing the DNA range from 2.44% to 60% in the total gene
copy number
Figure 3.3. Melting curves of mixed positive control and the same melting curve reprocessed by
PeakFit software, melting curve of a swine diarrhea feces sample and the corresponding
reprocessed melting curve
Figure 3.4. Scatter plot and regression analysis between the Log ₁₀ gene copy number of F18
fimbriae gene measured by qPCR and multiplex HRM-qPCR methods
Figure 4.1. Quantification of probiotic lactobacilli in stomach, ileal, cecal, and colonic digesta.
Figure 4.2. Gene copy numbers of L. reuteri group, L. salivarius group, L. delbrueckii group in
digesta obtained from the stomach (Panel A) and the colon (Panel B) of piglets
Figure 4.3. Relative abundance of the species L. reuteri, L. salivarius, L. amylovorans, L.
gasseri / L. johnsonii, and other members of the L. delbrueckii group in feces of pigs during the
first three weeks post weaning
Figure S4.1. Overview of the animal experimental design. Animals were started on the
experimental diets at day 1 after weaning

Figure S4.2. Genome alignments of <i>L. casei</i> and L. fermentum for design of strain specific
primers
Figure S4.3. First derivatives of melt curves of PCR products obtained from digesta microbiota
DNA with <i>Lactobacillus</i> group-specific primers72
Figure S4.4. Principle Coordinate Analysis (PCoA) of fecal microbiota composition based on
unweighted unifrac distance of rDNA sequences
Figure 5.1. Reduction of <i>Clostridium</i> cluster I (A), <i>C. perfringens</i> α toxin (B), total <i>E. coli</i> (C)
and heat-labile toxin (D) by feeding lactobacilli
Figure 5.2. Dynamic profiles of ETEC virulence factors at 0, 7, 14 and 21 days after weaning. 84
Figure 5.3. Principle component analysis of ETEC virulence factors at 0, 7, 14 and 21 days after
weaning
Figure 5.4. Fecal microbiota and <i>Lactobacillus</i> diversity during the first 3 weeks after weaning.
Figure S5.1. Fecal microbiota (left) and Lactobacillus (right) community structure as determined
by Principle coordinates analysis (PCoA) of partial 16S rRNA sequences
Figure 6.1a. α-Diversity of fecal microbiota over time
Figure 6.1b. UniFrac distance (weighted) between fecal microbiota of piglets from the same sow
and from all piglets during the first 3 weeks after weanling 106
Figure 6.2. Phylogeny, abundance, and metabolic potential of bacterial taxa in the fecal
microbiota of piglets
Figure 6.3. Predicted metabolic pathways for starch, fructan, and lactose metabolism 111
Figure S6.1. Principle coordinates analysis (PCoA) of fecal microbiota composition based on
weighted UniFrac-distance of partial 16S rRNA sequences

Figure S6.2. Relative abundance (%) of <i>Lactobacillus delbrueckii</i> of suckling pigs (day 0) and
weaned pigs (day 7 and day 14) determined by Illumina sequencing of 16S tags 144
Figure 7.1. Validation of PCR amplification and insertion of <i>glgB</i> gene clone B342 and B344
Figure 7.2. SDS-PAGE analysis of BL21 Star [™] (DE3) expressed protein encoded by B342 and
B344
Figure 7.3. Standard curve for branching enzyme activity determination based on the decrease in
absorption of amylose-iodine complex

List of Abbreviations

AFLP	Amplified fragment length polymorphism
ANI	Average nucleotide identity
ANOSIM	Analysis of similarities
CDI	C. difficile Infection
CEs	Carbohydrate esterases
COG	Clusters of Orthologous Groups
СРВ	Necrotizing β-toxin
C-section delivery	Caesarean section delivery
DC	Dendritic cells
DM	Dry matter
ETEC	Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli
GHs	Glycoside hydrolases
GI tract	Gastrointestinal tract
GlgB	α -(1 \rightarrow 4)-glucan branching enzyme
HMOs	Human-milk oligosaccharides
HRM-qPCR	High-resolution melting curves-based qPCR
HTC	Hybrid two-component
IL	Interleukin
LB	Luria-Bertani
LME	Linear mixed-effects
LT	Heat-labile toxin
ORFs	Open reading frames

OTU	Operational Taxonomic Units
PCoA	Principle Coordinate Analysis
PFGE	Pulsed-Field Gel Electrophoresis
PIS	Porcine intestinal spirochaetosis
PMOs	Porcine milk oligosaccharides
PPE	Porcine proliferative enteropathy
PWD	Post weaning diarrhea
RAPD	Random Amplification of Polymorphic DNA
RDA	Representational difference analysis
SD	Swine dysentery
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SSH	Suppression Subtractive Hybridization
STa	Heat-stable toxin a
STb	Heat-stable toxin b
STEC	Shiga-toxin producing E. coli
T reg	Regulatory T cells
Th	T helper cell
TLR	Toll-like-receptor
Tm	Melting temperature

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1. Application of antibiotics and probiotics in swine production

The primary aim of swine production is to maintain overall health and to improve the growth performance of pigs. Antibiotics, including prophylactic antibiotics and growth promoting antibiotics [1] are one of the most cost-effective choices to maintain gut health and promote animal growth [2]. Direct inhibition on gut microbiota is regarded as the major mechanism of antibiotics promoting growth. The mechanism relying on suppressing the competitiveness of gut microbiota for nutrients contributes to increased feed efficiency in animals [3]. In addition to providing medication, antibiotics have been used at a subtherapeutic level to protect animals from infection by opportunistic pathogens [4,5]. However, the growing spectrum of antibiotic resistance in human and animal pathogens raises the concern of antibiotic abuse and has led to the banning or restriction of antibiotics as growth promoters in many jurisdictions.

Research on alternatives to antibiotics included studies on organic acids, probiotics, prebiotics and minerals [6] to reduce the dependence of antibiotics in animal production. Probiotics have been considered as a promising option due to their health promoting effects in humans and animals. The earliest study of swine probiotic was reported in the 1970s. *L. delbrueckii* fermented broth showed anti-*E.coli* activity in early weaned pigs [7]. Subsequent studies also showed beneficial effects of *Lactobacillus, Bacillus, Enterococcus* and *Pediococcus* in pigs [8–11]. However, inconsistent results have been reported in studies supplying various strains through different delivery methods to pigs [12–15]. These inconsistencies call for more credible analysis and systematic elucidation to correct the differences caused by misdescription on the properties of probiotic strains and their practical effects [16,17]. In addition, the variable beneficial traits required by pig at different

growth stages [18,19] should be carefully distinguished for probiotics selection in large scale production.

1.2. Hypotheses and objectives

Hypotheses

- Probiotics reduce risk of infection by intestinal pathogens in current swine production systems, but their effect is dependent on the ecological adaptation and the corresponding metabolic traits of the probiotic strain (Chapter 2, 4 and 5).

- Swine gut microbiome adapts to the change in the diet after weaning (Chapter 6).

- GlgB branching enzyme catalyzes the formation of α - (1 \rightarrow 6)-branches on amylose (Chapter 7) Objectives

- Selection criteria of probiotics for pigs differ at different growing stage (Chapter 2)

- Improve high-resolution melting curve-based methods for quantitative detection of swine related ETEC fimbriae (Chapter 3)

- Evaluate impact of various lactobacilli on commensal microbiota and pathogens (Chapter 4)

- Lactobacilli with different ecological origins have divergent probiotic effects of (Chapter 5)

- Unravel the adaptation of the swine microbiome to the dietary shift after weaning by metagenomic reconstruction and biochemical characterization of key enzymes involving in major carbohydrates metabolism (Chapter 6 and 7).

Chapter 2. Towards rational selection criteria for selection of

probiotics in pigs

2.1. Introduction

The number of microorganisms with claimed probiotic effects or that have been developed into commercial products has boomed in recent decades, however, results in practice have led to uncertainty about their beneficial roles. Probiotic have been primarily selected in vitro for high acid and bile salt resistance, viability during drying and feed processing, certain enzymatic activities, and anti-microbial activity [12–15]. While these traits may impact probiotic activity, the reliability of in vitro evaluation criteria has been questioned [20]. Moreover, discrepancies between in vivo evaluation and efficacy in commercial practice indicate that knowledge on selection criteria for probiotics is incomplete.

In animal production, probiotics have been applied as feed additive for growth promotion and inhibiting pathogenic bacteria for >30 years [21,22]. Highly diverse organisms of the genera *Lactobacillus, Bacillus, Enterococcus* and *Pediococcus* are most commonly applied in swine production [8–11]. The physiological and microbiome development of pigs after birth [18,19,23], in combination with the different animal production systems [24,25] may require a different function of probiotics to achieve different health beneficial effects. However, few of the past contributions consider the necessity to select for different probiotics at different stages of the animal's life. Therefore, this review aims to assess selection criteria for selection of probiotics in pigs. The assessment is based on a short description of the development of the intestinal microbiome, and the major pathogens in pigs.

2.2. Initial acquisition of early neonatal microbiome

The initial acquisitions of gut microbes in mammals is best characterized in humans. In neonates, gut microbes guide the development of the gastrointestinal tract (GI tract) and educate the immune system [26,27]. At birth, the neonatal gut is aerobic and is initially colonized by facultative aerobes and aerobes [28]. These facultative aerobes, including *Escherichia* and *Enterococcus* are pioneering colonizers and mediate the shift to an anaerobic condition in the first postpartum week [26,28]. Maternal microbial transmission and the exposure to environment shape the early microbiota composition of newborns [28–30].

2.2.1. Sow-to-piglets transmission sets the stage for the gut microbiome

Comparable to human neonates, the vertical transmission of bacteria from sow to piglets is influenced by the mode of delivery [27,31], the feeding method and the contact with the sow [28,29,32]. Animal studies associated caesarean section (C-section) delivery with delayed gut maturation and microbial colonization [31], reduced growth rate, and altered immune system function in piglets [33]. The phylogenetic patterns were also distinct between vaginally delivered and C-section delivered infants, especially the abundance of typical vaginal lactobacilli [28,34]. The dramatical reduction of these lactobacilli within the first postnatal week in human suggested that vaginal microbes are more likely transient rather than residents of neonatal hindgut [27,28,34]. Lactobacilli are not dominant members of swine vaginal microbiota [35] but members of sow vaginal microbiota may also temporarily colonize the piglet's intestine.

Gut microbiome and mother milk are the two validated maternal sources of vertical microbial transmission [28,30,36]. After the initial acquisition of the microbiome at birth, piglets are continuously exposed to niche-adapted microbes transmitted through the intimate contact with other animals [37]. Maternal transmitted strains showed better fitness for colonization than strains

acquired later from non-maternal sources, suggesting that first colonizers can defend ecological niche organisms that arrive later to compete for the same niche [28,30,36]. Continuously exposure to non-maternal microorganisms, however, leads to the decrease of the number of shared bacterial species between mother and infant over time [28]. In human, the vertical transmission of bifidobacteria is supported by human-milk oligosaccharides (HMOs), which selectively stimulate bifidobacteria in the infant's gut [28,30,38,39]. Porcine colostrum contains around 12g/L porcine milk oligosaccharides (PMOs); the concentration of PMO decreases to 7g/L in the mature milk [40–42]. The absence of intact PMOs at the first day of farrowing [42] and the presence of the same strains of lactobacilli in sow milk and piglets suggested the possibility of vertical transmission of oligosaccharide degraders through sow milk [15,36]. Sow milk is also the primary carrier of nutrients and immune regulatory components to feed and protect piglets [26,43]. All these studies suggest that early life of piglets provides a "window of opportunity" to educate immune system and microbial communities in neonates by applying probiotic therapy in sows.

2.2.2. Continuous host cross-talk with microbes shapes the developing gut microbiome

At birth, the newborn is readily colonized by immigrant microorganisms from maternal and nonmaternal sources, resulting an overall high diversity and heterogeneity of colonizers in the first few days of life [26,28–30]. Subsequent niche-specific selection, however, shapes gut microbiota into a stable ecology that is dominated by representatives of five bacterial phyla [17,28,30]. The higher competitiveness of co-evolved symbionts for adhesion sites and resources allows their use in microbial-based strategies to modulate gut microbiomes, which has been particularly well described in lactobacilli. [17,44,45]. More remarkably, the earlier colonizers exert high selective pressure on the subsequent arrivers. The sequence of arrival of these residents can be random but significantly impacts the individual composition of the microbiome [46]. This contingency of colonization history of gut microbiota in newborn has been considered as a potential explanation for the high levels of unexplained individual variation [46]. Host-adapted strains are more likely to overcome the habitat filters and to outcompete other residents, especially, especially when they are applied as probiotics in early life [16,47].

However, the homeostasis of microbiota is far from impregnable but continuously interrupted by multiple factors. Weaning is regarded as a critical phase of pig's early life, in current swine productions, animals are generally around 3-4 weeks post-partum. This artificial intervention abruptly interrupts immune protections from mother milk, imposes social stress by separation from mother and littermates, and forces the young animals to adapt to less-digestible solid feed [48]. These social and physical stresses correspond to severe dysbiosis of gut microbiota and a high susceptibility to pathogen infection in weaning pigs [49,50]. The dietary shift and physiological development alone induce a major succession of intestinal microbiome [18,23,51]. One of the most common reported microbial succession is Lactobacillus spp. due to the milk interruption at weaning [23]. Longitudinal studies of intestinal microbiome of weaning piglets revealed a dramatical decrease of L. delbrueckii after weaning, an organism which maintains a very selective metabolic focus on lactose ([23]. A second example is the increase of Bacteroidetes in response to the inclusion of plant-derived polysaccharides in feed after weaning [18,23,52]. The decline of the abundance of *Enterobacteriaceae* in the late phase of weaning suggested a progressively increasing resistance of weaned piglets to pathogen infection [18,23,51]. These changes of gut microbes stabilize typically within 2-3 weeks after weaning [18,23,52].

2.3. Bacterial-induced enteric disease in pigs

The gastrointestinal tract is a reservoir of various pathogens which induce different enteric diseases and cause severe economic loss in swine industry. These pathogens infect pigs by a variety of mechanism and generally exhibit dynamic patterns of prevalence at various ages of pigs (Table 2.1). The higher susceptibility to bacterial infections in young animals relate to the immature immune systems, the developing gastrointestinal barrier and to microbial dysbiosis induced by weaning transition [53–55]. Grower / finisher pigs are less susceptible to enteric infectious, but the disease related morbidity and growth retardation are more costly, and are associated with a higher cost of in-feed medication [56–58]. Disease in later stage of life, however, can be controlled by vaccines while probiotics can be an alternative way for suckling and weanling piglets.

Infected agent	Clinic disease	Newborn	Suckling (0-3 weeks)	Weaning (4- 10 weeks)	Grower (11- 14 weeks)	Finisher (>15 weeks)	Reference
ETEC K88	Post weaning diarrhea (PWD)	+++	++++	++++	_	_	[59–63]
ETEC F18	PWD	_	_	++++	_	_	[59–63]
C. difficile	C. difficile Infection (CDI)	++++	+++	_	_	_	[64–66]
C. perfringens Type C	Type C infection	++++	+++	_	_	+	[57,63,67,68]
C. perfringens Type A	Type A infection	+	+	++	+++	++++	[67,68]
S. enterica	Salmonellosis	+	—	++	+++	++++	[57,58,63,69–71]
B. hyodysenteriae	Swine dysentery (SD)	—	_	+++	+++	++++	[56,57,72,73]
B. pilosicoli	Porcine intestinal spirochaetosis (PIS)	_	_	+	++++	++	[56,57,72]
L. intracellularis	Porcine proliferative enteropathy (PPE)	_	+	+++	++++	++++	[63,72,74,75]

Table 2.1. Frequency of major porcine enteric diseases at different growth stages

Note: '-' represents pigs are seldom infected; More '+' represents increasing frequencies of infection. The division of the pig stages is

based on the code of practice for the care and handling of pigs in Canada (Canada, 2014).

2.3.1. ETEC and Clostridial infection in early life of pigs

Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli (ETEC) is one of the most commonly bacterial pathogens in neonatal and post-weaning pigs [54]. ETEC bacteria adhere to small intestinal microvilli by hostspecific fimbriae, and then secrete enterotoxins which cause severe diarrhea by perturbing the secretion and absorption of water by enterocytes [76]. In swine, five swine-specific fimbriae, K99, F41, F18, F6 and K88, mediate adhesion to the swine intestinal mucosa. Of these, organisms expressing K88 and F18 cause a majority of diarrheal diseases in pigs [77,78]. K88 and K99 fimbriae positive ETEC are more frequent isolated in neonate piglets while ETEC carrying F18 fimbriae are mostly related to edema disease or post-weaning diarrhea. This age-specific pattern was related to the absence of the oligosaccharide receptor that mediates binding of F18 fimbriae in newborns [78–80]. The pattern of virulence factors also exhibits specific combinations. ETEC strains expressing K88 fimbriae more frequently produce heat-labile toxin (LT) and heat-stable toxin b (STb) while F18 positive strains more frequently produce heat-stable enterotoxins (STa and STb) [81,82]. ETEC is a non-invasive pathogen, therefore, the mucosal F4- and /or F18specific secretory IgA is more effective to prevent ETEC colonization than the lactogenic immunity stimulated by maternal vaccines which decreases with aging and is interrupted by weaning [77,83]. Moreover, limited success was reported in oral administration of vaccines with or without encapsulation in suckling and weaned pigs [84,85]. Thus, additional measures are required to protect neonates and weanling pigs against ETEC infections.

Clostridoides difficile and *C. perfringens* Type C are the main infectious agents of clostridial enteric infections in neonatal pigs at 1 to 7 days of age [68]. In swine production, the prevalence of *C. difficile* infection can be as high as 50% to nearly 100% in piglets between 0- 2 weeks of age but this high prevalence gradual declines as piglets grow older [68,86,87]. Most toxigenic *C.*

difficile isolates from pig produce enterotoxin tcdA and cytotoxic tcdB, which induce exudative colitis and epithelial cell collapse and death, respectively [65,87]. *C. difficile* spread easily between sows and piglets through the environment as well as vertical transmission. Accordingly, *C. difficile* was isolated in neonatal piglets soon after birth but no culture was obtained from C-section delivered piglets [88]. *C. perfingens* Type C infection is characterized by high incidence of hemorrhagic necrotic enteritis in piglets < 7 days of age [68]. The key factor mediating type C infections is the lethal and necrotizing β -toxin (CPB) [67,89,90]. Prevalence of *C. perfringens* type C can be 100% in infected litters, with mortality rate as high as 50-60% [57,67,91]. Disease caused by *C. perfringens* type C has been well controlled by vaccination in swine production in recent years [90].

2.3.2. Prevalence of bacterial induced colitis in later life of pigs

Brachyspira hyodysenteriae, B. pilosicoli and *Lawsonia intracellularis* are the main infectious agents that cause swine dysentery (SD), porcine intestinal spirochetosis (PIS) and porcine proliferative enteropathy (PPE) in grower / finisher pigs, respectively. Although the precise pathogenesis of SD is still unclear, the infected pigs present reduced feed intake, a depression of growth rate and soft or porridge-like diarrhea [63,73,92]. PIS caused by *B. pilosicoli* is distinct from *B. hyodysenteriae* and normally does not lead to the death of pigs but results in reduced growth rate and increased time to market weight [56,57,93]. PPE infection is commonly found in pigs aged from 6 to 20 weeks. PPE induces acute disease in older pigs and chronic conditions in young growing pigs [75,94]. The acute form is observed with hemorrhagic diarrhea and sudden death while the chronic form is observed with signs of diarrhea, rough hair-coat and retarded growth [95,96]. *Salmonella* Typhimurium is the serotype that is most commonly associated with salmonellosis in piglets and growing pigs although a wide range of serotypes were also isolated in

sow [71]. *Salmonella* generally infects the ceca and induces loss of appetite, a febrile response with dullness and watery diarrhea in growing pigs [97,98]. The long persistence of strains in various tissue in growing-finishing pigs also concerns food safety through contamination of pork [63,99].

2.4. Probiotic at different stages of life

In modern swine production, especially intensive industry, different management practices respond to the diverse physiological characteristics of pigs at different growth stages to maximize production efficiency. Accordingly, desired properties of probiotic strains and the major purposes of applying probiotic also vary with the growth stage.

2.4.1. Application of probiotics in sow/neonates

Inclusion of probiotic *Enterococcus faecium* NCIMB 10415 in feed supplementation is a success case which exerted positive effects both on sow and newborns that were consistently demonstrated in multiple studies [37,43,100,101] (Table 2.2). Supplementation of sow feed with *E. faecium* NCIMB 10415 reduced the weight loss of sow and increased the content of lactose as well as the percentage of milk cells expressing mCD14 in sow milk, which positively correlated to weaning weight and the percentages of B cells and activated T cells in piglets [11,102,103]. *E. faecium* does not permanently colonize the intestine [104,105], therefore, feeding sows and their piglets with the same strain simultaneously was more effective than feeding sows alone [11,102,106]. Continuously supplying *E. faecium* NCIMB 10415 to suckling pigs improved their growth performance and decreased the incidence of diarrhea [43,107,108]. Similar results were observed in animals studies applying *Bacillus*-based probiotic to sow and piglets [9,109,110] (Table2.2).

		Source and ecotype	Dose (CFU/d)		Positive observations					
Application	Strain			Duration (d)	Improved growth performance	Regulated gut microbiome	Anti-inflammation / Immunomodulation	Reduced pathogen load	Improved reproductive performance	References
Neonatal piglets	B. subtilis C3102	— / environment	10 ⁹	26	+	-	_	+	N/A	[109]
	B. licheniformis / B. subtilis	soil / environment	109	40	+	-	—	+	N/A	[9]
	L. fermentum 15007	Pig / nomadic	10^{10}	14	_	+	+	+	N/A	[111]
	E. faecium NCIMB10415	—	109	54	—	+	+	+	N/A	[100,101]
	E. faecium EF1	—	109	25	—	_	+	-	N/A	[112]
	L. salivarius B1	pig (M)	109	28	—	—	+	-	N/A	[10]
Weaned piglets	L. fermentum 15007	pig (M)	10 ⁹	10	_	_	+	_	N/A	[113]
	L. brevis ATCC 8287	fermented green olives	10 ¹⁰	21	_	_	+	-	N/A	[114]
	L. rhamnosus GG	human	10^{10}	14	_	+	+	+	N/A	[115]
	E. faecium CECT 4515	_	109	56	+	+	—	—	N/A	[116]
	L. reuteri and L. plantarum	_	109	28	+	-	_	+	N/A	[117]
	L. reuteri TMW1.656	sourdough	10^{10}	21	_	+	_	+	N/A	[118]
Growing / Finishing pigs	E. faecium NCIMB10415	_	10 ¹⁰	56	+	-	_	_	N/A	[119]
	B. lichenformis / B. subtilis	_	1011	60	+	_	_	_	N/A	[120]
	L. plantarum ZJ316	human (infant)	109	60	+	_	_	_	N/A	[121]
	L. acidophilus NCDC15	dairy products	1011	180	+	_	—	_	N/A	[8]
	P. acidilactici strain FT28).	pig	1011	180	+	-	—	+	N/A	[8]
Sow	E. faecium DSM 7134	_	108	58	+	-	—	_	_	[11]
	B. licheniformis / B. subtilis	soil / soya bean fermentation	10 ⁹	40	+	-	_	-	+	[9]
	B. subtilis C3102	—	109	130	+	-	—	-	+	[109]
	L. johnsonii XS4	pig (M)	109	75	+	-	_	-	+	[122]
	E. faecium NCIMB10415	—	109	56	_	+	—	-	+	[37,43,101]
	<i>B. cereus</i> var. <i>toyoi</i> NCIMB 40112	_	10 ⁹	120	_	-	+	-	_	[123]

Table 2.2. Application and observations of probiotics in pigs

and suckling pigs could enhance the overall benefits effects both on sow and piglets more efficiently.

2.4.2. Application of probiotics in weanling piglets

The purpose of applying probiotics in weanling pigs aims to alleviate the weaning stress or to restore gut microbiota from weaning dysbiosis. Because the control of non-invasive pathogens infection by vaccination is limited [83], the ability to inhibit pathogen colonization has been considered as the primary aim of probiotics application in weanling piglets. Probiotic effects against pathogens were shown in pathogen challenged animals [124–126] (Table 2.3). *L. salivarius, L. reuteri* and *L. amylovorus* increased growth performance of weanling pigs after challenge with pathogenic *E.coli* or *Salmonella* and reduced pathogen counts without significant immunomodulation [124,126,127]. In contrast, *L. rhamnosus, L. plantarum* and *Bacillus* cleared pathogens by stimulating host immune response [113,124,125,128–130]. These two distinct modes of action correspond to different ecological roles of host-adapted and normadic lactobacilli [44,131]. *L. salivarius, L. reuteri* and *L. amylovorus* are host-adapted strain which share a long-term evolutionary history with swine while *L. rhamnosus, L. plantarum* and *Bacillus* are nomadic or environmental strains which is able to persist in different habitats [44,131].

Molecular mechanisms involving in divergent immune responses induced by autochthons and allochthons are well studied in human and mice (Figure 2.1)[132–134]. Host-adapted *B. infantis*, *B. breve* and *L. reuteri* skewed immune response toward tolerance by suppression proinflammatory cytokines in dendritic cells (DC) and induced Foxp3+ regulatory T cells (T reg) producing anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 [132,134–136]. In contrast, higher level of proinflammatory cytokines were elicited in DCs by allochthonous *L. rhamnosus* and *L. plantarum*, thus inducing an inflammatory response [132,134] (Figure 2.1). Although *in vivo* data for swine

that would ascertain translation of mechanism from human or mice to pigs are currently insufficient, it is nevertheless credible that host- adapted probiotic strains differ from nomadic strains with respect to their interaction with the immune system. In vitro data support the notion that host adapted strains are associated with immune tolerance while the nomadic or environmental strain are immune stimulatory.

Applications of different doses of the same strain as probiotic in weaning pigs suggested the dose plays an important role for probiotic effects,, but more is not always better [125,137]. Generally, continued feeding of probiotic organisms is required to maintain relevant cell counts of probiotics in the intestine [138,139].

Pathogen	Probiotic	Source and	Observations	Reference		
(CFU /d)	(CFU /d)	eco-type	Immunomodulation	Pathogen load	Growth	_
					performance	
10 ⁹ S. enterica	10^{10} B. subtilis and B.	- / environment	elevated serum IgG level	reduced fecal	-	[124]
serovar Typhimurium	licheniformis			pathogen counts		
+E. coli						
10 ¹¹ Salmonella	10^{10} B. subtilis and	- / environment	increased level of RBC,	reduced Salmonella	-	[128]
Typhimurium	B. methylotrophicus		IgG, and IgM	counts		
10 ⁹ Salmonella	10 ⁸ B. cereus var. Toyoi	- / environment	reduce CD8+ T cells in the	reduced fecal shedding	-	[129]
Typhimurium			peripheral blood and jejunal	of Salmonella		
			epithelium			
10 ¹⁰ ETEC K88	10 ¹⁰ L. rhamnosus	Human / nomadic	expressed jejunal TLR2,	-	-	[125]
			ileal TLR9; upregulated of			
			Nod-like receptor NOD1			
			and TNF-a mRNA			
10 ⁹ ETEC K88ac	10 ⁹ L. plantarum	- /nomadic	increased blood CD4+	-	-	[113]
			lymphocyte subset			
			percentage TNF- α and			
			interferon- γ in the ileum			
10 ¹⁰ ETEC K88ac	10 ⁸ <i>B. licheniformis</i> and	- / environment	excessive generation of	-	-	[130]
	B. subtilis		CD4+IL-10+ T cells			
10 ⁸ ETEC K88	10 ⁹ L. salivarius	- / vertebrate-adapted	-	-	improved villous	[126]
					height and growth	
					performance	
10 ¹⁰ ETEC K88ac	$10^{10}L.$ amylovorus	- / vertebrate-adapted	-	reduced ETEC content	Increased ADG	[127]
				in ileum		
10 ¹⁰ S. enterica	10 ¹⁰ L. reuteri	- / vertebrate-adapted	-	reduced fecal	Increased ADG	[124]
serovar Typhimurium				pathogens counts		
+E. coli						

Table 2.3. Application and observations of probiotics in pathogen challenged piglets

Figure 2.1. Different interactions of bifidobacteria and lactobacilli with immune cells in mucosa. Lower inflammatory response was induced by host-adapted bifidobacteria and *Lactobacillus reuteri* than allochthons lactobacilli. *B. infantis* suppressed the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines TNF- α , interleukin (IL)-1 β and IFN- γ in dendritic cells (DC) via Toll-like-receptor (TLR)-2 signaling and induced Foxp3 regulatory T cells (T reg) releasing high level of IL-10 [132]. *B. breve* activated Foxp3+ T reg producing high level of IL-10 in a TLR9-dependent manner [132]. *L. reuteri* down-regulated proinflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-12 and IL-6 through DC-specific intercellular adhesion molecule 3-grabbing nonintegrin (DC-SIGN) and promoted Foxp3+ T reg secreting high level of IL-10 and TGF- β [134,136]. *L. rhamnosus* and *L. plantrarum* facilitated inflammatory response by upregulating cytokines (IFN- γ , IL-12, TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-8) and elicited T helper cell (Th)-17 through TLR9 and TLR2 signaling, respectively [132].



2.4.3. Application of probiotics in grower / finisher pigs

During growing-finishing stage, bacterial infection is controllable through vaccination [140–142], and the primary goal becomes to improve growth performance. Correspondingly, the required characteristics of probiotic strains shift towards favoring digestion and providing metabolic energy. *Bacillus subtilis* is a potent producer of hydrolytic enzymes including cellulases and phytases [12], which contributes to the improved growth performance of the grower pigs feed with *Bacillus*-based probiotics [120,143–145]. Similarly, *L. plantarum* was found to improve pig growth primarily benefiting from its outstanding metabolic capacity during feed fermentation [121,146]. Although both *L. acidophilus* NCDC-15 and *P. acidilactici* FT28 showed positive effects on growth performance of grower-finisher pigs, the latter strain was more effective due to the higher metabolic capacity [8]. Another important common thread in these success cases is supplying probiotics with a high dose (> 10^{10} CFU /d) and for a long period (> 60 days) [8,119,121]. By contrast, limited improvemets was oberved when *Bacillus* was provided only for a short time[147].

2.5. Selection criteria for probiotic application

To achieve diverse purposes of applying probiotics in swine production, different beneficial profiles are required for probiotic strains. An overview on the relevance of different selection criteria at different stages of life is provided in Figure 2. 2. Only pig-adapted strains that are administrated in early life or shortly after antibiotic treatment are likely to colonize in intestine of piglets [16,17,20,44,46,148]. Host adapted lactobacilli are tolerant to acid and bile salt [149], and possess the metabolic characteristics [12] to compete for adhesion sites and nutrients in swine gut [16,148]. Altering the type of early intestinal colonizers in mice showed a lasting influence on the development of microbiome [46], indicating the possibility to shape the development of gut

microbiota of neonates by introducing host-adapted probiotics early in life. In addition, higher competitiveness of these strains to outcompete pathogens is of importance for piglets who cannot receive full protection from the immature immune system. Thus, to educate the development of gut microbiota or to competitive exclude pathogen attachments, it is necessary to select pig-adapted probiotics. Both phylogenetic inferences and associated functional studies should be combined to elucidate the host adaption of certain strains or species, rather than simply depending on the sources of isolation [16,148]. To date, studies on host-adaption have been limited to *Lactobacillus;* a systematical investigation of host adaption in other species used as probiotic remains subject to future investigation.

Probiotics also protect piglets by generating antimicrobila compounds or upregulating immunity against pathogenic infection [12,14,15,149–152]. The production of organic acids, exopolysaccharides and other antimicrobial compounds is independent from the lifestyle of probiotics and was shown to contribute to pathogen inhibition in weanling pigs [118,153,154]. Compared to host-adapted probiotics, nomadic or environmental probiotics are more likely to clear pathogens by stimulating immunologic defenses [113,124,128,129]. Accordingly, in vitro identification of immunomodulatory traits of a strain has been widely used to predict its potential use as probiotic, which also has raised a concern about the validity of these in vitro studies. Most of positive results detected in IPEC-J2 cell based evaluation were not validated by animal studies or the results from animal studies were not as significant as predicted by cell line test using the same strain [104,105,117,121,155–158]. In terms of inhibiting pathogen infections without colonization, both host-adapted and non-host-adapted probiotics can provide effective protections either through milk directly feeding suckling sow or and weanling pigs [11,102,103,113,124,125,128–130]. But the precondition is selecting probiotics with high
competitiveness in swine gut or efficient immunomodulation validated by *in vivo* studies and maintaining relevant cell counts in the intestine by continuous feeding [138,139].

Grower / finisher pigs receive more protections from a mature immune system, which shifts the aim of applying probiotics toward improving growth performance [8,119,121]. Grower/finisher pigs also require higher doses of probiotic strains, thus, cost associated with preparation and stability of probiotic become more important. Preserving probiotics in a dry form is required for quick mixing with feed and maintaining a longer shelf life [151]. Spore forming probiotics can be added prior to pelleting of feed, which occurs at temperatures that are lethal to vegetative bacterial cells. Potent enzymatic activity is also a favorable trait of probiotics to aid feed digestion and enhancing growth performance of grower pigs [12]. Spore-forming Bacillus spp. have been referred to as outstanding commercial probiotics for growing pigs due to the excellent viability during drying processing, extended shelf life and potent phytase and cellulolytic activity [12,159]. Feed fermentation with lactic acid bacteria [160,161] is an alternative strategy to include probiotics while avoiding concerns related to drying and dry survival. Host-adapted lactobacilli are highly competitive in cereal fermentations; existing technology thus allows feed fermentations at a large scale [146,162,163]. Feed fermentation with probiotic lactobacilli improves the growth performance of pigs by combining the probiotic effects of lactic acid bacteria with the nutritional benefits of feed fermentation Note also that a longer period of probiotics supplying for grower / finisher pigs were suggested to achieve more improvemets in growth peformance [8,119,121,147].

2.6. Conclusion

In conclusion, effective probiotics are a promising solution to address the increasing concern of antibiotic resistance as a result of using antimicrobial growth promotors. The results of probiotic intervention trials in swine, however, are often inconsistent, which clearly demonstrates that "one

size does not fit all" and specific probiotic strains should be selected for specific applications. The critical review of selection criteria and particularly the consideration of the ecological origin of probiotics may guide future applications to use probiotics as an effective tool in swine production.

Figure 2.2. Major purpose of feeding probiotics at various growth stage and corresponding desired properties. The width (wide > narrow) and fill color (deep red > red > blue) of shapes represent degrees of emphasis for the purposes of feeding probiotic or desired properties of probiotics in the corresponding period.



Chapter 3. Identification and quantification of virulence factors of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* by high-resolution melting curve quantitative PCR

3.1. Introduction

Post weaning diarrhea (PWD), especially enterotoxigenic *E. coli* (ETEC) related diarrhea, causes severe mortality and economical loss in the swine industry. Weaning imposes stress through the sudden change of diet and environment, and the interruption of immune protection from the sow's milk. Taken together, these stressors increase the susceptibility of piglets to diarrhea[50]. A high proportion of poorly digestible dietary protein following weaning also favours colonization of the intestine with pathogens. Antibiotics, including prophylactic antibiotics[1,164] and growth promoting antibiotics [50,165] are used to maintain gut health. The increasing concerns of antibiotic resistance development resulted in a ban of antibiotics as growth promoters in several jurisdictions [166,167], which makes control of post weaning diarrhea more difficult.

ETEC colonize the intestine by host-specific fimbriae that mediate adherence to receptors on the surface of the intestinal epithelium. After fimbriae-mediated colonization, ETEC strains produce toxins that disturb fluid homeostasis, thus causing severe diarrhea [50,60,78,168,169]. CFA/I, CFA/II and E8775 fimbriae mediate the attachment of ETEC to the human intestinal epithelium [170,171] whereas ETEC expressing K99 (F5), F41, F18, F6 (987P), and K88 (F4) fimbriae infect swine [78]. CFA/I fimbriae also act as a protective antigen which accelerate the immune response that protects the host from ETEC challenge [172]. Oral immunization with K88 fimbriae elicited a similar immune response as K88 fimbriae carrying ETEC infection in piglets; in both cases the immune response related to promotion of the gene expression of T cells producing IL-17 [173]. ETEC fimbriae thus play key roles in modulation of immune response which could supply more

strategies for ETEC prevention by vaccines or receptor analogues [152,172–174]. Both heat-labile (LT) and heat-stable enterotoxins (STa and STb) are detected in the ETEC related diarrheal samples [175–177]; few strains additionally carry Stx2e [178]. The profile of virulence genes in swine isolates of ETEC varies with the age of the animals and the geographical location; ETEC carrying K88 fimbriae are more frequent in neonate animals while ETEC carrying F18 fimbriae are more frequent in weanling pigs [60,78,169,177,179]. Moreover, vaccination of piglets with a recombinant K88/LT vaccine provided superior protection against ETEC K88 challenge when compared to vaccine with K88 or LT antigens alone [180]. The diversity of virulence factors of ETEC and role of fimbriae as targets for therapeutic intervention highlight the need of effective methods that differentiate fimbriae of ETEC [176,181–183].

PCR-based assays have become routine methods for rapid identification of bacterial pathogens [181,184–187]. High resolution melting (HRM) analysis is increasingly used to discriminate multiple targets in the same reaction [182,188,189]. HRM analysis distinguishes single base changes in target sequences [190]. HRM-PCR assays were established as simple, fast, and accurate methods for rapid identification of lactobacilli [191]. Multiplex PCR-HRM also simultaneously distinguished diverse virulence factors of Shiga-toxin producing *E. coli* (STEC) [188]. In addition to the sensitivity, HRM analysis was suggested as a cost efficient approach for differentiation of microorganism [189].

Quantitative HRM-PCR assays were first established to detect food adulteration, such as distinguishing admixtures to preparations of *Helleborus niger* for medical use [187] and detecting the presence of adulterations in basmati rice [192]. Relative quantification of template DNA with HMR-qPCR assays was initially based on the relationship between the level of normalised fluorescence at certain temperature and the proportion of the adulterant in the food or

pharmaceutical preparation [185,192–195]. A HRM-qPCR assay to simultaneously determine the relative proportions of four species of *Lactobacillus* in sourdough fermentation process achieved quantification by integration of the area of the melting peaks that are obtained by plotting the first derivative of the melting curve [196]. The peak area correlated linearly to the relative proportion of target sequences in a mixture of template DNA [196]. However, HRM-qPCR assays have not been developed for quantification of pathogens. This study therefore aimed to develop quantitative HRM methods to simultaneously identify and quantify five fimbriae types related to ETEC in swine, and to verify the reliability of the method in fecal samples obtained from weaned piglets.

3.2. Materials and methods

3.2.1. Microorganisms and growth conditions

Two K88 antigen positive ETEC strains, *E. coli* strains ECL13795 (O149; virotype STb: LT: EAST1: F4) and ECL13998 (O149; virotype STa: STb: LT: EAST1: F4: Paa) were supplied by *Escherichia coli* Laboratory (University of Montréal, QC, Canada) and incubated at 37°C overnight on Minca agar. Strains served as positive controls for the detection of K88 fimbriae, heat-labile toxin (LT), and heat-stable toxin (STa and STb) genes in qPCR and HRM-qPCR assays. Synthesized sequences and primers for qPCR and multiplex HRM-qPCR analysis.

Partial sequence of genes encoding the K99, F41, F18 and F6 fimbriae biosynthesis or subunit (Table 3.1) were synthesized by gBlocks® Gene fragment (Integrated DNA Technologies, San Diego, California, USA) for use as positive controls in HRM-qPCR assay. The sequences were obtained from GeneBank database (<u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov</u>) (Table 3.2). The specificity of primers was confirmed by PCR reaction with positive controls and DNA isolated from feces samples. For use as standards in HRM-PCR analysis, positive controls were amplified by PCR with specific primers (Table 3.2) and purified by agarose gel electrophoresis. The concentration

of the amplicons was determined by nanodrop 2000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific,

Waltham, Massachusetts, USA) at 260 nm and amplicons were diluted to 10^{10} gene copies / μ L.

Table 3.1. Synthetic DNA probes as positive controls for K99, F41, F18, and F6 fimbriae gene

Target (gene bank accession)	Target gene	Sequence	Location	Size (bp)
K99 fimbriae (X05797.1)	<i>E. coli</i> genes fanA and fanB involved in biogenesis of K99 fimbriae	GCATAAAACTCTGGTTCTTCTTGGCTGTTTATTTTTTT CTATATGTTCAGTGTGTTATTTTATACTCTTCCCTTTATTTT TGTTTTTTTATGCCATATAATTCAATCAGCAGAGATGAT TGGGATCATAAAAATGTCACTTGAGGGTATATGCGATCTT TTAATAAAGATGAATACTTGTTCAGGGAGAAACTTGGTT ATCTTGTGAAAGGAATGGTTAAAGCAAGGTGCTTCCAAT TATTAGTGGAGTTATCAAGTATACGTAGTTCTAGGG	314-589	276
F41 fimbriae (X14354.1)	<i>E. coli</i> fimbriae F41a gene for F41 fimbriae subunit	ACAATTGGGATGACCTCAGTCACAGCAACTATACTTCTGC AAATAAGGCATCTTATCTCTCTTATGGATCTGGTGTTTCT GCAGGTAGTACTTTAGTTATGAATTTAAATAAGGATGTTG CGGGTCGACTTGAATGGGTGG	916-1056	141
F18 fimbriae (KM260195.1)	<i>E. coli</i> isolate HDG_U113 FedA precursor (fedA) gene	AACACAGGGGCAGGAGGTTAAGGCGTCGAATAGCACTGT AAGTTTCGATGCATCAAAAGCAACTACGGAAGGTTTCAA ATTTACTGCTCAACTGAAAGGTGGTCAAACCCCGGGTGA CTTCCAGGGGGCAGCGGCTTACGCGGTTACTTACAAG	357-510	154
F6 (987P) fimbriae (M35257.1)	<i>E. coli</i> fimbriae 987P subunit gene	ACTAAATATTTAGTTCCAGCCTCCAATGATACTAGTGCAT CAGGAGTTGGCGTATACATTCAGGACAACAACGCCCAGG CTGTGGAAATTGGTACTGAAAAAAACTGTACCTGTGGTATC AAATGGCGGATTAGCTCTTTCAGACCAAAGTATTCCACTG CAAGCATACATCGGAACCACCACAGGGAATCCTGA	574-767	194

sequences for qPCR and multiplex HRM-qPCR analysis

Target gene	Sequence (5'3')(name)	Size (bp)	T_A (°C) ^A	Reference
K99 fimbriae (fan A)	CACTTGAGGGTATATGCGATCTT (K99 F)	92	62	This study
K99 Innorrae (Jan A)	GACCTCAGTCACAGCAACTATAC (K99 R)	92	02	This study
F41 fimbriae Sub-	GACCTCAGTCACAGCAACTATAC (F41 F)	110	62	This study
unit A	CGACCCGCAACATCCTTATT (F41 R)	110	02	This study
E19 fimbrics (End. 4)	GGAGGTTAAGGCGTCGAATAG (F18 F)	90	62	This study
F18 fimbriae (Fed A)	CCACCTTTCAGTTGAGCAGTA (F18 R)	90	02	This study
E(fimbrics (Eq. 4)	GTTCCAGCCTCCAATGATACT (F6 F)	100	62	This study
F6 fimbriae (Fas A)	GAAAGAGCTAATCCGCCATTTG (F6 R)	128	62	This study
V99 finitize (from C)	GCACATGCCTGGATGACTGGTG (K88 F)	420	(2)	[107 100]
K88 fimbriae (fae G)	CGTCCGCAGAAGTAACCCCACCT (K88 R)	439	63	[197,198]
E. coli (Universal	CCGATACGCTGCCAATCAGT (UspA F)	004	(([104 107]
stress protein A)	ACGCAGACCGTAGGCCAGAT (UspA R)	884	66	[184,197]
II.e.t labila terrin	CCGTGCTGACTCTAGACCCCCA (LT F)	490	(9	[107 100]
Heat-labile toxin	CCTGCTAATCTGTAACCATCCTCTGC (LT R)	480	68	[197,199]
Heat-stable toxins a	ATGAAAAAGCTAATGTTGGC (STa F)	102	(5	[19/ 107]
	TACAACAAAGTTCACAGCAG (STa R)	193	65	[186,197]
Heat-stable toxins b	TGCCTATGCATCTACACAAT (STb F)	112	(0	[107 200]
	CTCCAGCAGTACCATCTCTA (STb R)	113	60	[197,200]

Table 3.2. Primers used for qPCR and multiplex HRM-qPCR analysis

^A T_A, primer annealing temperature.

3.2.2. Animals and growth environment

To validate the HRM-qPCR assay with animal samples, samples were collected at the Swine Research and Technology Centre (Edmonton, AB, Canada); animals were housed following the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care and trials were approved by the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee. Samples from healthy animals were collected from crossbred weaned pigs (Duroc × Large White, aged 6-7 weeks) that were housed under standard sanitary conditions. Fecal samples were collected from 16 pigs housed in a clean room; 8 samples were collected from pigs with a fecal score of 5-6 at least once (diarrhea episode), and 8 samples were collected from pigs with feces score of less than 5 (healthy control). Samples from animals with diarrhea were collected from crossbred weaned pigs (Duroc × Large White, aged 6-7 weeks)

that were housed under poor sanitary conditions to induce diarrhea. Briefly, the housing was not cleaned before the piglets were moved to the facility and pooled feces from the sow herd were spread on the flooring twice: the day before new pigs were introduced and 1 week later. Feces was scored visually for consistency from 1 (solid feces) to 8 (watery diarrhea). Fecal samples were obtained from 14 pigs with a score 7 or greater for more than 3 three days.

3.2.3. Sample collection and DNA extraction

Bacterial DNA was extracted from bacterial cultures with the DNeasy Blood & Tissue Kit (QIAGEN, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA). Fresh fecal samples were collected directly from rectum after stimulating animals to defecate. Fecal samples were placed in sterile plastic bags and stored at -80°C. Frozen samples (0.2g) were homogenized with ASL buffer and heated at 95 °C for 15 min to lyse cells and the supernatant was isolated by centrifuging at 18,800× g for 1 min. DNA extraction from feces samples followed the manufacturer instruction of QIAamp DNA stool minikit (QIAGEN). Template DNA was diluted to a concentration of 50 mg / L.

3.2.4. Identification and quantification of ETEC fimbriae genes by individual / multiplex HRM-qPCR

All HRM-qPCR reactions were performed using a Rotor-Gene Q (QIAGEN) HRM-thermo cycler and Type-it HRM Kit (QIAGEN) Primers targeting five different porcine ETEC fimbriae genes (K99, F41, F18, F6 and K88) were designed with nearly identical annealing temperature (62 °C to 63 °C) (Table 3.2) to allow amplification in multiplex PCR reaction. HRM-qPCR reactions contained 12.5 μ L 2× HRM Master Mix, 2 μ L template DNA for individual reaction or 3 μ L for multiplex reaction, 700 nM primers for individual reaction and 200 nM per target for multiplex detection to a final volume of 25 μ L. The optimized PCR conditions were 5 min initial denaturation at 95 °C, 45 cycles of denaturation at 95 °C for 10s, annealing at 62 °C for 30s and extension at 72 °C for 25s. During the HRM stage, temperature increased from 65 °C to 95 °C at the speed of 0.1 °C/ step and held for 2s at each step.

qPCR reactions with single amplicons were calibrated by using serial 10-fold dilutions of positive controls to obtain standards containing 10^2 to 10^8 gene copies / μ L as template. Multiplex HRMgPCR combined absolute quantification of all template genes with relative quantification of the proportion of individual genes. A standard curve for the gene copy number of all target genes in multiplex amplification was established from serial 10-fold dilutions of positive controls to obtain standards containing 2×10^2 to 2×10^8 gene copies / μ L of each of the five targets. The relative quantification was conducted on the basis of the linear correlation between the relative areas of the respective melting peaks to the relative proportion of specific target sequences in the mix of template DNA. The raw melting curve was deconvoluted by PeakFit software (Systat software Inc., San Jose, California, USA) using AutoFit Baseline and AutoFit Peaks I Residuals methods. To establish the calibration curves, five to seven different ratios of target were mixed with known concentration mixture DNA template and the ration of target to total DNA was plotted against the corresponding proportion of melting peak area to the total peak area. The calibration equations of the five fimbriae was verified by varying the percentage of the target fimbriae gene sequence in a template mixture containing the gene fragments of the four other fimbriae with identical gene copy number.

3.2.5. Quantification of uspA and toxin genes by SYBR Green based qPCR analysis

Primers used for *uspA*, STa, STb and LT toxins quantification are listed in Table 3.2. qPCR was performed on a 7500 Fast real-time PCR system (Thermo Fisher Scientific) using MicroAmp Fast Optical 96-well reaction plate (Thermo Fisher Scientific). qPCR reactions contained 10 μ L QuantiFast SYBR green master mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific), 2 μ L (10 μ M) primers, 1 μ L template DNA, and water to a final volume of 20 μ L. PCR conditions were as follows: initial denaturation 5 min at 95°C, 40 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 30s, annealing at corresponding temperature (Table 3.2) for 30s and followed by 30 extension at 72°C. At the melting stage, temperature increased with a speed of 0.5 °C/10s from 55 to 95°C. To calibrate qPCR assays, target genes were amplified from chromosomal DNA of *E. coli* ECL13998, purified by agarose electrophoresis, and the concentration was determined by Nanodrop 2000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific). The calibration of the qPCR assays was performed on the same instrument platform, with the same reagents and on the same day as the respective qPCR or HRM-qPCR assays.

3.2.6. Statistical analysis

Experiments were conducted at least in triplicates and results were reported as means \pm SEM. Data analysis was performed with Linear Regression model (PASW Statistics 18.0, Quarry Bay, HK, China) and $p \le 0.05$ was considered statistically significant.

3.3. Results

3.3.1. Identification of genes encoding ETEC fimbriae by multiplex HRM-qPCR

A multiplex HRM-qPCR assay was developed for the simultaneous identification and quantification of five genes of fimbriae that mediate adhesion of ETEC to swine intestinal cells. HRM-qPCR separated the melting peaks of K99, F41, F18, F6 and K88 fimbriae gene amplicons with 1 to 2°C difference (Figure 3.1, Table 3.3). The melting curve results also indicated that melting temperatures of amplicons shift by up to 1°C in multiplex PCR compared to the individual reactions. All melting temperatures obtained in multiplex assays were higher than that of individual amplicons; this difference was more pronounced for the genes encoding F6 and K88 fimbriae (Figure 3.1). These results conform to the stabilizing effect of Evagreen, the fluorescent

dye used in this HRM assay, on double stranded DNA. Tm values of dsDNA increased with the increasing dye concentration and decreasing amplicon concentration in most DNA binding dyes [201,202]. The concentration of free Evagreen increases during melt curve analysis as the dye is released from double stranded DNA. During the melting curve stage of multiplex HRM-qPCR, dye release from the lower melting K99, F41 and F18 amplicons increased the dye concentrations and hence may have increased the binding strength and Tm shift for the higher melting F6 and K88 amplicons. With equal starting concentration of five targets sequences, amplified in multiplex conditions, the area of the five melting peaks differed substantially; the peak height of K99 was the lowest while K88 was the highest. As Evagreen showed equal preference for GC- or AT- rich amplicons, this results may indicate the lower affinity of Evagreen towards shorter double-strand DNA [203,204]. The size of the amplicons ranged from 90 to 439 bp (Table 3.2). Due to the preferential binding to the dye, the peak area and height increased with increasing amplicons length in multiplex reaction. (Figure 3.1). The efficiencies of PCR with the 5 primer pairs did not differ substantially (Table 3.3), minimizing any additional effect of PCR efficiency on the area of the melting peaks.

K99	F41	F18	F	6	K88
74.7±0.06	76.5±0.12	77.6±0.35	79.5±	⊧0.78	80.5±0.15
1.87	1.74	1.7	1.5	85	1.84
0.99	0.99	0.99	0.9	99	0.99
1-20%	0.2%-16.7%	1%-100%	0.3%-4.8%	4.8%-60%	4.8%-20%
2.96	2.74	2.39	0.48	1.44	1.49
0.97	0.97	0.98	0.97	0.99	0.97
	1.87 0.99 1-20% 2.96	1.871.740.990.991-20%0.2%-16.7%2.962.74	1.871.741.70.990.990.991-20%0.2%-16.7%1%-100%2.962.742.39	1.87 1.74 1.7 1.3 0.99 0.99 0.99 0.9 1-20% 0.2%-16.7% 1%-100% 0.3%-4.8% 2.96 2.74 2.39 0.48	1.871.741.71.850.990.990.990.991-20%0.2%-16.7%1%-100%0.3%-4.8%4.8%-60%2.962.742.390.481.44

Table 3.3. Melting temperature and calibration parameters for multiplex HRM-qPCR detection of K99, F41, F18, F6 and K88 fimbriae genes

^A, primer efficiency determined by individual PCR.

^B, r_1^2 , correlation coefficient for standard curve determined by individual qPCR.

^C, Slope for calibration curve correlating the area of the melting peaks area to the proportion of the template DNA

^D, r_2^2 , correlation coefficient for standard curve correlating the area of the melting peaks to the proportion of the template DNA

Figure 3.1. Melting curve of target sequence from positive controls by individual HRM-qPCR (top), melting curve of PCR products amplified from a mixed positive control including five different fimbriae gene sequence by multiplex HRM-qPCR (bottom, dotted) and the corresponding reprocessed melting curve by PeakFit software (bottom, solid).



3.3.2. Quantification of genes encoding ETEC fimbriae by multiplex HRM-qPCR

To establish calibration curves for individual target genes in a mixture of all five genes, all five genes were mixed in equal molar concentrations and the proportion of one of the five was successively reduced. Template DNA containing fixed amounts of four target genes and a variable amount of one target gene were analyzed by HRM-qPCR (Figure 3.2). Calibration curves were established by correlating of the relative area of the melting peaks to the proportion of DNA in the

mix of template DNA (Table 3.3). The calibration range was chosen to cover the content of target DNA in fecal samples (see below). The lowest detection limit was achieved for genes encoding F41 fimbriae, which were detected when their relative proportion exceeded 0.2% of total gene copy numbers. Two calibration curves were established for the gene encoding F6 fimbriae; one calibration curve covered the relative DNA content of 0.3 to 4.8%, a second calibration curve covered the relative DNA content of 4.8 to 60% (Figure 3.2 and Table 3.3). The r^2 of all regression equations was greater than 97% (Table 3.3).

Figure 3.2. Calibration of F6 by changing the DNA range from 2.44% to 60% in the total gene copy number. Gene copy number of K99, F41, F18 and K88 was constant at 1×10^{-10} . The percentages of F6 melting peak area and DNA range were plotted to establish the calibration equation parameters.



3.3.3. PCR quantification of genes encoding ETEC fimbriae in fecal samples

Fecal samples collected from 30 weaning pigs were analysed to assess the applicability of the multiplex HRM-qPCR methods. Samples were obtained from 14 weaning piglets where persistent diarrhea was induced by poor diet and poor sanitary conditions, and from 16 weaning pig that were kept in normal conditions and remained healthy (n=8), or experienced diarrheal episodes (n=8). ETEC fimbriae genes and toxins genes were quantified to determine if ETEC infection contributed to the persistent diarrhea or diarrheal episodes. HRM-qPCR distinguished amplicons of genes encoding ETEC fimbriae in fecal samples (Figure 3.3). Multiplex HRM-qPCR analysis detected all five ETEC fimbriae in all fecal samples collected from animals with diarrhea (Table 3.3); moreover, the gene copy number of ETEC fimbriae types exceeded the detection limit in the most of fecal samples collected from healthy animals or animals with diarrhea episodes (Figure 3.3, Table 3.4). The gene copy numbers of K99, F41 and K88 fimbriae were below the detection limit of the multiplex HRM-qPCR assay in several samples (Table 3.4). The area of melting peaks demonstrated that F18 was the predominant fimbriae type in animals with persistent diarrhea (Figure 3.3, Table 3.4) but not in healthy animals. In animals with persistent diarrhea, high copy numbers of genes encoding fimbriae of ETEC were detected. Moreover, gene copy numbers of ETEC fimbriae did not differ from the gene copy number of uspA, which is present in all strains of *E. coli*, or the copy number of the gene encoding the STb toxin (Table 3.4). These results indicate that a majority of *E. coli* in the fecal samples were ETEC. However, in pigs with diarrheal episodes, or in healthy pigs, numbers of *E. coli* exceeded the numbers of ETEC more than 10,000fold (Table 3.4).

Figure 3.3. Melting curves of mixed positive control (top, dotted) and the same melting curve reprocessed by PeakFit software (top, solid), melting curve of a swine diarrhea feces sample (bottom, dotted) and the corresponding reprocessed melting curve. The two curves are offset by 2 dF/dT.



Table 3.4. Gene copy number of ETEC fimbriae genes, total ETEC fimbriae, UspA and toxins
genes of diarrhea observed, and health piglets detected by qPCR and HRM-qPCR methods. Data
are presented as means of the log_{10} number of gene copies/g wet feces \pm SEM in positive samples ^A

_	Diarrhea ^B Observations $(n = 14)$		Potential I Observatio		Healthy animals $(n = 8)^{B}$		
Target genes	Individual qPCR	Multiplex HRM- qPCR	Individual qPCR	Multiplex HRM- qPCR	Individual qPCR	Multiplex HRM- qPCR	
	5.85±0.14	7.52±0.13	6.35±0.04	3.99±0.28	6.37±0.05	3.97±0.10	
K99 fimbriae (fan A)*	(14/14) ^D	(14/14)	(8/8)	(6/8)	(8/8)	(5/8)	
	6.67 ± 0.07	7.87±0.13	4.46 + 0.07	3.62±0.16	4.67±0.14	4.47 ± 0.43	
F41 fimbriae Subunit A*	(14/14)	(14/14)	(8/8)	(6/8)	(8/8)	(7/8)	
E_{12} finite (E_{12}, I_{13})	8.51±0.17	8.39±0.22	5.03 ± 0.09	5.07 ± 0.08	4.89 ± 0.09	5.04 ± 0.14	
F18 fimbriae (Fed A)	(14/14)	(14/14)	(8/8)	(8/8)	(8/8)	(8/8)	
$\Gamma(C_{1}, 1, \dots, (\Gamma_{1}, A))$	6.60 ± 0.06	7.81±0.12	4.43±0.10	$3.90{\pm}0.09$	4.28±0.10	4.25±0.12	
F6 fimbriae (Fas A)*	(14/14)	(14/14)	(8/8)	(8/8)	(5/8)	(7/8)	
V_{22} final size (for C)	7.15 ± 0.07	7.51±0.14	5.74 ± 0.07	4.10±0.23	5.52 ± 0.05	3.60 ± 0.18	
K88 fimbriae (fae G)	(14/14)	(14/14)	(8/8)	(8/8)	(8/8)	(6/8)	
ETEC ^C	N/A	7.99±0.17 ^a (14/14)	N/A	4.63 ± 0.06^{b} (8/8)	N/A	4.68±0.13 ^b (8/8)	
Universal stress protein A	9.21±0.17 (14/14)	N/A	8.92±0.20 (8/8)	N/A	8.80±0.19 (8/8)	N/A	
Heat-labile toxin	4.24±0.23 ^a (9/14)	N/A	< 3 ^b	N/A	< 3 ^b	N/A	
Heat-stable toxins a	6.22±0.21 ^a (14/14)	N/A	5.11±0.71 ^a (8/8)	N/A	3.02±0.01 ^b (8/8)	N/A	
Heat-stable toxins b	7.80±0.18 ^a (14/14)	N/A	5.03±0.09 ^b (8/8)	N/A	4.89±0.09 ^b (8/8)	N/A	

^A the detection limit of individual qPCR was 10^4 copies / g wet feces; the detection limit of multiplex HRM-qPCR was 10^5 copies / g wet feces.

^B Diarrhea observation corresponds to fecal scores of 7 or higher for more than 3 days; potential diarrhea observation corresponds to fecal scores ranging from 5 to 6 at least once; healthy animals corresponds to fecal scores of less than 5;

^C ETEC was calculated by the CT values and standard curve of HRM-qPCR detection for the feces samples, including the amplification of K99, F41, F18, F6, and K88. ETEC was calculated as the sum the gene copy numbers of all five fimbriae genes as obtained from the CT value of fecal samples by multiplex HRM-qPCR;

^D number of positive samples / numbers of total samples.

N/A, not analyzed.

* means results detected by qPCR and HRM-qPCR are significantly different (P < 0.05).

Data in the same row (ETEC, Universal stress protein A, Heat-labile toxin, Heat-stable toxin a and Heat-stable toxin b) that do not share a common superscript are significantly different (P < 0.05)

3.3.4. Comparison of multiplex HRM-qPCR to quantification with individual qPCR reactions

To verify the reliability of multiplex HRM-qPCR, results of HRM-qPCR analysis were compared to specific qPCR assays as reference method for quantification of DNA. Multiplex HRM-qPCR identified fimbriae types without false positive results (Table 3.4). Multiplex HRM-qPCR detected the target DNA in fecal samples with a detection limit 10^5 copies / g wet feces while the detection limit of qPCR assays ranged from $10^3 - 10^4$ gene copies / g wet feces. The consistency of qPCR and multiplex HRM-qPCR quantification was analysed by regression analysis (Figure 3.4). Correlation of data obtained for quantification of the most abundant F18 fimbriae revealed a r² of 0.9558 (P < 0.001), demonstrating a high consistency between the two methods. However, the gene copy number obtained by multiplex HRM-qPCR analysis was inconsistent with the gene copy number obtained by qPCR for K99, F41 and F6 (P < 0.05). An r² of 0.3572 was obtained when data for all five fimbriae were used for the correlation analysis. The difference between qPCR and multiplex HRM-qPCR analysis likely reflects overestimation of low abundance target genes by HRM-qPCR.

Figure 3.4. Scatter plot and regression analysis between the Log_{10} gene copy number of F18 fimbriae gene measured by qPCR and multiplex HRM-qPCR methods (n=14)



3.4. Discussion

The diversity of virulence factors of swine ETEC and the occurrence of hybrid virotypes necessitates identification of pathogenicity for control and treatment of post weaning diarrhea in swine production [50]. F18 and K88 positive ETEC strains are the most widespread cause for the *E*. coli related post weaning diarrhea and edema disease in piglets [168,205]. *E. coli* with F18 fimbriae cause diarrhea in weaned piglets. Neonatal pigs lack receptors for F18 fimbriae and ETEC with K88 fimbriae typically cause diarrhea in nursing piglets [50,205]. More than 70% of F18 fimbriae positive ETEC strains isolated from diarrheal pigs in the US produce STa and STb. In contrast, strains expressing K88 fimbriae usually produce LT and STb while STa production is infrequent [82,169,206]. Active immunization or passive immunization are used to protect

neonatal and weaning pig since they are highly susceptible to ETEC infection [50]. Successful immunisation strategies target the different fimbriae addition to the toxins, and hence require knowledge on the fimbriae that are related to disease development [207]. Oral immunization with recombinant vaccines such as recombinant K88/LT vaccine [180] or recombinant K88/K99/F6/F41/F18 fimbriae proteins [174] was more advantageous in stimulation of systematic and mucosal immunity [180]. Strategies that employ receptor decoys to prevent binding of specific fimbriae types to the glycan receptor on the surface of the intestinal mucosa provide an alternative therapeutic option to prevent ETEC-induced diarrhea in young pigs. However, different fimbriae bind to different glycan receptors and hence require the use of different therapeutic oligosaccharides [208]. For example, EPS from L. reuteri was shown to prevent adhesion of K88 ETEC but its effect on ETEC expressing other fimbriae remains to be demonstrated [174]. In brief, several therapeutic options for diarrheal disease in piglets including specific recombinant vaccines target bacterial fimbriae and hence depend on diagnostic tools that identify the fimbriae type associated with the diarrheal pathogen. Because several ETEC strains expressing different fimbriae may be present simultaneously, diagnostic tools should be able to identify fimbriae types that are most abundant and hence most relevant for disease development.

HRM analysis discriminates sequence variations between amplicons by determination of high resolution melting curves with a precision of 0.1°C [185]. Compared to the individual qPCR analyses, multiplex HMR-qPCR assays are a suitable, cost-effective and high-throughput strategy for qualitative or quantitative analysis of pathogenic *E. coli* [185]. Previous studies employed HRM-qPCR to confirm the presence of *E. coli* in an ETEC-challenged small intestinal segment perfusion model [152]. Differentiation between *E. coli* and other bacterial taxa was achieved by HRM analysis of amplicons of 16S rRNA genes; confirmation of strain identity was provided by

qPCR analysis of strain-specific virulence factors [152]. Additionally, a multiplex HRM-PCR platform was established to discriminate among virotypes of *E. coli* on the basis of the presence or absence of 7 genes encoding virulence factors [209]. However, the choice of virulence factors that were included in the assay did not encompass those genes that are required to differentiate between different ETEC in swine. This study employed HRM-qPCR to differentiate between swine-associated ETEC strains expressing 5 different types of fimbriae. PCR primers were selected to obtain amplicons separated by $1 - 2^{\circ}$ C, which was sufficient to differentiate the genes in samples containing all five genes.

The multiplex HRM-qPCR assay established in this study not only identified genes encoding virulence factors of swine-associated ETEC, it also quantified their relative abundance. Most other quantitative multiplex HRM-qPCR methods achieve quantification of two or more amplicons based on the normalised fluorescence level [187,193]. Quantification methods developed for basmati rice adulteration, however, allowed confident detection and quantification only when the percentage of adulteration was more than 15% [192–195]. Quantification of multiple amplicons based on the area under the melting peak was first developed to quantify *Lactobacillus* spp. in sourdough [196]. Robust identification and integration of melting peaks that are obtained by the df/dT derivative of the melting curves is achieved with standard chromatography software [196]. Reprocessing the melting curves with chromatography software also increased the accuracy of quantification by reducing the signal-to-noise ratio. The quantification method allowed accurate detection ($R^2 > 0.98$) of multiple *Lactobacillus* species when the corresponding DNA content was more 0.2% of the total DNA [196]. This previous method used a single primer pair to obtain amplicons of 16S rRNA genes that differ in their melting temperature, therefore, concerns related

to primer annealing and PCR efficiency of multiple primers for amplification of multiple genes were not addressed [196].

The multiplex HRM-qPCR developed in this study adopted the relative quantification method based on melt peak area [196] but applied five specific primer pairs rather than a universal primer pair. Primers were selected to obtain identical primer annealing temperatures but amplicons that differ in the melting temperature. Moreover, PCR conditions of multiplex amplification were optimised to achieve similar amplification efficiency. Because primer design for HRM-qPCR is constrained by the necessity of obtaining 5 primer pairs with the same annealing temperature but amplicons having different melting temperatures, the PCR efficiency was not further optimized. The method developed in this study detected genes encoding target fimbriae if their proportion of the total target DNA exceeded 0.2%. The relative quantification results of multiplex HRM-qPCR were comparable to individual qPCR for the predominant fimbriae type but HRM-qPCR provided a higher relative proportion for low abundance targets when compared to conventional qPCR. Although qPCR is considered the "gold standard" for sequence-specific quantification of DNA, discrepancy with other quantitative methods were also observed in comparison of qPCR to other methods for quantification of DNA, e.g. microarray analysis or high-throughput sequencing [210,211]. Moreover, culture-based methods may be superior to DNA-based methods for quantification of viable *E. coli* in food and intestinal samples [212].

3.5. Conclusion

As specific receptors on the host epithelia cells mediates the adhesion and colonization by ETEC, the susceptibility of swine to ETEC infection is determined by animal lineage and age [61]. Enterotoxins typically occur combined with specific serogroups and fimbriae [169]. The multiplex HRM-qPCR assay developed in this study distinguished five different fimbriae gene by optimizing

the combination of primer pairs and reaction conditions. Moreover, the relative quantification based on melt curve area confirmed the prevalence of F18 in weaned pigs and indicated that ETEC was associated with persistent diarrhea in weaning piglets. Accurate diagnosis of major fimbrial antigens and virulence determinants by multiplex HRM-qPCR may thus provide the basis for disease prevention [50], and to develop treatments targeting ETEC on the basis of their fimbriae type [197].

Chapter 4 Impact of probiotic *Lactobacillus* spp. on autochthonous lactobacilli in weaned piglets

4.1. Introduction

Weaning piglets undergo abrupt changes in diet, social and environmental conditions at weaning, and are therefore susceptible to enteric pathogens including *Escherichia coli* and *Clostridium perfringens* [176,213]. Feed antibiotics have been used to manage pig gut microbiota, however, these also contribute to development of antibiotic resistance [214]. Many jurisdictions restrict antibiotics to therapeutic use, therefore prohibiting the prophylactic use of antibiotics and antimicrobial growth promoters. Probiotic bacteria are an alternative to prophylactic antibiotics to prevent diarrheal disease in swine [215,216]. The efficacy of probiotic *Lactobacillus* spp. to animal health has been extensively documented [215].

Selection criteria for identification of probiotic lactobacilli are currently lacking. It remains unclear whether health-promoting activities are strain or species specific, or whether these characteristics are generally shared among *Lactobacillus* spp. Moreover, the genus *Lactobacillus* has an exceptional phylogenetic and physiological diversity. The genus encompasses 24 taxonomic groups, each of these represents a diversity that is typically observed in a bacterial genus [217]. Lifestyles of *Lactobacillus* spp. were distinguished as 'free-living', 'nomadic' or 'host-adapted' [131], based on the increasing availability of large-scale analysis of individual *Lactobacillis* species by large-scale comparative genomics in combination with ecological studies [44,131]. Host-adapted lactobacilli have a stable association with one or more species of vertebrate or insect hosts; free living lactobacilli are adapted to environmental or plant-associated habitats; nomadic lactobacilli combined a free living lifestyle with the ability to temporarily persist in diverse animal or insect hosts [131]. This concept provides a rationale for selection of probiotics and an ecological

perspective to interpret observations in human and animal trials. Autochthonous *Lactobacillus* spp. are present in high cell counts throughout the GI tract of pigs soon after birth and colonize the gastric epithelium [218,219]. Members of the *L. reuteri-*, *L. delbrueckii-* and *L. salivarius-*groups are dominant; the species *L. reuteri* and *L. amylovorus* are most frequently isolated [215,220,221]. *L. reuteri* is further differentiated in host-adapted lineages that colonize the intestine of swine, chicken, rodents, and humans [44,222,223].

This study aimed to determine whether host-adapted lactobacilli exhibit superior survival during gastrointestinal transit relative to nomadic and free-living organisms, and to characterize the impact of probiotic lactobacilli on autochthonous lactobacilli. The study employed *L. reuteri*, *L. casei*, a species with a nomadic lifestyle without niche specialization [131,224] and *L. fermentum*, a species with a free-living lifestyle associated with plant material or environmental habitats [131]. The comparison of a reutericyclin-producing strain of *L. reuteri* and its isogenic reutericyclin-negative derivative [225,226] was used to assess the impact of specific antimicrobial metabolites on autochthonous lactobacilli [23].

Vegetative cells of probiotic cultures are generally freeze-dried for use in food/feed applications (Ross et al., 2005) but can be alternatively applied in feed fermentations [216,227]. The study therefore delivered probiotic cultures as freeze-dried preparations or as fermentation organisms in fermented feed.

4.2. Materials and methods

4.2.1. Microorganisms and growth conditions

The reutericyclin producing *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 and the reutericyclin negative mutant *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 Δ rtcN [225] and two commercial probiotics, *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 were routinely grown on MRS5 agar [228] at 37°C under anaerobic conditions. *L. reuteri*

43

TMW1.656 is a rodent-lineage representative of the vertebrate-host adapted species *L. reuteri* with documented probiotic activity in swine [216]; *L. casei* has been attributed a nomadic lifestyle and *L. fermentum* is associated with environmental habitats [131]. Food grade freeze-dried cultures of *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 with a viable cell count of 10^9 CFU / g were provided by CanBiocin Inc. (Edmonton, AB, Canada). The freeze-dried cultures were stored at 4 °C until use.

4.2.2. Experimental diet preparation

Feed fermentations were performed as previously described [216]. To confirm the identity of the inoculum with fermentation microbiota, the pH, the viable cell counts and the colony morphology of isolates from of each batch of fermented feed were monitored. Viable cell counts were determined by surface plating of serially diluted samples onto MRS5 agar.

The phase I and II basal diets were fed sequentially in the 3-week pig trial and met recommended nutrient requirements for weaning piglets (Table S4.1 of the online supplementary material). The phase I basal diet was fed from day 1 to day 8 and the phase II basal diet from day 9 to 22 (Figure S4.1). The basal diet was mixed with wheat, fermented feeds or probiotic cultures to obtain the following dietary treatments: **Diet A**, unfermented wheat; **Diet B**, unfermented wheat acidified to pH 3.8 with lactic acid and acetic acid; **Diet C**, unfermented wheat with freeze-dried cultures of *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2; **Diet D**, wheat fermented with *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2; **Diet E**, wheat fermented with *L. reuteri* TMW1.656; **Diet F**, wheat fermented *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 Δ *rtcN*. Cell counts of the strains *L. casei* K9-1, *L. fermentum* K9-2, *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 and TMW1.656 Δ *rtcN* in feed are shown in Table 4.1. The average cell counts of *L. casei* K9-1 supplied as freeze-dried culture (Diet C) or by feed fermentation (Diet D) were 7.46 and 8.08 log (CFU/g), respectively; the cell counts of *L. fermentum* K9-2 supplied in Diet C and

D were 7.25 and 7.68 log (CFU/g), respectively. The estimated daily intake of individual probiotic strains was about $10^{10} - 10^{11}$ CFU / day.

	Cell count in diet (log CFU/g) ^{a,b,c}						
Diet	<i>L. casei</i> K9- 1	L. fermentum K9-2	<i>L. reuteri</i> TMW1.656	<i>L. reuteri</i> TMW1.656∆ <i>rtcN</i>	Total		
Control	n.d. ^C	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.		
Acidified control	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.		
Freeze-dried <i>L. casei</i> and <i>L. fermentum</i>	7.5±0.4	7.3±0.5	n.d.	n.d.	7.7±0.4		
Fermented <i>L. casei</i> and <i>L. fermentum</i>	8.1±0.5	7.7±0.4	n.d.	n.d.	8.2±0.5		
L. reuteri TMW1.656	n.d.	n.d.	8.4±0.5	n.d.	8.4±0.5		
<i>L. reuteri</i> TMW1.656∆ <i>rtcN</i>	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	8.3±0.5	8.3±0.5		

Table 4.1. Viable cell counts of probiotic strains in pig diets

^a Cell counts of respective strains.

^b Data is represented as mean \pm SD. The average was calculated on 25 samples for each diet collected daily over the 3-week animal trial.

^c n.d., cell counts below the detection limit of 10^5 CFU/g.

4.2.3. Animal experimentation

This study was performed at the University of Alberta Swine Research and Technology Centre, University of Alberta (Edmonton, AB, Canada), approved by the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee for Livestock, and followed principles established by the Canadian Council on Animal Care. A total of 48 crossbred castrated male piglets (Duroc × Large White/ Landrace F1) were selected at weaning (21 days old). Each piglet was housed in an individual metabolism pen (0.58 m width x 1.22 m length x 0.76 m height) in a temperature-controlled room $(28 \pm 2.5^{\circ}\text{C})$. The six dietary treatments were randomly allocated to 48 piglets in a randomized block design. Each animal was housed in a single pen to provide 8 replicates per dietary treatment. The six experimental diets were administered for 21 days and pigs were killed on day 23. Pigs had free access to feed and water during the trial. Diets were provided at equal amounts twice per day. For bacterial analysis, fresh feces was collected from the pen floors days 0, 7, 14 and 21. The fecal samples were kept at -20°C upon. Digesta of stomach, ileum, cecum and colon were collected at euthanasia and stored at -20°C. Frozen samples were thawed, mixed aseptically by spatula and 2-3 g subsamples were stored at -80°C.

4.2.4. Extraction of DNA from intestinal and fecal microbiota samples

DNA was extracted from intestinal and fecal samples using QIAamp Fast DNA stool mini kit (Qiagen, Inc., Valencia, CA, USA). In brief, approximately 0.2 g of sample was placed into a 2 mL tube filled with 0.2 g of silica beads. The sample was homogenized mechanically followed by heating for 15min at 95°C. DNA extraction from pure cultures was performed using Blood & Tissue Kit (Qiagen, Inc., Valencia, CA, USA).

4.2.5. Design of strain-specific primers

Strain-specific primers for *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 were identified by comparative genomic analysis. Genome sequencing, assembly, and annotation of *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 was conducted by Fusion Genomics (Burnaby, BC, Canada) using *L. casei* ATCC 393 and *L. fermentum* 3872 as reference genomes, respectively. Genome sequences for *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 were compared to 33 and 19 closed genomes of *L. casei* and *L. fermentum*, respectively (Table S4.2). Strain specific sequences (Table 4.2) were identified by alignment of all genomes of the same species using MAUVE [229] (Figure S4.2, Table S4.2).

Strain-specific primers for *L. reuteri* strains targeted the non-ribosomal peptide synthase RtcN, which is exclusive to five strains of *L. reuteri* including *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 (Table 4.2, Lin et al., 2015). *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 Δ *rtcN* was detected with primer targeting the deleted region of *rtcN*. The primer binding sites are also present in the wild-type strain, however, elongation times prevented amplification of the 3047 bp *rtcN* from the wild-type *L. reuteri* TMW1.656. To evaluate primer specificity *in silico*, primers were analysed by BLAST against the nucleotide collection available on Genbank (https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi). PCR reactions indicated that the strain-specific primers resulted in positive amplicons from genomic DNA of the respective strains (Online supplementary Table 4.2).

4.2.6. In silico validation of group specific primers

Group-specific primers for *L. reuteri* group, *L. delbrueckii* group, and *L. salivarius* group are shown in Table 4.2. Their specificity was verified with the probe match tool of the Ribosomal Database Project (https://rdp.cme.msu.edu/). Group-specific primers were tested in PCR reactions with template DNA as follows: *L. plantarum* FUA3099, *L. fermentum* K9-2, *L. paralimentarius* FUA3121, *L. sanfranciscensis* FUA3458 and *L. casei* K9-1 were used for validation of the general LAB primers; *L. ruminis* FUA3179, *L. animalis* FUA3045 were used for validation of *L. salivarius* group primers; *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 and *L. vaginalis* FUA3049 were used for validation of *L. reuteri* group primers; *L. crispatus* DSM29598 was used for validation of *L. delbrueckii* group primers.

Target	Primer	Sequence (5'-3')	Product size (bp)	Tm (°C)	Reference
<i>Lactobacillus</i> complex ^a	Lab F/ R	AGCAGTAGGGAATCTTCCA / CACCGCTACACATGGAG	341	63	[230]
L. reuteri group	sg-Lreu F/ R	GAACGCAYTGGCCCAA / TCCATTGTGGCCGATCAGT	289	60	[231]
L. delbrueckii group	sg-Ldel F/R	GATGCATAGCCGAGTTGAGAGACTG AT / TAAAGGCCAGTTACTACCTCTATCC	197	60	[231]
L. salivarius group	sg-Lsal F/R	CACCGAATGCTTGCAYTCACC / GCCGCGGGTCCATCCAAAA	182	60	[231]
L. casei K9-1	K9-1F/R	GTTGGAGGATCGCGGATTAG / CGTCACCGGAAGTGATGTT	98	62	This study
L. fermentum K9-2	K9-2F/R	CCCACGAGATTGCCCATATT / GAAGATCCATTGCCGTTTCATTAG	111	62	This study
<i>L. reuteri</i> TMW1.656	WT F/R	ACCGGAACATAACAACACCTTA / GAGGTTCCACCGTCATCAAA	105	62	This study
<i>L. reuteri</i> TMW1.656∆ <i>rt</i> <i>cN</i>	rtcN F/R	ACGTTCTAGTAACACAAGTTGGA / TGTAGAGTGTGCTTGAGGAAAG	134	62	This study

Table 4.2. Primers used in PCR amplification

^a Lactic acid bacteria detected by these primers include *Lactobacillus* spp., *Pediococcus* spp., *Weissella* spp., and *Leuconostoc* spp

4.2.7. Quantitative PCR for detection of probiotic strains

Quantitative PCR reactions were conducted on a 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Standard curves for qPCR were generated with PCR amplicons obtained with the same primers and genomic DNA of the respective strains as template. Six 10-fold serially diluted standard samples were used as template. The number of gene copies for each standard was calculated based on DNA concentrations as determined using Nano-drop spectrophotometer system (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Wilmington, USA) and the molecular weight of the PCR product. The detection limit of the assay was 10^5 gene copies per g. The qPCR reaction mixture with a total volume of 25 µL contains 12.5 µL of Quanti Fast SYBR Green master mix (Applied Biosystems), 0.5 µL of 10 µM forward/ reverse primers, 1 µL of template DNA and 10.5 µL of RNase-free water. Technical repeats were conducted for all qPCR reactions.

4.2.8. High-resolution melting (HRM)-qPCR for detection of Lactobacillus groups

HRM-qPCR was conducted on Rotor-GeneQ (Qiagen, USA) using the Type-it HRM PCR Kit (Qiagen, USA) [232] with group specific primers (Table 4.2). Purified 16S rDNA amplicon derived from *L. ruminis* FUA3179, *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 and *L. crispatus* DSM29598 were used as standards in quantification of *L. salivarius* group, *L. reuteri* group, *L. delbrueckii* group, respectively [232]. Multiple species per PCR reaction were identified by cloning of PCR products and Sanger sequencing. In brief, 16S rDNA regions were amplified with group-specific primers followed by purification of the PCR products. The resultant purified 16S rDNA amplicon and the vector pUC19 were ligated by T4 ligase after digestion with *Smal*. The ligated plasmid was transformed into *E. coli* DH5 α followed by plating onto LB agar containing IPTG (0.2 mM), X-gal (40 mg/L) and Ampicillin (50 mg/L).

4.2.9. High throughput sequencing of 16S rRNA sequence tags

Sequences of 16S rRNA sequence tags were obtained on an Illumina MiSeq by the University of Minnesota Genomics Center (Minneapolis, MN, USA). The V5-V6 domain of the 16S rRNA gene was amplified using forward and reverse primers GTGCCAGCMGCCGCGGTAA and CGACRRCCATGCANCACCT, respectively, and the amplicons were pooled for pair-end 300-bp reads sequencing. Sequences were analyzed using the QIIME pipeline (MacQIIME 1.9.1-20150604) [233] After quality control, a total of 6,647,893 sequences with an average length of 266 bp were obtained, corresponding to an average of 34,805 sequences per sample. Operational Taxonomic Units (OTU) clustering was conducted by UCLUST [234] using the GreenGenes database with 97% similarity threshold after quality-filtering and de-multiplexing. Low abundance OTUs with relative abundance < 0.005% of the total OTUs were discarded [235]. The OTU table was filtered by filter taxa from otu table.py to obtain the OTUs clustered into *Lactobacillus*. The assignment of selected OTUs to phylogenetic groups in the genus Lactobacillus [217] was based on BLAST analysis with the sequences in the NCBI database. The relative abundance was calculated as percentage of the abundance of amplicons representing specific bacterial taxa relative to the total abundance of bacterial rDNA. Mixed Procedure based on repeated measurement under randomized block design was applied to the normalized relative abundance of each Lactobacillus group.

4.2.10. Statistical analysis

Analysis of qPCR results was performed in SigmaPlot (Systat Software, San Jose, CA). Gene copy numbers of administered probiotic strains, indigenous *L. reuteri* group, *L. delbrueckii* group and *L. salivarius* group in intestinal contents were compared among dietary treatment using two-way

ANOVA. Statistical significance was assessed at an error probability of 5% (P < 0.05). Results were expressed as mean ± standard deviations.

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Strain-specific detection of probiotic strains.

A strain-specific quantitative PCR assay was established to monitor the fate of probiotic strains during intestinal transit. Strain-specific primers for *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 and TMW1.656 Δ rtcN target the reutericyclin biosynthesis gene cluster which is unique to 5 strains of *L. reuteri* [23,225]. The strain-specific primers for *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 target unique sequences that were identified by comparative genomic analysis (Figure S4.2). Strains were detected in samples from pigs fed the corresponding strains, but not in pigs that were fed other strains, or animals that did not receive probiotics (Table 4.3). The unexpected presence of probiotic strains in few fecal samples of probiotic-free groups (Table 4.3) likely relates to cross-contamination during sampling or DNA handling. Strains were not observed in intestinal samples of animals that did not receive strain in the diet; this observation excludes contamination during feed preparation.

4.3.2. Fate of ingested probiotic strains through piglet GIT

To assess survival of strains with different lifestyles, probiotics were quantified with strain-specific primers in digesta obtained from the stomach, the ileum, the caecum, and the colon (Figure 4.1) and in fecal samples (Table 4.3). Gene copy numbers in colonic digesta were lower (P < 0.05) than gene copy numbers in stomach or ileal digesta for all strains except *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 Δ *rtcN* (Figure 4.1). The decline in the number of *L. fermentum* K9-2 from proximal GIT (stomach) to distal GIT (colon) was largest relative to other strains. Gene copy numbers of *L. fermentum* K9-2 in the cecum were lower (P < 0.05) when delivered as freeze-dried form compared to delivery of the same strain in fermented feed (Figure 4.1). *L. reuteri* wild-type strain had a higher (P < 0.05)

gene copy number in the stomach than its reutericyclin-negative isogenic mutant (Figure 4,1). Conforming to the abundance of strain specific DNA in intestinal samples, higher gene copies of the *L. reuteri* strains were detected in fecal samples when compared to *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 (Table 4.4). Overall, the strain specific detection of lactobacilli in intestinal and fecal samples indicated that the survival of vertebrate host-adapted lactobacilli is higher when compared to other lactobacilli.

		Log (gene copy#/g of wet feces) for the following diets ^b							
Microorganism and time (day) ^a	Control	Acidified controls	L. casei / L. fermentum freeze-dried	L. casei / L. fermentum fermented	<i>L. reuteri</i> TMW1.656	L. reuteri TMW1.656∆rtcN			
<i>Lactobacillus</i> complex									
0	$9.2{\pm}0.9$	9.2±0.7	$9.4{\pm}0.9$	$9.8{\pm}0.4$	$9.7{\pm}0.9$	9.3±0.8			
7	10.0 ± 0.3	10.3±0.6	10.3±0.6	10.5 ± 0.7	9.9±0.5	9.7±0.5			
14	10.0 ± 0.6	$9.9{\pm}0.8$	10.3±0.3	$10.0{\pm}0.7$	9.6±0.6	10.0 ± 0.7			
21	$9.7{\pm}0.8$	9.6±0.5	9.7±0.6	10.3 ± 0.7	9.6±0.6	9.5±0.6			
L. reuteri group									
0	8.7±1.4	8.1±1.2	$8.8{\pm}1.8$	9.2±1.2	8.6±1.6	9.4±1.4			
7	10.1 ± 0.5	$10.0{\pm}0.8$	10.4±0.2	9.6±0.7	9.8±1.3	9.4±1.5			
14	10.2 ± 0.4	$10.4{\pm}0.4$	10.3±0.4	10.1±0.5	9.8±0.6	$9.7{\pm}0.8$			
21	10.2 ± 0.5	9.9±0.4	10.0±0.3	10.3±0.5	9.5±0.5	9.6±0.7			
L. casei K9-1									
0	<5.0	<5.0	<5.0	<5.0	<5.0	<5.0			
7	<5.0	<5.0	8.8±0.3	8.5 ± 0.5	<5.0	<5.0			
14	<5.0	<5.0	$9.4{\pm}0.7^{\rm A}$	$8.7{\pm}0.7^{B}$	<5.0	<5.0			
21	<5.0	<5.0	9.0±0.4	8.8±0.32	<5.0	<5.0			
<i>L. fermentum</i> K9-2									
0	< 5.0	<5.0	<5.0	<5.0	<5.0	<5.0			
7	<5.0	<5.0	5.9 ± 0.7^{B}	6.8±1.1 ^A	<5.0	<5.0			
14	<5.0	<5.0	6.4 ± 0.6^{A}	6.7 ± 0.5^{A}	5.6 ± 0.6^{B}	<5.0			
21	<5.0	<5.0	$6.0{\pm}0.8$	6.8 ± 0.5	<5.0	<5.0			
<i>L. reuteri</i> TMW1.656									
0	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0			
7	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	9.8±0.7	<6.0			
14	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	9.4±0.4	<6.0			
21	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	9.3±0.2	<6.0			
<i>L. reuteri</i> TMW1.656⊿ <i>rtcN</i>	010	0.0			210-012				
0	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0			
7	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	7.2±0.8 ^B	<6.0	9.2±0.5 ^A			
14	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	8.9±0.7			
21	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	<6.0	8.9±0.3			

Table 4.3. Gene copy number of the orally administered probiotic strains in fecal samples. Data are presented as average \pm SD of 8 pigs per diet

^a Fecal samples were collected weekly in the 3-week animal experiment, at day 0, 7, 14 and 21.

^b Gene copy number of respective probiotic strains was determined by qPCR assay. Data are represented as mean \pm standard deviations of 8 animals. Data for the same strain in the same row without a common capital superscript differ (P < 0.05).

Figure 4.1. Quantification of probiotic lactobacilli in stomach, ileal, cecal, and colonic digesta. Animals received diets containing *L. casei* K9-1 (dark gray bars) and *L. fermentum* K9-2 (light gray bars) in freeze-dried from (**hatched bars**, Diet C), or through fermentation (Diet D), *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 (Diet E) or *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 Δ *rtcN* (white bars, Diet F). Digesta were sampled at sacrifice after 3 weeks of feeding. Probiotic organisms were detected with strain specific primers to quantify *L. casei* K9-1 (**dark gray bars**); *L. fermentum* K9-2 (**light gray bars**); *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 (**black bars**), and *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 Δ *rtcN* (**white bars**). Data are presented as mean (n=8) ± standard deviations of 8 replicate observations. One-way ANOVA was performed to assess differences of gene copy numbers between different strains in the same region of gut. Gene copy numbers of different strain in the same compartment of the intestine are significantly (*P* < 0.05) different if bars do not share a common lower case superscript. Gene copy numbers of strains in colonic digesta are marked with an asterisk if they were lower (*P* < 0.05) in comparison to gene copy numbers of the same strain in stomach digesta.


Table 4.4. Abundance of rDNA corresponding to the *L. reuteri* group, *L. salivarius* group, *L. delbrueckii* group and *Lactobacillus* spp. relative to total bacterial rDNA in feces of piglets during the first 3 weeks post weaning. Data were determined by sequencing of 16S rRNA tags and are represented as mean \pm SD of 8 pigs. Within each row, means without common capital superscript differ (*P* < 0.05). Within each column, means without common lowercase superscript differ (*P* < 0.05).

Group / Collection day	Control	Acidified controls	L. casei / L. fermentum freeze-dried	L. casei / L. fermentum fermented	<i>L. reuteri</i> TMW1.65 6	L. reuteri TMW1.656∆rtc N
L. reuteri						
group 0	0.6±0.7 ^{B, b}	2.1±3.2 ^A	1.7±2.0 AB, b	$0.7 \pm 1.0^{B, b}$	1.7±2.4 AB	0.6±0.76 ^{B, b}
7	1.7±1.2 ^{AB, a}	3.7±3.9 AB	2.5 ± 1.6^{AB}	4.7±4.0 ^{A, a}	1.6±1.3 ^в	$2.1{\pm}2.29^{\text{ AB, ab}}$
14	3.4±3.3 ^{A, a}	$2.7{\pm}1.8$ ^{AB}	3.6±2.1 ^{A, a}	2.3±1.2 ^{AB, a}	1.1±0.5 ^B	2.1±1.68 ^{AB, a}
21	1.6±0.6 ^{AB, a}	2.5±2.4 AB	2.1±1.2 ^{AB,} ab	2.7±1.4 ^{A, a}	1.0±0.3 ^B	$2.7{\pm}2.47^{\text{ AB, a}}$
L. salivarius group	0.05+0.06	0.1+0.2	0.04+0.06	0.02+0.1	0.00+0.1	0.02 \ 0.04
0 7	0.05 ± 0.06 0.03 ± 0.05	$0.1{\pm}0.2$ $0.03{\pm}0.07$	$0.04{\pm}0.06$ $0.08{\pm}0.1$ ^{AB}	0.03±0.1 1.7±4.7 ^A	$0.08{\pm}0.1$ $0.08{\pm}0.1$	0.02±0.04 0.01±0.02 ^B
	AB	AB				
14 21	$0.02{\pm}0.02$ $0.05{\pm}0.10$	$0.02{\pm}0.03$ $0.03{\pm}0.07$	$0.03{\pm}0.07$ $0.01{\pm}0.01$	0.03 ± 0.04 0.04 ± 0.05	0.01 ± 0.01 0.00 ± 0.00	$0.01{\pm}0.02$ $0.01{\pm}0.01$
<i>L</i> .						
delbrueckii						
group 0	1.9±1.5 ^{B, b}	2.9±3.3 AB, b	3.0±2.6 AB, b	1.9±1.7 ^{B, b}	4.0±4.1 ^A	2.5±3.6 AB, b
7	6.8±6.5 ^a	11.5±7.3 ^a	7.4±4.8 ^a	12.6±13.7 ^a	6.2±4.6	9.1±12.2 ^a
14	4.6±2.9 ^a	5.6±4.6 ab	6.0±2.7 ^a	5.9±4.1 ª	4.2 ± 2.0	9.1±6.7 ^a
21	5.5±3.5 ^a	8.8±4.0 ^a	5.3±2.0 ª	6.0±3.3 ^a	7.1 ± 3.7	6.8±3.7 ^a
Lactobacillu						
s spp. 0	2.5±1.6 ^{B, b}	5.1±5.8 ^{A, b}	4.8±4.4 ^{A,b}	2.7±2.5 ^{B, b}	5.8±6.2 ^A	3.1±4.3 AB, b
7	8.5±7.5 ^{B, a}	15.2±6.3 ^A ,	10.0 ± 5.0^{AB}	19.1±20.5 ^A ,	7.9±5.0 ^в	11.2±14.3 ^{AB, a}
14	8.0±3.5 ^{AB, a}	8.3±4.9 AB, ab	9.6±3.7 ^{A, a}	8.3±4.8 ^{AB, a}	5.1±2.5 ^B	11.2±7.1 ^{A, a}
21	7.1±3.6 ^a	11.30±5.31 a	7.5±2.5 ^a	8.7±3.1 ^a	8.0±3.8	9.6±5.4 ª

4.3.3. Effect of probiotic strains on abundance and composition of autochthonous

lactobacilli

To characterize the impact of probiotics on autochthonous lactobacilli, the abundance and composition of autochthonous lactobacilli was analyzed in digesta samples collected at the end of the trial. Intestinal lactobacilli all belonged to the *L. reuteri* group, the *L. delbrueckii* group, or the *L. salivarius* group (Table 4.2). Group-specific HRM-qPCR quantified representatives of these *Lactobacillus* groups. *L. reuteri* constituted the most abundant group in the stomach; the *L. delbrueckii* group was most abundant in colonic digesta while the *L. salivarius* group was a minor component in both intestinal compartments (Figure 4.2). Probiotics did not alter the composition of *Lactobacillus* populations in the stomach (Figure 4.2A). The abundance of the *L. salivarius* group in the colon was decreased (P < 0.05) in animals fed chemically acidified feed or fermented feed, indicating that organic acids may contribute to this effect (Figure 4.2B).

HRM-qPCR discriminates between 16S rDNA amplicons obtained with the same primers by analysis of the melting temperature (Tm), and thus discriminates between closely related species which differ with respect to the Tm of amplicons. Melting peaks obtained in HRM-qPCR analysis were assigned to specific *Lactobacillus* species by using reference strains, Sanger sequencing of PCR amplicons, or 16S rRNA sequences from fecal samples of same piglet. Two melting peaks with Tm 81.8°C and 82.9°C were consistently observed after amplification of 16S rDNA from the *L. salivarius* group in colonic digesta of 10 piglets from all six dietary treatments. Only one melting peak with a Tm of 81.8°C was observed in samples of remaining 38 piglets (Figure S4.3A). Sanger

sequencing of PCR amplicons from one of the piglets identified amplicons with Tm of 81.8°C and 82.9°C as amplicons from L. salivarius and L. ruminis, respectively (Figure S4.3A). This assignment matched the predicted Tm of 16S rDNA from L. ruminis and L. salivarius. L. salivarius accounted for about 99% of L. salivarius groups organisms in fecal samples (Table 4.4 and data not shown), in agreement with the consistent presence of the amplicon with Tm 81.8°C in intestinal samples from all piglets (Figure S4.3A). In colonic digesta, a single melting peak at Tm 84.1°C was observed with L. reuteri group specific primers (Figure S4.3B). This Tm matches the Tm of the reference strain of L. reuteri, and the prevalence of OTUs assigned to L. reuteri in 16S sequences of fecal samples. A single peak at Tm of 84.5°C was observed in all samples with primers specific for the L. delbrueckii group (Figure S4.3C). This Tm matches the predicted Tm of L. amylovorus (84.75°C), L. johnsonii (85.0°C), as well as L. gasseri (84.75°C); these species can thus not be differentiated by the HRM-qPCR as used in this study. OTUs assigned to L. amylovorus and (L. gasseri or L. johnsonii) accounted for more than 97% of all sequences assigned to the L. delbrueckii group in fecal samples. In short, HRM-qPCR of intestinal samples provided no indication that probiotic feeding influenced the composition of intestinal lactobacilli at the species level.

Figure 4.2. Gene copy numbers of *L. reuteri* group (black bar), *L. salivarius* group (gray bar), *L. delbrueckii* group (white bar) in digesta obtained from the stomach (Panel A) and the colon (Panel B) of piglets. Digesta were sampled at sacrifice after 3 weeks of feeding. The capital letter codes at X-axis indicate respective diet: Diet A, control; Diet B, acidified control; Diet C, *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 in freeze-dried form; Diet D, *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 in freeze-dried form; Diet D, *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 in freeze-dried form; Diet D, *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 in freeze-dried form; Diet D, *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 in freeze-dried sa mean \pm standard deviation of 8 individual piglets. The gene copy number was quantified using HRM-qPCR method with a detection limit of 1×10^5 gene copies/ g of digesta. Significant differences between gene copy numbers from animals fed different diets were assessed by one-way ANOVA. Bars without a common superscript differ (P < 0.05); superscripts are not shown if none of the values were different.



4.3.4. Effect of probiotic strains on autochthonous Lactobacillus communities in feces

The alteration of intestinal *Lactobacillus* communities in response to probiotics was further analyzed by high throughput sequencing of 16S rRNA sequence tags of PCR amplicons from fecal samples. In keeping with prior observations with *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 in weanling piglets [23]

probiotic feeding did not induce major change for total fecal microbiota (Figure S4.4). Sequences matching to the genus Lactobacillus were initially analyzed at the level of the phylogenetic group [217]; results are shown in Table 4.3. Identification of most lactobacilli at the species level was achieved by a combination of 16S rRNA sequence data and the species-level identification with HRM-qPCR; results of the species level identification are shown in Figure 4.3. Individual animals differed substantially with respect to the Lactobacillus microbiota at baseline (Table 4.4). The abundances of lactobacilli and the three major Lactobacillus groups fluctuated in the first weeks but stabilized after week 2 (Table 4.4 and Figure 4.3). Probiotic interventions with L. casei and L. fermentum did not affect the abundance of L. reuteri group, L. delbrueckii group or L. salivarius group (Table 4.4). Administration of the reutericyclin-positive L. reuteri TMW1.656 transiently decreased the abundance of the L. reuteri group in fecal samples in comparison to control and L. casei / L. fermentum fed animals (Table 4.4) and reduced the proportion of lactobacilli in comparison to the reutericyclin-negative mutant (Figure 4.3). These results suggest that reutericyclin is a subtle but significant modulator of the Lactobacillus community in pigs.

Figure 4.3. Relative abundance of the species *L. reuteri*, *L. salivarius*, *L. amylovorans*, *L. gasseri* / *L. johnsonii*, and other members of the *L. delbrueckii* group in feces of pigs during the first three weeks post weaning. Sequencing of 16S rRNA tags allowed assignment of *Lactobacillus* sequences at the level of the phylogenetic group (Table 4.4); the assignment of sequences to specific *Lactobacillus* species was enabled by combination of rDNA sequence data with HRM-qPCR and Sanger sequencing of PCR amplicons (Figure S3). Bars indicate the average abundance of *Lactobacillus* species relative to total rDNA. Different colors represent different species as indicated; letters indicate the different diet as follows. Diet A: control, Diet B: acidified control, Diet C: *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 in freeze-dried form, Diet D: *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 in fermented form, Diet E: *L. reuteri* TWM1.656, Diet F: *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 $\Delta rtcN$. Data without a common capital superscript differ (P < 0.05).



4.4. Discussion

The present study investigated the interaction between probiotic bacteria of non-swine origin and *Lactobacillus* communities in the pig intestine. We employed probiotic *L. fermentum*, *L. casei*, and *L. reuteri* strains in weaned piglets to i) compare the effect of freeze-dried culture versus fermented cultures on probiotic efficacy in the piglet GIT; ii) develop a culture-independent method for specific quantification of probiotic strains during intestinal transit; and iii) to explore the *in vivo* ecological role of reutericyclin production by *L. reuteri*. The absolute amount and relative abundance of three indigenous *Lactobacillus* groups in various regions of the gut, i.e. stomach, ileum, cecum and colon, and in feces, were detected using strain-, group-specific HRM-qPCR, and 16S rDNA amplicon sequencing.

4.4.1. Development of a strain-specific qPCR assay to enumerate probiotic strains

Strain-specific quantitative PCR differentiated probiotic strains from autochthonous lactobacilli throughout the intestine of weaned piglets. The availability of genome sequences enables identification of strain-specific primers by comparative genomics. Previously, typing methods, such as Random Amplification of Polymorphic DNA (RAPD), Pulsed-Field Gel Electrophoresis (PFGE), Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphism (AFLP) and Suppression Subtractive Hybridization (SSH) were used to distinguish between bacterial isolates [236–245]. In addition, strain specific qPCR primers were designed based on strain-specific RAPD banding patterns [246,247] unique metabolic traits [248] or ITS-sequences [249]. Studies employing these assays are summarized in Table S4.3. Limitations of these assays include the limited specificity and the

requirement for bacterial culture. For example, RAPD and AFLP analyses require re-isolation of strains and cover only 1 - 10% of a bacterial genome, which may be insufficient for strain-level differentiation. SSH relies on the comparison to only one organism [237,250]. The present study thus provides a novel approach for strain-specific quantification of probiotic *L. fermentum*, *L. casei* and *L. reuteri* by qPCR.

4.4.2. Survival of freeze-dried and fresh probiotic cultures

The survival of *L. fermentum* K9-2 in the GI tract was increased when this strain was provided as part of fermented feed compared to delivery of the same strain as freeze-dried culture. In contrast, survival of *L. casei* K9-1 did not depend on the form of delivery. The survival of freeze-dried probiotic strains during intestinal transit is affected by multiple factors including the culture conditions and the pH at harvest of probiotic bacteria, the use of cryoprotectants during freeze-drying, and the composition of the food matrix used for probiotic additives due to the resistance of *Bacillus* endospores to the high temperatures during feed production and feed distribution [252,253]. Feed fermentation with probiotic cultures is a viable alternative for delivery of probiotics in animal production that eliminates the need for strain preparations with high resistance to heat and dry storage [227]. By analogy, the use of probiotic strains as starter cultures in food fermentations [254] may improve their survival during intestinal transit.

4.4.3. Lifestyle of lactobacilli relate to intestinal survival

Strain-specific primers provided a powerful tool to analyze survival of probiotic lactobacilli and their interaction with autochthonous lactobacilli. The lifestyle of lactobacilli was proposed to determine their suitability for probiotic applications [131]; however, this claim has not been substantiated experimentally. L. casei, L. fermentum and L. reuteri represent nomadic, free-living and host-adapted organisms, respectively [44]. The host-adapted L. reuteri strain survived better in the swine intestine compared to nomadic or free-living species. Our study complements and expands observations in human subjects [241] L. reuteri is a symbiont of pigs; the phylogenetic clade IV of L. reuteri has evolved separately from other host-specific clades of L. reuteri [255]. However, genetic signatures distinguishing pig-derived L. reuteri from strains of other hostadapted clades are lacking[222] and clade IV pig isolates do not outcompete other strains of L. reuteri in the pig gut [44]. The lack of swine-specific metabolic traits of L. reuteri may account for the improved survival of L. reuteri TMW1.656, a sourdough isolate of the rodent-specific clade III [217,223] in the pig intestine. The present study thus supports the hypothesis that adaptation of lactobacilli to vertebrate hosts is a relevant criterion for selection of probiotic strains [44,256].

4.4.4. Impact of probiotic strains on autochthonous lactobacilli

Despite colonization resistance of intestinal microbiota, increasing evidence indicates a role of probiotic strains in modulating autochthonous microbiota if strains are adapted to vertebrate hosts, or specifically to the host species. Generally, probiotics have only a limited impact on the resident gut microbiome [257] and probiotic strains are detectable only for a few days after intake of the

probiotic ends [258]. However, temporary or permanent persistence of probiotic strains was observed when the ecological niche was not occupied by closely related species and when the probiotic strain was adapted to the host species [259,260] The present study investigated weaned piglets, which undergo major shifts in intestinal microbiota including intestinal lactobacilli in the first two weeks post-weaning [23,106,138,261]. Feed fermentation and probiotic lactobacilli were subtle yet significant modulators on the population of autochthonous lactobacilli. The abundance of the L. salivarius group was decreased by feed that was acidified chemically or by fermentation (Figure 4.2). Strain-specific effects of probiotics on composition of intestinal lactobacilli were observed only for the reutericyclin-producing L. reuteri TMW1.656. Production of antimicrobial metabolites by probiotic strains is regarded as an important trait for probiotic functionality; past studies particularly discussed bacteriocin formation as a potential probiotic trait [240,262]. L. reuteri TMW1.656, a strain producing the low-molecular weight antimicrobial compound reutericyclin, affected intestinal microbiota of piglets when compared to a reutericyclin-negative wild-type strain of L. reuteri [23]. We investigated the role of reutericyclin in shaping Lactobacillus populations by comparison of L. reuteri TMW1.656 to a reutericyclin-deficient isogenic mutant. The reutericyclin producing L. reuteri TWM1.656 persisted better in the stomach of piglets when compared to the reutericyclin-negative mutant; reutericyclin-production by L. reuteri also altered fecal Lactobacillus communities, indicating that reutericyclin production may displace sensitive autochthonous lactobacilli.

In conclusion, the present study compared the persistence of lactobacilli with different lifestyles in the swine intestinal tract. *L. reuteri*, a species adapted to vertebrate hosts, survives better during intestinal transit of piglets compared to either the nomadic *L. casei* or to the free-living *L. fermentum*. Therefore, ecology and lifestyle of *Lactobacillus* strains may be suitable criteria to select probiotic strains for use in swine production. Probiotic lactobacilli had only a limited impact on autochthonous lactobacilli in the swine intestine, however, reutericyclin production had a subtle but significant impact on intestinal microbiota. Probiotic lactobacilli that were delivered with feed fermentations persisted equal to or better in the swine intestine when compared to freeze-dried cultures, indicating that feed fermentation with probiotic cultures is an alternative to dried cultures or bacterial endospores. Table S4.1. Ingredient composition of basal diets

Turne 1' 114	Composition (%)			
Ingredient ^a	Phase I ^b	Phase II ^b		
Wheat, hard red spring	20.00	50.00		
Corn	31.54	1.76		
Lactose	15.00	10.00		
Soybean meal	15.00	15.00		
Brassica napus canola meal		2.50		
Soy protein concentrate	3.00	2.50		
Herring meal	6.00	2.50		
Corn distillers dried grain with solubles		5.00		
Canola oil	4.00	3.40		
Limestone	1.15	1.10		
Salt	0.50	0.50		
Other vitamin and mineral ingredients	3.31	5.24		
TiO ₂	0.50	0.50		

^a Composition of basal diets fulfills the National Research Council (NRC) recommendations (2012) for pigs (5-11 kg body weight).

^b Phase I was day 0 to 6 and Phase II was day 7 to 21.

Genome Accession	NCBI FTP site
Lactobacillus casei	
GCA_000014525.1_ASM1452v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/014/525/GCA_000014525.1_ASM1452v1
GCA_000019245.3_ASM1924v3	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/019/245/GCA_000019245.3_ASM1924v3
GCA_000026485.1_ASM2648v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/026/485/GCA_000026485.1_ASM2648v1
GCA_000194765.1_ASM19476v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/194/765/GCA_000194765.1_ASM19476v1
GCA_000194785.1_ASM19478v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/194/785/GCA_000194785.1_ASM19478v1
GCA_000309565.2_ASM30956v2	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/309/565/GCA_000309565.2_ASM30956v2
GCA_000309585.1_ASM30958v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/309/585/GCA_000309585.1_ASM30958v1
GCA_000309605.1_ASM30960v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/309/605/GCA_000309605.1_ASM30960v1
GCA_000309625.1_ASM30962v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/309/625/GCA_000309625.1_ASM30962v1
GCA_000309645.1_ASM30964v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/309/645/GCA_000309645.1_ASM30964v1
GCA_000309665.1_ASM30966v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/309/665/GCA_000309665.1_ASM30966v1
GCA_000309685.1_ASM30968v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/309/685.GCA_000309685.1_ASM30968v1
GCA_000309705.1_ASM30970v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/309/705/GCA_000309705.1_ASM30970v1
GCA_000309725.1_ASM30972v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/309/725/GCA_000309725.1_ASM30972v1
GCA_000309745.1_ASM30974v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/309/745/GCA_000309745.1_ASM30974v1
GCA_000309765.1_ASM30976v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/309/765/GCA_000309765.1_ASM30976v1
GCA_000309785.1_ASM30978v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/309/785/GCA_000309785.1_ASM30978v1
GCA_000318035.1_ASM31803v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/318/035/GCA_000318035.1_ASM31803v1
GCA_000376145.1_ASM37614v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/376/145/GCA_000376145.1_ASM37614v1
GCA_000388095.2_LcY_assembly050913	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/388/095/GCA_000388095.2_LcY_assembly050913
GCA_000400585.1_LcA_0213	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/400/585/GCA_000400585.1_LcA_0213
GCA_000418515.1_ASM41851v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/418/515/GCA_000418515.1_ASM41851v1
GCA_000472345.1_ASM47234v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/472/345/GCA_000472345.1_ASM47234v1
GCA_000474615.1_Lcasei5b_2.0	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/474/615/GCA_000474615.1_Lcasei5b_2.0
GCA_000510825.1_ASM51082v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/510/825/GCA_000510825.1_ASM51082v1
GCA_000615205.1_ASM61520v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/615/205/GCA_000615205.1_ASM61520v1
GCA_000736295.3_Lcasei_Hybrid_assembly	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/736/295/GCA_000736295.3_Lcasei_Hybrid_assemble
GCA_000827145.1_ASM82714v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/827/145/GCA_000827145.1_ASM82714v1
GCA_000829055.1_ASM82905v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/829/055/GCA_000829055.1_ASM82905v1
GCA_001013375.1_ASM101337v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/001/013/375/GCA_001013375.1_ASM101337v1
GCA_001066565.1_ASM106656v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/001/066/565/GCA_001066565.1_ASM106656v1
GCA_001066695.1_ASM106669v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/001/066/695/GCA_0010666695.1_ASM106669v1
GCA_001433735.1_ASM143373v1	ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/001/433/735/GCA_001433735.1_ASM143373v1

Table S4.2. Genomes used for multiple genome alignment

Genome Accession

Lactocbacillus fermentum

GCA 000010145.1 ASM1014v1 GCA 000159215.1 ASM15921v1 GCA 000162395.1 ASM16239v1 GCA 000210515.1 ASM21051v1 GCA 000397165.1 ASM39716v1 GCA 000417005.1 ASM41700v1 GCA 000466785.3 ASM46678v3 GCA 000472265.1 LF1 1.0 GCA 000477515.1 Reference Assembly GCA 000496435.1 LfermNB22 1.0 GCA_000966835.1_ASM96683v1 GCA 001010185.1 ASM101018v1 GCA 001010245.1 ASM101024v1 GCA 001039735.1 LFE2 GCA 001077025.1 ASM107702v1 GCA 001297025.1 ASM129702v1 GCA 001297905.1 ASM129790v1 GCA 001368755.1 LF newbler2.7 GCA 001436835.1 ASM143683v1

ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/010/145/GCA_000010145.1_ASM1014v1 ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/159/215/GCA_000159215.1_ASM15921v1 ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/162/395/GCA_000162395.1_ASM16239v1 ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/210/515/GCA_000210515.1_ASM21051v1 ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/397/165/GCA_000397165.1_ASM39716v1 ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/417/005/GCA_000417005.1_ASM41700v1 ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/466/785/GCA_000466785.3_ASM46678v3 ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/472/265/GCA_000472265.1_LF1_1.0 ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/477/515/GCA_000477515.1_Reference_Assembly ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/496/435/GCA_000496435.1_LfermNB22_1.0_ ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/000/966/835/GCA_000966835.1_ASM96683v1 ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/001/010/185/GCA_001010185.1_ASM101018v1 ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/001/010/245/GCA_001010245.1_ASM101024v1 ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/001/039/735/GCA_001039735.1_LFE2 ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/001/077/025/GCA_001077025.1_ASM107702v1 ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/001/297/025/GCA_001297025.1_ASM129702v1 ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/001/297/905/GCA_001297905.1_ASM129790v1 ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/001/368/755/GCA_001368755.1_LF_newbler2.7_ ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/all/GCA/001/436/835/GCA_001436835.1_ASM143683v1

Strain	Culture independent (Yes/No)	Method	Identification/ quantification	Sample type	Ref.
L. reuteri DSM 16350	Yes	SSH & strain specific qPCR	Quantification	Chicken feed and intestine	(Sattler et al., 2014)
L. sobrius 001	Yes	Representational difference analysis (RDA) & strain-specific qPCR	Quantification	Pure culture mix	(Konstantinov et al., 2005)
L. rhamnosus GG	Yes	RAPD & strain-specific qPCR	Quantification	Human feces	(Ahlroos and Tynkkynen, 2009)
Lactococcus lactis subsp. cremoris FC	Yes	RAPD & strain-specific qPCR	Quantification	Human feces	(Maruo et al., 2006)
<i>B. longum</i> Y10, <i>B. infantis</i> Y1 and <i>B. breve</i> Y8	Yes	ITS (<i>in silico</i> comparison) & strain-specific qPCR	Quantification	Yogurt/ Human feces	(Vitali et al., 2003)
L. gasseri 4B2	No	Colony-multiplex PCR	Identification	Mouse feces	(Lucchini et al., 1998)
L. rhamnosus Lc 1/3	Yes	RAPD & PCR	Identification	Pure culture mix	(Tilsala-Timisjärvi and Alatossava, 1998)
L. paracasei LTH 2579	No	Subtraction hybridization & PCR	Quantification	Fermented sausage/ human feces	(Bunte et al., 2000)
L. paracasei IMPC2.1	Yes	f-AFLP & PCR	Identification	Pure culture mix	(Sisto et al., 2009)
L. rhamnosus 35	Yes	Subtractive hybridization & PCR	Identification	Pure culture mix	(Coudeyras et al., 2008)
L. gasseri K7	Yes	qPCR targeting bacteriocin gene	Quantification	Human feces	(Treven et al., 2013)
L. casei strain Shirota	Yes	RAPD & strain-specific qPCR	Quantification	Human feces	(Fujimoto et al., 2008)
L. reuteri TMW1.656	Yes	<i>in silico</i> comparison & strain-specific qPCR targeting RTC biosynthesis gene	Quantification	Pig intestine and feces	(Yang et al., 2015a)
Bifidobacterium longum AH1206	Yes	in silico comparison & strain-specific qPCR	Quantification	Human feces	(Maldonado-Gómez et al., 2016)
L. salivarius abp118	No	Selective medium for rifampicin resistance plasmid	Quantification	Mouse and pig intestine and feces	(Riboulet-Bisson et al., 2012)
<i>L. reuteri</i> ATCC PTA 6475 and <i>L. mucosae</i> FSL-04	No	RAPD typing	Quantification	Human feces	(Frese et al., 2012)
Bifidobacterium breve strain Yakult (BbrY)	No	RAPD & strain-specific qPCR	Quantification	Human feces	(Fujimoto et al., 2011)

Table S4.3. Summary of studies reporting strain-specific identification or quantification methods

Figure S4.1. Overview of the animal experimental design. Animals were started on the experimental diets at day 1 after weaning.



Animal experiment design

Feces	Feces	Feces	Feces, Digesta
0d	7d	14d	21d
			n=48

Figure S4.2. Genome alignments of *L. casei* and L. fermentum for design of strain specific primers. (**Panel A**) Genome alignment of *L. casei* K9-1 against genomes of *L. casei*. Shown is the comparison of an area of interest to the three of 33 strains that are most closely related to *L. casei* K9-1. The white area was selected as unique sequence region (highlighted by red box) for strain specific primer design. (**Panel B**) Genome alignment of *L. fermentum* K9-2 against genomes of *L. fermentum* K9-2. The brown block was selected as unique sequence region (highlighted by red box) for strain specific primer design. (Panel B). The whote selected as unique selected as unique sequence region (highlighted by red box) for strain specific primer design. (Panel B) Genome alignment of *L. fermentum* K9-2 against genomes of *L. fermentum* K9-2. The brown block was selected as unique sequence region (highlighted by red box) for strain specific primer design.

1539500	1540000	1540500	154 ¹ 000	1541500	1542000	1542500	1543000	1543500	1544000
		1.1					(· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
1 gπ files Mapped to 1643000	1643500	t_Genome.gbk (no anno 1644000	1644500	1645000	1645500	1646000_	1646500	1647000	164750
1043000	1043300	1044000	1044300	1645000	1045500	1040000	1040300	1047000	104730
A_000014525.1_AS	M1452v1_genomic.gbk	(no annotations loaded	s) (t						
160000	1600500	1601000	601500	1602000	1602500	1603000	1603500	1604000	1604500
1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -		····							
						<u></u>			
		(no annotations loaded							
1805000	1805500	1806000	1806500	1807000	1807500	1808000	1808500	1809000	1809500
		and the second se	and the second						
)		Ш <u></u>		terreteta, and a construction	Marzy Inge 19	1	- Alt In Dense - and an and	an a	
					A	1	48 1 th		
1180000	1180500	118 ¹ 000	1181500	1182000	1182500	1183000		1000	
1180000				1182000			and a strength of the strength	0 <u>118400</u>	
118000	o fermentum 3872 K9_	2_Draft_Genome.gbk (r	to annotations loade	q) MANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANAN	dhahahanna	urranhanhanhan	manial tent	erin and an and a second s	Mr. Managana
1180000	o fermentum 3872 K9_	2_Draft_Genome.gbk (r	th-party wh	q) MANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANAN	dhahahanna	urranhanhanhan	manial tent	erin and an and a second s	Mr. Managana
118000 2 gff files Mapped to	o fermentum 3872 K9_	2_Draft_Genome.gbk (r	io annotations loade 142150	q) MANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANAN	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	urranhanhanhan	manial tent	erin and an and a second s	Mr. Mananana
118000 2 gff files Mapped to	o fermentum 3872 K9_	2_Draft_Genome.gbk (r	io annotations loade 142150	d) 1422000	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	urranhanhanhan	manial tent	erin and an and a second s	Mr. Managana
118000 2 gff files Mapped to	o fermentum 3872 K9_	2_Draft_Genome.gbk (r	io annotations loade 142150	d) 1422000	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	urranhanhanhan	manial tent	erin and an and a second s	Mr. Managana
1180000	o fermentum 3872 K9_ 0 1420500	2_Draft_Genome.gbk (r 0 1421000	to annotations loade	d) 1422000	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	urranhanhanhan	manial tent	erin and an and a second s	Mr. Mahadana
1180000 2 gff files Mapped to 142000 A_000010145.1_AS	o fermentum 3872 K9_0 0 1420500 M1014v1_genomic (5).	2_Draft_Genome.gbk (r) 1421000	to annotations loade 142150	d) 10 1422000	142250	0 1423(000 1423	3500 1422	4000 1
1180000 2 gff files Mapped to 142000 A_000010145.1_AS	o fermentum 3872 K9_0 0 1420500 M1014v1_genomic (5).	2_Draft_Genome.gbk (r) 1421000	to annotations loade 142150	d) 10 1422000	142250	urranhanhanhan	manial tent	erin and an and a second s	Mr. Mananana
1180000 2 gff files Mapped to 142000 A_000010145.1_AS	o fermentum 3872 K9_0 0 1420500 M1014v1_genomic (5).	2_Draft_Genome.gbk (r) 1421000	to annotations loade 142150	d) 10 1422000	142250	0 1423(000 1423	3500 1422	4000 1
1180000	o fermentum 3872 K9_0 0 1420500 M1014v1_genomic (5).	2_Draft_Genome.gbk (r) 1421000	to annotations loade 142150	d) 10 1422000	142250	0 1423(000 1423	3500 1422	4000 1
1180000	o fermentum 3872 K9_0 0 1420500 M1014v1_genomic (5).	2_Draft_Genome.gbk (r) 1421000	to annotations loade 142150	d) 10 1422000	142250	0 1423(000 1423	3500 1422	4000 1

(A)

Figure S4.3. First derivatives of melt curves of PCR products obtained from digesta microbiota DNA with *Lactobacillus* group-specific primers. (**Panel A**) *L. salivarius* group primer. Based on the Sanger sequencing and Tm values of reference strains, two peaks shown in above spectrum are presumably assigned to *L. salivarius* (Peak 1 as marked on the curve) and *L. ruminis* (Peak 2 as marked on the curve). OTU's matching to *L. salivarius* was most abundant in 16S sequencing. Colon digesta of Piglet #10 were used for melt curves shown. (**Panel B**) *L. reuteri* group primer. The peak shown in the above spectrum is assigned to *L. reuteri* matching the Tm value of the reference strain. OTUs matching to *L. reuteri* were most abundant in 16S sequencing. Colonic digesta of Piglet #10 were used for the melt curves shown. (**Panel C**) *L. delbrueckii* group primer. The peak shown in above spectrum was assigned to *L. amylovorus* or *L. johnsonii* or *L. gasseri* based on estimated Tm value of respective species and fecal OTU composition. Colonic digesta of Piglet #10 were used for melt curves.



Figure S4.4. Principle Coordinate Analysis (PCoA) of fecal microbiota composition based on unweighted unifrac distance of rDNA sequences (total of 6,647,893 sequences with an average length of 266 bp, corresponding to an average 34,805 sequences per sample). No significant correlation (P = 0.122, R = 0.008) between diets and fecal microbial composition was detected by Analysis of Similarities (ANOSIM)



Chapter 5. Feeding Lactobacillus fermentum, Lactobacillus casei, or

Lactobacillus reuteri reduces pathogen load in weanling pigs

5.1. Introduction

The stress triggered by weaning and the immature immune system contributed to the high susceptibility of weaning pig to gut microbial dysbiosis and pathogen infection [49,213]. The prevalence of *Clostridoides. perfingens* Type C associated clostridial infections is common in neonatal piglets within 7 days of farrowing and ETEC infection is the most significant cause of post-weaning diarrhea [50,263]. F18 and K88 positive ETEC strains are the most frequently identified cause for ETEC associated diarrheal in nursing and early weaned pigs [264]. In the infant gut, *E. coli* strains could be transmitted from both maternal sources and non-maternal sources. Limited success has been achieved in vaccination against ETEC infectious due to the non-invasive pathogenesis [84,265]. Especially, alternative protection against pathogen infection is required for early weaned pigs due to the interrupted protection from maternal immunity. Thus, the primary trait required for the application of probiotics in weanling pigs is the ability to inhibit pathogen colonization.

Both 'allochthonous' and 'autochthonous' *Lactobacillus*, which differ in whether share coevolutionary history with the respective host, have been applied as probiotics in previous studies. [131,148,266,267]. Divergent effects were observed between host-adapted (autochthonous) and non-host-adapted (allochthonous) probiotic *Lactobacillus* in pigs. Inclusion of host-adapted probiotic strain *L. reuteri* TMW 1.656 skewed the assembly of *Lactobacillus* community in swine colon from *L. delbrueckii* to *L. reuteri / L. delbrueckii* dominant [267]. The same strain also effectively reduced pathogen load in weanling pigs [268]. Its ability to produce reutericyclin also favored the control of post-weaning diarrhea by inhibiting the growth of Gram-positive competitor and modulating the development of fecal microbiota of weanling pigs [23]. And therefore, the determinant contributor to probiotic effects of reutericyclin-producing *L. reuteri* is still uncertain. In contrast, a large number of commercial probiotic strains were allochthonous to pigs and more likely to stimulate immune response against pathogen infection [113,124,125,128–130]. But probiotics tended to induce systematic immunity rather than mucosal specific IgAs in ETEC / Salmonella pigs [124,128,129].

To preserve these commercial probiotic's long-term viability and functionality, freeze drying is a commonly used stabilization strategies in the microbiological industry [269,270]. In animal production, feed fermentation with lactic acid bacteria is also widely used as an economical alternatives, which is expected to give extra benefits to animal due to the released nutrients and endogenous enzymes during fermentation [146,162,163]. However, the effects and differences of these two supplementation methods for the same probiotic strain have not been verified in practical application.

Thus, the aim of this study was to determine the effects of feeding different lactobacilli on pathogen load and gut microbiota dysbiosis in weanling pigs. The experiment was designed to (1) determine the contribution of reutericyclin formation in probiotic function of *L. reuteri*; (2) compare the beneficial effects of lactobacilli with different ecological origins in weanling pigs; (3) evaluate the effects of freeze drying process on probiotic effects of *L. fermetum* and *L. casei*.

5.2. Materials and methods

5.2.1. Microorganisms and growth conditions

Reutericyclin-producing *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 and isogenic reutericyclin-negative *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 Δ rtcN[225] were routinely grown on modified MRS agar [228] at 37 °C anaerobically. Two commercial probiotics *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 isolated from dog feces were

75

provided by CanBiocin Inc. (Edmonton, AB, Canada) and grown under same conditions. Freezedried cultures of *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 with 10^9 CFU / g vegetative cell were also provided by CanBiocin Inc. (Edmonton, AB, Canada), which were stored at 4 °C until use.

5.2.2. Experimental diets and animals

Overnight cultures of *L. reuteri* TMW1.656, *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 Δ *rtcN*, *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 were applied for feed fermentation as previous described [267,271]. The quality of fermentation process was monitored by determining the dominance of inoculated strains and final pH.

Three fermented wheat containing dietary treatments: *L. reuteri* TMW1.656, *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 Δ *rtcN* and *L. casei / L. fermentum* fermentation, were obtained by mixing 98% basal diet with 2% fermented wheat [272]. Three unfermented wheat containing dietary treatments: control, acidified control and *L. casei / L. fermentum* freeze-dried was prepared by mixing 98% basal diet with 2% unfermented wheat, 2% acidified wheat (pH 3.8) and 2% freeze-dried culture powder, respectively. The significant components of these diet treatments were listed in Table 1. The pH values of all the experimental dietary treatments (except control) were stabilized at 5.44 ± 0.09. The average cell counts of *L. reuteri* TMW1.656, *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 Δ *rtcN* and *L. casei / L. fermentum* (freeze-fried and fermentation) in feed were around 10⁷- 10⁸ CFU /g [267].

The feeding trial complied all relevant principles regarding animal welfare and was approved by the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee for Livestock. A total of 48 male piglets (Duroc \times Large White/ Landrace F1) with similar bodyweight (6-7 Kg) were selected at weaning (21 days of age). Six experimental diets were allocated to 48 piglets with completely randomized block design, which provided 8 replicates per dietary treatment. All pigs were raised as previous described [267,271] and weighted at the end of each week. Diets were provided twice per day with

equal amounts. The content of dry matter (DM) in feed and leftover were measured each day and applied for feed intake calculation. The feed efficiency was calculated from average weight gain (g / day) over average feed intake (g DM / day).

Table 5.1. Significant components of experimental diets used in this study

Componente	Control	Acidified control	L. casei / L. fermentum		L. reuteri	
Components	Control	Actumed control	Freeze-dried	Fermentation	TMW1.656	TMW1.656 <i>ArtcN</i>
Acid	-	+	+	+	+	+
L. casei / L. fermentum	-	-	+	+	-	-
L. reuteri	-	-	-	-	+	+
Reutericyclin	-	-	-	-	+	-

+ means the presence of component, - means the absence of component

5.2.3. Samples preparation and DNA extraction

Feces were collected from the pen of each animal at days 0, 7, 14 and 21 and stored at -20 °C immediately after sampling. Digesta samples were collected from ileum, caecum, and colon at euthanasia and stored at -20 °C. Total bacterial DNA was extracted from 2-3 g of feces or digesta samples after thawing and mixing the frozen samples. Stool samples were homogenized with pH 7.4 Phosphate Buffered Saline solution (Gibco, ThermoFisher Scientific, Burlington, USA) and pre-treated by bead-beating (BioSpec Products, Inc., Bartlesville, USA) for $30s \times 8$ times. Treated samples were heated at 95°C for 15 minutes to lyse cell before using QIAamp Fast DNA stool mini kit (Qiagen, Inc., Valencia, CA, USA). Only DNA samples with an A260/280 ratio higher than 1.8 were used for pathogen detection and microbial analysis. Purified DNA was diluted to 50 ng /µL for use.

5.2.4. Intestinal pathogen detection using qPCR and HRM-qPCR

Total *E. coli*, 8 swine ETEC related virulence factor genes, including 5 ETEC fimbriae genes (F6, F18, F41, K88 and K99) and 3 toxin genes (LT, STa and STb), *Clostridium* cluster I and *C. perfringens* α toxin were screened by multiplex HRM-qPCR or / and qPCR in 144 digesta and 191

feces samples. Primers used in this study and their target genes are listed in Table 5.2. Five swine ETEC fimbriae genes were quantified by multiplex HRM-qPCR using Rotor-Gene Q (QIAGEN) HRM-thermo cycler and Type-it HRM Kit (QIAGEN) as previously described [79]. A total volume of 25 μ L HRM-qPCR reactions contained 12.5 μ L 2× HRM Master Mix, 3 μ L template bacterial DNA, 200 nM × 5 targets primers. A standard curve for total content of 5 targets was established from 10-fold dilutions of the mixed standards, containing 2 × 10² to 2 ×10⁻⁸ gene copies / μ L of each purified positive control, which were amplified from stool samples with same conditions. The relative abundance of each target was quantified based on the linear correlation between the percentage of melting peak area and relative portion of the respective amplicon in mixed template [79]. Total *E. coli*, ETEC toxin gens LT, Sta and STb, *Clostridium* cluster I and *C. perfringens* were determined by qPCR using 7500 Fast real-time PCR system (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Burlington, USA). qPCR conditions were applied as previous described [23,79,271].

Target gene	Sequence $(5' \rightarrow 3')$ (name)	Size (bp)	$\operatorname{Tm}(^{\circ}\mathrm{C})^{*}$
K88 fimbriae (fae G)	GCACATGCCTGGATGACTGGTG (K88 F) CGTCCGCAGAAGTAACCCCACCT (K88 R)	439	63
K99 fimbriae (fan A)	CACTTGAGGGTATATGCGATCTT (K99 F) GACCTCAGTCACAGCAACTATAC (K99 R)	92	62
F6 fimbriae (Fas A)	GTTCCAGCCTCCAATGATACT (F6 F) GAAAGAGCTAATCCGCCATTTG (F6 R)	128	62
F41 fimbriae Sub-unit A	GACCTCAGTCACAGCAACTATAC (F41 F) CGACCCGCAACATCCTTATT (F41 R)	110	62
F18 fimbriae (Fed A)	GGAGGTTAAGGCGTCGAATAG (F18 F) CCACCTTTCAGTTGAGCAGTA (F18 R)	90	62
Universal stress protein A	CCGATACGCTGCCAATCAGT (UspA F) ACGCAGACCGTAGGCCAGAT (UspA R)	884	66
Clostridium cluster I	GTGAAATGCGTAGAGATTAGGAA (CI F) GATYYGCGATTACTAGYAACTC (CI R)	665	58
C. perfringens α-toxin	CTTGGAGAGGCTATGCACTATTT (CPa F) CTTAACATGTCCTGCGCTATCA (CPa R)	90	60
Heat-labile enterotoxin	CCGTGCTGACTCTAGACCCCCA (LT F) CCTGCTAATCTGTAACCATCCTCTGC (LT R)	480	68
Heat-stable enterotoxins a	ATGAAAAAGCTAATGTTGGC (STa F) TACAACAAAGTTCACAGCAG (STa R)	193	65
Heat-stable enterotoxins b	TGCCTATGCATCTACACAAT (STb F) CTCCAGCAGTACCATCTCTA (STb R)	113	60

5.2.5. Fecal microbiological analysis using 16S rRNA gene sequencing

A total of 191 genomic DNA isolates from feces was sequenced on pair end Illumina MiSeq platform (2×300 bp) by amplifying the V5-V6 domain of the 16S rRNA gene (University of Minnesota Genomics Center, Minneapolis, MN, USA). The forward and reverse primers sequences used for amplification were listed as following: GTGCCAGCMGCCGCGGTAA and CGACRRCCATGCANCACCT.

A total of 6,647,893 16S rRNA gene sequences, or an average 34,805 sequences per sample with an average length of 266 bp passed quality control from QIIME pipeline (MacQIIME 1.9.1-20150604) [233]. UCLUST was applied for OTUs (Operational Taxonomic Units) clustering with at least 97% similarity [273]. Only OTUs with relative abundance > 0.005% were retained for downstream analysis. After chimera checking and filtering, taxonomy was assigned to OTUs at genus or lower level with 97% or less average nucleotide identity (ANI) by aligning to GreenGenes reference database. Taxonomy information was further categorized into different levels by *summarize_taxa_through_plots.py*. Principle coordinates analysis (PCoA) and analysis of similarities (ANOSIM) were performed to explore microbial community differences through weighted UniFrac distance matrix.

5.2.6. Statistical analysis

The data for growth performance (average feed intake, average daily gain and feed efficiency), intestinal pathogen load (Log (gene copy no./g) of *Clostridia* Cluster I, *C. perfringens* α toxin, *E. coli* and ETEC virulence factors) were analyzed by linear mixed-effects model fitted for randomized block design in R (version 3. 5.1, The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, 2018). In this model, pigs were as considered as experimental units; Time, dietary treatments, as well as time and dietary treatments were calculated as fixed factors; The difference between blocks were

regarded as random effects. The normality and homogeneity of all variables were determined by Shapiro-Wilk normality test and Bartlett test, respectively. The date for relative abundance of OTUs and alpha diversity were analyzed by Kruskal-Wallis rank-sum test in MacQIIME 1.9.1 [233]. The pairwise comparisons were performed with Wilcoxon rank sum test. Analysis of similarities (ANOSIM) for ETEC virulence factors data was calculated by Bray–Curtis dissimilarity; Principle component analysis (PCA) for ETEC virulence factors data was analyzed using "kassambara/factoextra" packages in R. ANOSIM and Principle coordinate analysis (PCoA) for 16S rRNA sequence data was calculated from weighted UniFrac distance matrix. Results are presented as means \pm standard deviation. *P* values < 0.05 with Bonferroni-adjustment were considered significant.

5.3. Results

5.3.1. Animal health and growth performance of pigs

All pigs remained healthy and no pigs exhibited persistent diarrhea during the 3 weeks trial. The parameters reflecting growth performance are listed in Table S5.1. The average feed intake and daily gain increased with time corresponding to feed efficiency increased from 0.65kg to 0.8kg in the first two weeks and remained stable in the third week (data no show). No significant difference in feed efficiency was detected between dietary treatments.

5.3.2. Reduction of pathogens and toxins in weanling pigs by feeding probiotic lactobacilli

qPCR and HRM-qPCR were applied to determine the gene content of *Clostridia* Cluster I, *C. perfringens* α toxin and ETEC virulence factors, including LT, heat stable toxin a (STa), heat stable toxin b (STb), heat labile toxin (LT), K99, F18, F41, K88 and F6 fimbriae in weanling pigs. Feces were weekly sampled and ileum, caecum and colon digesta were collected at day 21. The overall concentration of these pathogens and virulence factors were lower in ileum than that in caecum and colon (Figure 5.1 & Table S5.2) and decreased over time in feces. The gene content of

Clostridia Cluster I was detectable in swine digesta samples but did not differ across dietary treatments (Figure 5.1 & Table S5.2). While feeding freeze-dried *L. casei / L. fermentum* or *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 $\Delta rtcN$ significantly (P < 0.05) reduced *Clostridium* Cluster I in feces at day 21. Differently, feeding *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 or *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 $\Delta rtcN$ decreased *C. perfringens* α toxin in caecum and colon (Figure 5.1B & Table S5.2).

Figure 5.1. Reduction of *Clostridium* cluster I (A), *C. perfringens* α toxin (B), total *E. coli* (C) and heat-labile toxin (D) by feeding lactobacilli. Digesta samples were collected from ileum, caecum and colon at day 21. Feces were collected at day 0, 7, 14 and 21. All the specimens were analysed by qPCR with specific primers. Each dot represents individual fecal samples, colored according to the dietary treatments: Control and Acidified control (green, n = 16), freeze-dried *L. casei / L. fermentum* (blue, n=8), fermented *L. casei / L. fermentum* (purple, n =8), *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 (orange, n=8) and *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 $\Delta rtcN$ (red, n =8). Data with asterisk (*) are significantly different (*P* <0.05) between dietary groups. *L. casei / L. fermentum* diet groups are not shown in panels B, C, and D because the gene copy numbers were not different from the control.



Total *E. coli* in ileum, LT in caecum and *C. perfringens* α toxin in caecum and colon decreased in pigs fed with *L. reuteri*. Isogenic reutericyclin-negative *L. reuteri* also lowered (P < 0.05) *C. perfringens* α toxin and LT in caecum and colon compared to control or acidified control diet. The addition of *L. casei / L. fermentum* (freeze-fried and fresh fermentation) did not significantly alter the pathogen load in digesta and feces except for reducing *C*. Cluster I in feces by freeze-dried *L. fermentum* and *L. casei* at day 21. The content of other ETEC virulence factors did not differ among diet groups but varied with aging.

5.3.3 Longitudinal changes of ETEC virulence factors in swine feces during the first 21 days after weaning

A longitudinal profile of ETEC virulence factors through the 3 weeks trial was exhibited during the first 21 days after weaning (Figure 5.2). The load of these pathogens was low at weaning and then displayed a chaotic profile during the first week followed by a steadily decreasing during the following two weeks (Figure 5.2). LT significantly decreased after the first week while STa were transitionally higher at day 7 (P < 0.05). F18 and F6 fimbriae significantly increased the predominant ETEC fimbriae type detected in weanling pigs after day 7. Other fimbriae types and STb toxin were detected in feces with low abundance (< 10⁵ copies / g) (Figure 5.2 & Table S5.3) and no significant difference was observed among different time points. PCA also demonstrated similar variations in abundance and combinations of ETEC virulence factors (Figure 5.3). ANOSIM suggested that sow or litter effects significantly influenced the patterns of ETEC virulence factors during the first week while time significantly contributed to the variations through the experimental period (Table 5.3).

Time / Factor -	T	ime	D	iet	Se	ow	Bl	ock
	R ^b	<i>P</i> value	R	P value	R	P value	R	P value
Day 0	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.068	0.128	-0.046	0.954
Day 7	NA	NA	-0.033	0.909	0.403	0.001	-0.018	0.636
Day 14	NA	NA	-0.031	0.902	0.036	0.272	0.015	0.318
Day 21	NA	NA	0.035	0.111	0.0.42	0.247	-0.011	0.604
Overall	0.22	0.001	-0.006	0.817	-0.002	0.531	-0.001	0.537

Table 5.3. ANOSIM a of Bray–Curtis dissimilarity calculated with ETEC virulence factor genes

 content in feces at 0, 7, 14 and 21 days after weaning

^aANOSIM, Analysis of similarity

^bAn R value near +1 means that there is dissimilarity between the groups, while an R value near 0 indicates no significant dissimilarity between the groups

Figure 5.2. Dynamic profiles of ETEC virulence factors at 0, 7, 14 and 21 days after weaning. All the samples were analyzed by qPCR with specific primers. Each dot represents individual fecal samples, colored according to the dietary treatments: Control and Acidified control (green, n = 16), freeze-dried *L. casei / L. fermentum* (blue, n=8), fermented *L. casei / L. fermentum* (purple, n =8), *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 (orange, n=8) and *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 $\Delta rtcN$ (red, n =8). Data with asterisk (*) are significantly different (*P* <0.05) between dietary groups.



Figure 5.3. Principle component analysis of ETEC virulence factors at 0, 7, 14 and 21 days after weaning. Each dot represents individual fecal samples, colored by sow: dots with same color are born from the same sow. The arrows represent the original variables, where the corresponding directions represent the correlations between the original variables and the principal components, and the length represents the contribution of the original data to the principal component.



5.3.4. Alterations in fecal microbiota and *Lactobacillus* community by feeding lactobacilli in weanling pigs

To determine the potential action mode of probiotic, effects of probiotic lactobacilli on α -diversity (Figure 5.4) and β -diversity (Table 5.4 & Figure S5.1) of fecal microbiota and *Lactobacillus* were assessed in weanling pigs. Observed bacterial types and α -diversity of fecal microbiota

significantly increased in the first two weeks and plateaued in the last week (Figure 5.4). Pigs fed with acidified wheat were noted for the reduction of bacterial types and α -diversity (P < 0.05). But the observed types and α -diversity of *Lactobacillus* illustrated an inverse trend that was significantly decreased in the first week (P < 0.05) and remained stable during the following two weeks. For the dietary effects, the types of *Lactobacillus* transiently reduced within the first week (P < 0.05) only in pigs fed with acidified wheat.

The dissimilarities between pigs fed with different lactobacilli were further compared by the analysis of β -diversity (Table 5.4 & Figure S5.1). The overall fecal microbiota of weanling pigs was differentiated by feed phase and litters (P < 0.05, Table 5.4). *Lactobacillus* community was also significantly altered (P < 0.05) by increasing wheat content but not influenced by litter effects (P = 0.166). The inclusion of probiotic lactobacilli in feed did not change the structure of fecal microbiota (P = 0.683) but significantly contributed to the difference of *Lactobacillus* community (P < 0.05). Moreover, dietary effect was observed in shaping *Lactobacillus* composition (P < 0.05).

Figure 5.4. Fecal microbiota and *Lactobacillus* diversity during the first 3 weeks after weaning. Total number of bacteria (A) or *Lactobacillus* (B) types observed and Shannon diversity index of fecal microbiota (C) or *Lactobacillus* community(D) were analyzed based on partial 16S rRNA sequences. Each box represents one dietary treatment colored as following: Control (light red, n =8), Acidified control (brown, n = 16), freeze-dried *L. casei / L. fermentum* (green, n=8), fermented *L. casei / L. fermentum* (cyan, n =8), *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 (light blue, n=8) and *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 *ΔrtcN* (plum, n =8). Indexes with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05) between time points.



Factor	Df	Fecal microbial community		Lactobacillus community	
Tactor	DI -	R value	P value	R value	P value
Acid	1	-0.062	0.847	-0.013	0.609
Diet	5	0.008	0.125	0.025	0.028
Feed phase	2	0.505	0.001	0.135	0.001
Litter	10	0.100	0.001	0.016	0.166
Strain	2	-0.003	0.683	0.035	0.008

Table 5.4. ANOSIM of weighted UniFrac distance matrix calculated with partial 16S rRNA

 sequences

5.3.5. Contribution of feeding lactobacilli in restoring fecal microbiota from weaning

dysbiosis

Based on structure analysis of fecal microbiota, relative abundance of major bacteria was further compared to determine the effects of lactobacilli on microbial restoration after weaning (Table 5.5 & 5.6). Increased abundance was mainly detected in genus *Bifidobacterium* and abundant genera from phyla *Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Tenericutes* and *WPS-2* while most genera from phylum *Proteobacteria* decreased over time. Compared to acidified control diet, feeding *L. fermentum* and *L. casei* increased the abundance of *Bifidobacterium* and *Veillonellaceae at day 7* and decreased *Succinivibrio* and *Pirellulaceae* at day 14 (P < 0.05). Influence of *L. reuteri* on fecal microbiota was only observed in decreasing *Enterobacteriaceae* (P < 0.05).

5.4. Discussion

Immunomodulation and competitive colonization are the two major mechanism of probiotics to inhibit pathogen infection. The ecological origin of the probiotic strain was suggested to determine whether one or the other is more important [9,13,14,16,18]. This study observed reduction of *E. coli* and ETEC toxins mainly in pigs supplied with host-adapted *L. reuteri*. Anti-ETEC effect was also reported in studies applying host-adapted *L. amylovorus* (*L. sobrius*) and higher dose of *L.*

reuteri [23,197,274,275]. In contrast, the nomadic organisms *L. fermentum* and *L. casei* decreased the abundance of *Clostridium* cluster I but not of *E. coli*. A possible explanation for this divergent effect is that host-adapted *L. reuteri* eliminated ETEC colonization through exclusively competition while nomadic *L. fermentum* and *L. casei* inhibited *Clostridum* spp. by stimulating systemic immunity; however, differential effects of host adapted and nomadic lactobacilli on intestinal microbial ecology and host immunity remain to be validated in future studies. Reasonable viability and stable immunomodulation of probiotics under appropriate drying process facilitated the development of pharmabiotic [269,276,277]. While equivalent probiotic protections with lower cost and liberated from processing technology [23,161,278].

The inclusion of probiotic lactobacilli exerted limited effects on fecal microbiota of weanling pigs. The initial composition of fecal microbial community varied between litters and was then reshaped by feed over time, which agreed with significance of diet in modulating development of swine gut microbiota [279]. Reutericyclin-producing *L. reuteri* reduced *Enterobacteriaceae* in this study and transiently inhibited lactobacilli [267]. Bacteriocin expression in commensal bacteria or lactobacilli was suggested favoring their competition for ecological niche in host mammals or sourdough fermentation [280,281]. However, lower density bacteriocin sequence in human colonic microbiome implied less relevancy of bacteriocin production in the stability of microbiota in colon than in other body sites, such as in the oral cavity and the vagina [280,282,283]. Subtle impact of bacteriocin production in *L. salivarius* was also observed on mouse and pig gut microbiota. Although stronger restraint was elicited in previous study with higher dose of the same *L. reuteri* strain [23], we concluded no inhibitory effects of reutericyclin on Gram-positive bacteria referred from the limited difference detected between *L. reuteri* and its reutericyclin-negative

isogenic mutant in this study. We also suggested the need for isogenic control to validate the influence of bacteriocin expression in probiotics on gut microbiota [284].

In the primary cause of PWD, decades of research on ETEC infection didn't identified specific strain responsible for triggering diarrheal onset. Different from the strain specificity analysis, our high-resolution ETEC virulence factor spectrums well described the variable pathogenicity of ETEC in weanling pigs, which provided a clearer basis for the prevention of swine ETEC infection by vaccines or fimbriae accepter analogues. We agreed the higher relevancy of F18 fimbriae in weanling pigs and decreasing abundance of LT and increase of Sta after weaning. Few ETEC strains additionally carry Stx2e, which are referred as hybrid Shiga toxin-producing E. coli /ETEC (STEC/ETEC) but was not included in our detection spectrum [178]. The absence of F18 receptor in neonatal pigs and high frequency combination of Stb /F18 and LT /K88 contributed to the variable virotypes of swine ETEC. Piglets from the same sow harbored more similar profile of virulence factors during the first week after weaning, suggesting that early colonization of ETEC was relevant to maternal-neonatal transmission and persisted shortly after weaning [30]. ETEC become more virulent after passage through intestinal tract. Strains that colonize from the sow intestinal tract are therefore more virulent than strains from an environmental source [285]. Time or age significantly contributed to the variations in patterns of ETEC virulence factor and microbiota assembled by 16 rRNA gene sequencing in weanling pigs [279]. Therefore, it was never accidental that the longitudinal profiles of ETEC virulence factor coincided with development of gut microbiota in weanling pigs. In previous studies, the abundance of Bacteroidetes, including genera from Prevotellaceae, Lachnospiraceae and Ruminococcaceae families were higher in health pig than that in diarrheal pigs [51,286], which positively correlated with the increasing colonization of *Bacteroidetes* after weaning [287]. Thus, promoting an earlier
colonization of *Bacteroidetes* could be regarded as a strategy to decease the incidence of ETEC infection in early-weaned pigs.

In conclusion, early colonization of ETEC was associated with, but not limited to maternalneonatal transmission, which necessitate the significance of maintaining sanitary environment to decrease ETEC load and virulence in sow and suckling pigs. Host-adapted probiotic lactobacilli exerted stronger ETEC elimination, which provided alternative protections for early weaned piglets. Strategies promoting an earlier colonization of *Bacteroidetes* also was positively relevant to ETEC reduction in pigs after weaning.

Table 5.5. Relative abundance (%) of bacterial genera in fecal microbiota of pigs during the first 3 weeks after weaning, determined by sequencing of 16S rRNA tags. Data were analyzed by QIIME pipeline and are represented as mean \pm SD. Data in the same row that do not share a common superscript are significantly different (P < 0.05).

Genus	Day 0	Day 7	Day 14	Day 21	
ACTINOBACTERIA					
Bifidobacterium	ND	ND	0.01±0.03 ^b	0.12±0.79 ^a	
[F:Coriobacteriaceae]	0.94±1.12 ^b	1.20±1.13 a	0.73±0.33 ^b	1.16±0.51 ^a	
BACTEROIDETES					
Prevotella	6.36±4.56 °	7.12±2.96 °	10.15±3.96 b	12.89±4.96 ª	
[F:S24-7]	5.41±4.37 ^b	6.60±3.94 ^{ab}	6.08±2.97 ^b	7.65±3.86 ª	
CF231	0.11±0.10 °	$0.31{\pm}0.21$ b	0.84±0.58 ^a	0.81±0.44 ^a	
Other [O:Bacteroidales]	11.81±6.22 ^a	5.39±3.03 °	7.00±2.64 ^b	6.14±2.56 ^b	
FIRMICUTES					
Lactobacillus	3.87±4.20 ^b	11.31±9.25 a	8.43±4.76 ^a	8.70±4.12 ^a	
Enterococcus	0.04±0.22 ^b	0.87±2.97 ª	$0.02{\pm}0.08$ ^b	0.06±0.19 ^b	
Streptococcus	0.23±0.42 ^a	0.05±0.13 ^b	0.02±0.10 °	$0.04{\pm}0.11$ bc	
Blautia	0.37±0.42 °	1.59±2.17 ^b	1.95±1.45 ^a	1.61±0.73 ^a	
Coprococcus	0.06±0.05 °	1.09±0.84 a	1.33±0.99 a	$0.77{\pm}0.67$ ^b	
[F:Ruminococcaceae]	16.63±3.82 ^a	14.59±3.92 ^b	16.80±3.34 ª	13.61±2.61 ^b	
[F:Lachnospiraceae]	9.45±2.99 °	9.58±3.63 ª	9.36±3.38 ª	7.90±1.99 ^b	
Turicibacter	0.48±0.34 ª	0.26±0.75 ^{ab}	0.16±0.62 ^{ab}	0.20±0.33 ^b	
Erysipelotrichaceae	3.51±2.15 °	2.12±1.37 ab	1.78±0.71 ^b	1.85±0.58 ^{ab}	
[F:Clostridiaceae]	1.47 ± 0.64	1.76 ± 1.91	1.38 ± 1.92	1.52±1.13	
[F:Veillonellaceae]	0.70±0.93 °	1.47±1.67 ^b	1.70±1.84 ^b	3.58±2.63 a	
[F:Mogibacteriaceae]	0.60±0.46 ^b	1.10±1.35 a	0.87±0.49 ª	0.53±0.26 ^b	
Other [O:Clostridiales]	10.81±3.93 a	8.97±4.16 ^{ab}	8.13±2.41 b	7.40±2.12 ^b	
PROTEOBACTERIA					
Oxalobacter	0.10±0.07 ^a	0.04±0.03 °	0.11±0.05 ^a	0.12±0.06 a	
Desulfovibrio	0.46±0.39 ^a	0.06±0.07 °	0.12±0.09 b	0.11±0.09 bc	
[F:Enterobacteriaceae]	1.23±2.24 ª	0.93±2.21 ^{ab}	0.12±0.33 °	$0.40{\pm}1.02$ bc	
Succinivibrio	0.33±1.13 ^b	0.73±1.30 ^a	0.11±0.20 b	0.20±0.32 ^b	
Other	0.58±1.27 ^a	$0.27{\pm}0.75$ ^b	0.30±0.34 ^a	0.26±0.30 ^b	
PLANCTOMYCETES					
[F:Pirellulaceae]	1.35±1.42 ^b	1.95±2.27 ^{ab}	2.14±2.53 ^a	1.65±1.25 ^{ab}	
SPIROCHAETES					
Treponema	1.85±1.53 ab	2.33±1.88 ab	2.55±2.59 ^a	1.59±1.51 ^b	
TENERICUTES					

[O:RF39]	6.21±4.09	7.11±3.32	6.16±2.60	6.69±2.69
WPS-2	0.46±1.56 ^b	0.41±0.99 b	1.07±1.69 ^a	1.35±1.46 a
OTHER	3.87±4.08 a	2.35±2.74 ^b	1.65±2.40 bc	1.01±1.54 °
Unassigned	4.75±2.89 °	5.53±2.75 ^b	6.46±2.54 ^{ab}	7.87±3.53 ª
Total	94.03±2.46	97.08±1.66	97.55±1.48	97.78±1.06

ND means not detected. Unassigned genera are presented with upper level of family (F) or order (O) in square brackets. "Unassigned" means a good hit to a poorly defined taxonomy sequence. "Other" means the assignment is ambiguous

Table 5.6. Bacterial genera with significant difference (P < 0.05) in relative abundance (%) of fecal microbiota of the pigs feed with experimental diets during the first 3 weeks after weaning, determined by sequencing of 16S rRNA tags. Data were analyzed by QIIME pipeline and are represented as mean \pm SD.

Genus	Acidified Control	Freeze dried L. fermentum & L. casei	L. fermentum & L. casei	P value	<i>L.reuteri</i> TMW 1.656	<i>L.reuteri</i> TMW 1.656 Δ <i>rtcN</i>	P value
Day 7							
Bifidobacterium	ND	ND	0.02 ± 0.04	0.04	ND	ND	1.00
Enterococcus	$0.49{\pm}0.85$	0.43 ± 0.82	1.15 ± 2.88	0.44	$2.40{\pm}6.72$	0.40±0.73	0.05
[F:Veillonellaceae]	0.45 ± 0.36	2.20±1.81	0.96 ± 0.93	0.04	2.39±1.98	1.62±2.56	0.06
[F:Enterobacteriaceae]	$0.10{\pm}0.20$	0.33±0.69	0.09 ± 0.09	0.83	0.07 ± 0.08	ND	0.01
Day 14							
Succinivibrio	0.28 ± 0.36	0.04±0.12	0.06 ± 0.09	0.04	0.07 ± 0.08	0.18±0.24	0.29
[F:Pirellulaceae]	1.88 ± 3.19	1.44±1.12	3.34±2.36	0.04	2.66±4.25	0.91±0.92	0.20
Day 21							
[oRF39]	5.65±1.81	9.07±2.89	6.16±2.45	0.05	7.44±3.09	6.29±2.52	0.44

Distant treatment	Average feed intake	Average daily gain	Feed efficiency
Dietary treatment	(g DM ^a /day)	(g / day)	(G / F)
Control	499±20.4	406±72.3	0.81±0.13
Acidified control	485±25.3	343±78.1	0.70 ± 0.14
L. casei / L. fermentum			
Freeze-dried	493±15.9	378±49.0	0.77 ± 0.10
Fermented	514±83.9	376±86.9	0.74 ± 0.19
L. reuteri			
TMW1.656	489±29.1	383.91±75.98	0.78 ± 0.14
TMW1.656⊿rtcN	489±16.8	381±49.6	0.78 ± 0.10
<i>P</i> value ^b			
Acid	0.61	0.11	0.08
L. casei / L. fermentum	0.82	0.90	0.63
L. reuteri	0.05	0.74	0.14
Fermentation	0.09	0.95	0.28
Reutericyclin	0.51	0.93	0.80

Table S5.1. Growth performance of pigs during the first 3 weeks after weaning

^a DM, dry matter.

^b For acid effects, *P* values are for the control diet versus the chemically acidified diet; For fermentation, *P* values are for the freeze-dried *L. casei / L. fermentum*-containing diet versus fermented *L. casei / L. fermentum*-containing diet; For *L. casei / L. fermentum*, *P* values are for the comparisons between *L. casei / L. fermentum*-containing diets (freeze-dried and Fermented) and unfermented diets (Control and Acidified control); For *L. reuteri*, *P* values are for the *L. reuteri*-containing diets (TMW1.656 and TMW1.656*ArtcN*)versus unfermented diets (Control and Acidified control); For reuterancyclin, *P* values are for the *L. reuteri*-containing diets (TMW1.656 and TMW1.656*ArtcN*)

Table S5.2. Gene copy number for *Clostridium* Cluster I, C. perfringens α toxin I, LT, STa, STb,

E. coli, K99, F41, F18, F6 and K88 fimbriae in digesta collected from ileum, caecum and colon at

day 21^a

Bacterium or	Log (gene copy no	o./g) for the followi	ng diet:			
bacterial toxin and segments	Control	Acidified control	<i>L. casei / L. fermentum</i> freeze-dried	L. casei / L. fermentum	<i>L. reuteri</i> TMW1.656	L. reuteri TMW 1.656 ΔrtcN
Clostridium Clust	ter I					
Ileum	9.01±0.23 ^в	8.81±0.97 ^{A, B}	8.42±0.53 ^в	8.66±0.69 ^в	8.73±0.77	8.96 ± 0.76
Caecum	9.38±0.23 ^A	9.26±0.46 ^A	9.04±0.17 ^A	9.16±0.54 ^A	$9.04{\pm}0.40$	9.17±0.55
Colon	8.97 ± 0.40 ^B	8.68±0.49 ^B	8.57±0.28 ^в	8.75±0.41 A, B	8.73±0.42	8.70 ± 0.55
C. perfringens at	toxin					
Ileum	4.71±0.18 ^B	5.08 ± 0.56	4.79 ± 0.25^{B}	4.79±0.36 ^в	4.85±0.56	4.65±0.31 ^A
Caecum	4.21±0.33 ^{Y, A}	5.58 ± 0.89^{-X}	5.33±0.19 ^{X, A}	5.38±0.32 ^{X, A}	4.28±0.43 ^Y	4.30±0.25 ^{Y, A}
Colon	5.34±0.15 ^{X, A}	5.39±0.76 ^x	5.00±0.51 ^{X, Y, A, B}	4.63 ± 0.32 XY, B	4.39±1.06 ^Y	$< 4^{Z, B}$
LT						
Ileum	4.44±0.20 ^C	4.61±0.32 °C	4.37±0.34 ^B	4.54±0.33 ^C	4.57±0.23 ^в	4.43 ± 0.43
Caecum	5.07±0.18 XYZ, B	5.53±0.20 ^{X, A}	5.44±0.24 XY, A	5.61±0.17 ^{X, A}	4.91±0.43 ^{Y, A, B}	4.61±0.29 ^z
Colon	5.26±0.15 ^{X, A}	4.93±0.32 ^{X, Y, B}	5.10±0.43 XY, A	5.13±0.28 ^{XY, в}	5.02±0.40 XY, A	4.62±0.36 ^Y
STa						
Ileum	< 4 ^C	< 4 B	< 4 B	< 4 B	< 4 ^B	< 4 ^B
Caecum	5.64±0.46 ^A	< 4 ^A	4.78±2.13 ^A	5.66±1.77 ^A	5.88±0.82 ^в	5.71±0.26 ^A
Colon	4.88±0.41 ^B	$< 4^{B}$	< 4 ^B	4.24±1.82 A	4.15±1.46 ^в	$< 4^{\mathrm{B}}$
STb						
Ileum	4.04±0.41 ^B	4.12±0.20 ^в	< 4 ^B	< 4 B	4.25 ± 0.40	4.05±0.43
Caecum	$< 4^{Y, B}$	4.70±0.21 X, A	4.80±0.82 ^{X, A}	4.67±0.12 ^{X, A}	< 4 Y	4.02±0.29 XY
Colon	4.51±0.28 ^A	4.13 ± 0.50^{B}	4.63±0.80 ^в	4.45±0.38 ^A	4.24±0.66	< 4
E. coli						
Ileum	6.91±0.43 ^x	6.49±0.73 ^{X, Y}	6.00±1.23 ^{X, Y}	6.21±0.97 ^{X, Y}	5.14±0.64 ^{Y, C}	5.78±1.08 XY, B
Caecum	6.77±0.56	6.36±0.84	5.63±1.51	6.02 ± 0.85	6.04±0.35 ^{Y, B}	7.09±0.93 ^A
Colon	7.33±0.67	6.58 ± 0.95	5.66±1.23	5.74±0.69	7.06±1.05 ^A	6.65±1.02 ^A
K99 fimbriae						
Ileum	< 4 ^B	4.00±0.25 ^в	< 4	4.05±0.15 ^B	< 4 B	< 4 ^B
Caecum	4.91±0.19 ^A	4.89 ± 0.24^{A}	4.32±0.57	4.61±0.20 ^A	4.67±0.31 ^A	4.56 ± 0.27^{A}
Colon	< 4 ^B	< 4 B	4.01 ± 0.44	4.07±0.12 ^в	$< 4^{B}$	< 4 ^B
F18 fimbriae						
Ileum	< 4 ^B	4.15±0.27 ^в	4.16±0.33	4.03±0.25	< 4 ^B	4.08±0.21 ^{A, B}
Caecum	4.86±0.20 A	4.74±0.28 ^A	4.20±0.65	< 4	4.46±0.79 ^A	4.33±0.39 ^A
Colon	< 4 ^B	4.09±0.40 ^B	4.11±0.35	4.03±0.19	< 4 ^B	< 4 ^B
F6 fimbriae						
Ileum	< 4 ^C	4.19±0.17 ^в	4.06±0.22	< 4 ^B	4.09±0.16 ^B	4.25±0.17 ^A
Caecum	5.10±0.16 ^A	5.12±0.24 ^A	4.34±0.56 ^Z	4.65±0.26 A	4.90±0.36 ^A	4.45±0.50 ^A
Colon	4.07±0.30 ^B	4.27±0.25 ^B	< 4	4.05±0.12 ^в	< 4 ^C	< 4 ^B

a Data are presented means \pm SD (n=48). Superscripts X and Y denote significant differences (P < 0.05) between diets at each segment (comparison across rows); superscripts A, B, C and D denote significant differences (P < 0.05) within a diet between segments (comparison across columns). Values that do not share a superscript are significantly different. The detection limit for *Clostridium* Cluster I, *C. perfringens* α toxin I, LT, STa, STb, *E. coli*, K99, F41, F18, F6 and K88 fimbriae was 4 log10 gene copies/g of feces (wet weight).

Table S5.3. Gene copy number for *Clostridium* Cluster I, C. perfringens α toxin I, LT, STa, STb,

	Log (gene copy	no./g) for the foll	owing diet:			
Bacterium or bacterial toxin and time (day)	Control	Acidified control	L. casei / L. fermentum freeze-dried	L. casei / L. fermentum	<i>L. reuteri</i> TMW1.656	L. reuteri TMW 1.656 ΔrtcN
Clostridium Cluster I						
0	10.08 ± 0.18^{A}	$9.80{\pm}0.45^{\rm A}$	9.82 ± 0.17^{A}	9.86±0.23 ^A	9.86 ± 0.26^{A}	10.07 ± 0.13^{A}
7	9.68 ± 0.22^{B}	9.67±0.51 ^{А, В}	9.54 ± 0.29^{B}	9.28 ± 0.57^{B}	9.54 ± 0.47^{B}	9.43±0.33 ^{А, В}
14	9.51±0.45 ^{B, C}	9.35±0.49 ^{A, B}	$9.25 \pm 0.32^{\circ}$	$9.47{\pm}0.49^{A, B}$	$9.34{\pm}0.25^{B, C}$	$9.24{\pm}0.44^{\rm A, B}$
21	$9.32{\pm}0.24^{\rm X,C}$	9.27±0.37 ^{х, в}	$8.87 \pm 0.18^{Y, D}$	$9.06{\pm}0.47^{X, Y, B}$	9.08±0.23 ^{X, Y, C}	$8.80{\pm}0.32^{ m Y, B}$
C. perfringens a toxin						
0	$6.84{\pm}0.40^{\rm A}$	7.05±0.55 ^A ,	6.49±0.35 ^A ,	6.65 ± 0.70^{A}	6.71±0.65 ^A	$6.26 \pm 1.18^{\circ}$
7	5.96±0.68 ^{A, B}	6.49±1.51 ^{A, B}	5.96 ± 0.92^{A}	6.48 ± 1.47^{A}	6.27±2.34 ^A	5.55±0.32
14	5.13 ± 0.90^{B}	5.00±1.27 ^C	5.34±1.01 ^B	4.59±1.01 ^B	4.56±1.01 ^B	4.59±1.20
21	5.36±1.20 ^B	5.66±1.24 ^{B, C}	5.57±1.29 ^{A, B}	5.19±1.30 ^B	5.73±0.89 ^{A, B}	5.61±0.92
LT						
0	5.63 ± 0.70^{A}	4.81±1.03	5.19±0.53 ^A	5.26 ± 0.80^{A}	5.07 ± 0.67^{A}	5.22±0.77
7	4.98 ± 0.45^{A}	4.90±0.63	4.62±0.78 ^{A, B}	4.71±0.88 ^{A, B}	5.05 ± 0.89^{A}	4.88 ± 0.50
14	4.04 ± 0.91^{B}	4.23±0.91	$3.85 \pm 0.93^{\circ}$	4.06 ± 1.02^{B}	4.14 ± 1.06^{B}	4.14±0.94
21	4.20±0.69 ^B	4.36±0.34	4.10±0.28 ^{B, C}	4.14 ± 0.40^{B}	4.10±0.29 ^B	4.22±0.33
STa						
0	4.65±0.83	4.85±0.79	4.48 ± 0.72	4.64 ± 0.88	5.07±0.51 ^{A, B}	4.72±0.85
° 7	5.37±1.26	5.17±1.58	4.61 ± 1.47	5.43 ± 1.63	6.13±1.95 ^A	4.93 ± 1.34
14	4.82 ± 1.45	4.90 ± 1.21	4.99±0.99	5.14 ± 1.00	5.08±1.22 ^{A, B}	4.80 ± 1.23
21	4.37±0.98	4.18 ± 1.07	4.50±1.05	5.18 ± 1.12	3.95±1.09 ^C	4.01 ± 1.06
STb	4.57±0.90	4.10±1.07	4.50±1.05	5.10±1.12	5.75-1.07	4.01±1.00
0	5.70±0.54	5.64±0.41 ^A	5.65±0.60	5.47±0.40	5.47±0.34 ^B	5.84±0.25
7	5.78±0.23	5.91 ± 0.27^{A}	5.68±0.21	5.80 ± 0.33	6.16 ± 1.07^{A}	5.76±0.38
14	5.48 ± 0.33	5.31 ± 0.36^{B}	5.50±0.25	5.54 ± 0.30	5.52 ± 0.28^{B}	5.59±0.24
21	5.67±0.26	5.65 ± 0.15^{A}	5.58±0.24	5.69 ± 0.31	5.49±0.21 ^B	5.49 ± 0.32
E. coli	5.07±0.20	5.05±0.15	5.58±0.24	5.09±0.51	5.49±0.21	5.49±0.52
	7.69 ± 0.74^{A}	$8.09{\pm}0.98^{\rm A}$	7.91±0.76 ^A	7.79±0.67 ^A	8.01 ± 0.87^{A}	7.89 ± 1.19^{A}
0 7	6.89 ± 1.30^{A}	6.99 ± 1.20^{B}	6.48 ± 0.77^{B}	6.70±0.96 ^B	6.72 ± 0.91^{B}	6.60 ± 1.55^{B}
	5.74 ± 1.03^{B}	5.79±0.93 ^C	5.87±1.42 ^{B, C}	5.87±0.94 ^C	5.98±0.93 ^{B, C}	$5.07 \pm 0.94^{\circ}$
14 21	5.74 ± 1.03^{-1} 5.75 ± 0.99^{-1}	$5.31\pm0.72^{\circ}$	$5.38\pm0.86^{\circ}$	$5.62\pm0.5^{\circ}$	5.18±0.95 ^C	$5.66 \pm 1.24^{B, C}$
	5.75±0.99	$5.51\pm0.72^{\circ}$	5.58±0.80°	5.02±0.3°	5.18±0.95°	3.00±1.24 ^{-, •}
K99 fimbriae	4.00 ± 1.00B	5 20 + 1 12	5 14+1 27B	4.07 ± 1.00B	5 1 C L O COB	5 45 10 00
0	4.88±1.22 ^B	5.38±1.12	5.14±1.27 ^B	4.97 ± 1.08^{B}	5.16±0.68 ^B	5.45±0.90
7	6.46±0.65 ^A	5.83±1.05	6.34±0.71 ^A	5.64 ± 0.82^{B}	6.16±0.5 ^A	5.32±1.54
14	5.85±1.15 ^A	6.23±0.26	5.87±1.08 ^A	6.36±0.39 ^A	6.30±0.36 ^A	5.65±1.43
21	6.26 ± 0.24^{A}	6.11±1.22	4.77 ± 1.54^{B}	5.93 ± 1.00^{A}	$5.77 \pm 0.98^{A, B}$	5.45±1.52
F41 fimbriae						
0	<4	<4	5.24 ± 1.28	4.46 ± 1.27	4.85 ± 1.02	4.61 ± 1.21
7	4.45 ± 1.57	4.12 ± 1.46	4.87 ± 1.83	<4	4.15±1.25	4.57 ± 1.48
14	<4	<4	<4	<4	<4	$4.34{\pm}1.49$
21	<4	4.06±1.13	<4	<4	<4	<4
F18 fimbriae						
0	6.74 ± 0.16^{B}	6.77 ± 0.28^{B}	6.72 ± 0.21^{B}	6.72±0.21 ^B	6.57±0.31 ^B	6.74±0.31
7	7.52 ± 0.80^{A}	7.67 ± 0.97^{A}	7.73±0.91 ^A	$7.27 \pm 0.66^{A, B}$	7.55 ± 0.69^{A}	$7.44{\pm}0.90$
14	7.49 ± 0.14^{A}	7.61 ± 0.17^{A}	7.56±0.21 ^A	7.75 ± 0.40^{A}	7.54 ± 0.22^{A}	7.66 ± 0.18
21	$7.12 \pm 0.31^{A, B}$	7.48 ± 0.64^{A}	6.98 ± 0.22^{B}	7.16 ± 0.44^{B}	$7.18 \pm 0.49^{A, B}$	7.35 ± 0.46
F6 fimbriae						
0	6.08 ± 0.28^{B}	6.02 ± 0.44^{B}	5.97 ± 0.52^{B}	$5.79 \pm 0.30^{\circ}$	5.87 ± 0.37^{B}	$6.02{\pm}0.23^{B}$
7	6.61±0.51 ^A	6.67 ± 0.63^{A}	6.70 ± 0.60^{A}	$6.34{\pm}0.42^{\mathrm{A, B}}$	6.54 ± 0.42^{A}	6.41±0.59 ^{A, B}
14	6.24 ± 0.20^{B}	6.40±0.25 ^{A, B}	6.30±0.17 ^{A, B}	6.55±0.36 ^A	6.30±0.21 ^A	6.45 ± 0.24^{A}
21	6.26±0.35 ^{A, B}	6.51±0.45 ^A	5.98±0.22 ^{, B}	6.16±0.30 ^{, B}	6.24±0.45 ^{A, B}	6.28±0.43 ^{A, B}

E. coli, K99, F41, F18, F6 and K88 fimbriae in feces collected on days 0, 7, 14, and 21 a

a Data are presented means \pm SD (n=48). Superscripts X and Y denote significant differences (P < 0.05) between diets at each time point (comparison across rows); superscripts A, B, C and D denote significant differences (P < 0.05)

0.05) within a diet over time (comparison across columns). Values that do not share a superscript are significantly different. The detection limit for *Clostridium* Cluster I, *C. perfringens* α toxin I, LT, STa, STb, *E. coli*, K99, F41, F18, F6 and K88 fimbriae was 4 log10 gene copies/g of feces (wet weight).

Figure S5.1. Fecal microbiota (left) and *Lactobacillus* (right) community structure as determined by Principle coordinates analysis (PCoA) of partial 16S rRNA sequences. Each dot represents individual fecal samples, colored according to the feed phase (left) and according to the wheat content of feed (right).



Chapter 6. Metagenomic reconstructions of gut microbial metabolism in weanling pigs

6.1. Introduction

Culture dependent and culture-independent approaches have advanced our understanding of the assembly of intestinal microbiota and their importance for their host [288–291]. In general, the development of gut microbiota is influenced by host genetic variation [289,292,293], environmental factors and stochastic events [292,294,295]. The association between the host genetics and gut microbiome is mediated by immunity-related pathways and the secretion of antimicrobial compounds [289]. Multiple environmental factors, such as antibiotics, social contacts and the environment also shape the architecture of gut microbiota [292,294,296]. The diet and particularly dietary carbohydrates are a key determinant for the composition and activity of the intestinal microbiome.

In mammals, lactose is initially the major or the only dietary carbohydrate. In general, mammals gradually transition from lactose to plant carbohydrates as main source of dietary carbohydrates; this dietary shift also induces a major shift of the intestinal microbiome [288,292,294,297,298]. In contrast, current swine production systems impose an abrupt transition from sow's milk to solid food in piglets, this also induces an accelerated succession of microbial communities post-weaning [118,294]. In commercial pig production, carbohydrates are the main energy source for pigs, comprising more than 60% of the dry matter and 60-70% of the dietary energy intake [299,300]. Dietary glycans that are not hydrolyzed and absorbed in the upper intestine enter the hindgut; bacterial fermentation to short-chain fatty acids also provides metabolic energy to the host [295]. Because specific microbial taxa are specialized for degradation of specific dietary carbohydrates, the composition of the diet alters the composition and activity of intestinal microbiota [300].

Consequently, gut microbial communities play a pivotal role in facilitating better adaption of piglets to fibrous feed and in minimizing the risk of colonization by pathogens after weaning [301]. Current analyses of intestinal microbiota are largely based on sequence-based methodology, avoiding the time-consuming culture-based analysis of intestinal microbiota. When assessing the function of intestinal microbiota on the basis of high-throughput sequencing data, metagenomic binning and genome-scale metabolic reconstructions has bridged the gap between the taxonomic analysis of microbial communities on the basis of 16S rRNA sequences and the description of the metabolic repertoire of individual members of gut microbiome by analysis of the abundance and distribution of metabolic cooperativity of between different representatives of the microbiome. Metabolic binning of metagenomic sequence data and the assignment of bacterial taxonomy to metabolic activity is thus an important tool to substitute untargeted microbiome modulation with targeted or predictable modulation of gut microbiome [303].

Swine are an important livestock species. Particularly at the time of weaning, dietary management of the piglets' microbiome is an important tool to reduce the piglets' susceptibility to pathogens, and to improve feed efficiency. However, past studies of the interactions between gut microbiome and diets in pigs were limited to 16S rRNA gene sequencing, or metagenomic analyses without metagenomic binning [23,294,304]. This study therefore aimed to unravel the adaptation of the swine microbiome to the dietary shift after weaning, and to establish a metagenomic reference by binning of genomes of swine gut bacteria from 72 samples from 18 animals. The metagenomic reference was used to predict the metabolic capacity of the fecal microbiome for metabolism of dietary carbohydrates by CAZy annotation, and by detailed analysis of metabolic pathways of major substrates present in wheat.

6.2. Materials and methods

6.2.1. Diets, animals and samples

Six experimental diets were prepared by mixing 98% basal diet (Table S6.1) with 2% unfermented wheat, acidified wheat (pH 3.8), wheat fermented with *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 (CanBiocin Inc, Edmonton, AB, Canada), or unfermented wheat with freeze-dried cultures of *L. casei* K9-1 and *L. fermentum* K9-2 (approximately 10^9 CFU/g), wheat fermented with *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 and wheat fermented *L. reuteri* TMW1.656 Δ rtcN (Table S6.2) [267]. Feed fermentation was performed as previously described [13, 20].

The six dietary treatments were randomly allocated to 48 crossbred castrated male piglets (21 days of age) with randomized block design to provide 8 replicates per dietary treatment. Pigs were raised in a temperature-controlled room ($28 \pm 2.5^{\circ}$ C) with one pig per pen and divided into six blocks. Pigs had access to *ad libitum* feed and clean water.

A total of 191 fecal samples were collected from the pen floors of at days 0, 7, 14 and 21. The fecal samples were immediately stored at -20°C after sampling. Subsamples samples (2-3 g) were stored at -80°C after thawing and mixing the frozen samples. Total bacterial DNA was extracted from fecal samples using QIAamp Fast DNA stool mini kit (Qiagen, Inc., Valencia, CA, USA) based on the manufacture's protocol. Purified DNA with an A260/280 ratio higher than 1.8 were selected for further analysis.

6.2.2. Intestinal microbial community analysis using 16S rRNA gene sequencing

Genomic DNA was sequenced on Illumina MiSeq (2×300 bp reads) by amplifying the V5-V6 domain of the 16S rRNA gene (University of Minnesota Genomics Center, Minneapolis, MN, USA). A total of 6,647,893 sequences with an average length of 266 bp, corresponding to 34,805 16S rRNA sequences for each of the 191 samples, were retained for downstream analysis after the

quality filtering from QIIME pipeline (MacQIIME 1.9.1-20150604) [233]. Sequences with 97% similarity were clustered into Operational Taxonomic Units (OTUs) by UCLUST [234] after dereplication and de-multiplexing. The GreenGenes database was used for taxonomy assignment with 95% average nucleotide identity (ANI) at the genus level. OTUs that were represented by only one or two sequences (relative abundance < 0.005%) were discarded. Principle coordinates analysis (PCoA) and analysis of similarities (ANOSIM) were performed using weighted UniFrac distance matrix calculated by *beta diversity.py* [294].

6.2.3. Metagenomic sequencing, assembly, binning and genome annotation

Samples from 18 pigs taken at 0, 7, 14, and 21 d after weaning were selected for shotgun metagenomic sequencing. Sequencing were performed on Illumina Hiseq 2500 PE125 platform with low input library protocol (McGill University and Genome Quebec Innovation Center, Montreal, Canada). A total of 399.25 Gb of sequence data were obtained, corresponding to 2.22 x 10¹¹ reads for each of the 72 samples. After quality check by FastQC, adapters were trimmed from raw reads by Trimmomatic [305] using a local adapter database. Trimmed reads were assembled into contigs using IDBA_UD with default parameters.

Binning was performed with MaxBin2 [306] using contigs longer than 3000 bp. After a two-step de-replication with dRep [307], 596 bins were obtained from the sample clusters pooled by pigs (four time points for each pig). CheckM [308] assessment indicated that all 596 bins were \geq 50% complete, 458 were substantially complete (completeness \geq 70%), 240 were nearly complete (completeness \geq 90%) [309] (Table S6.3). Of 458 substantially complete bins, 360 bins with contamination < 5% were regarded as high-quality assembled genomes and selected for further analyses.

Open reading frames (ORFs) were identified by prodigal v.2.6.1[310]. ORFs were annotated with BLAST against Clusters of Orthologous Groups (COG) database and CAZy database with an e-value \leq 1e-5 [311].

6.2.4. Phylogenetic identification and calculation of the relative abundance

The taxonomy of 360 high quality bins was assigned by *Phylophlan* with 3,737 reference genomes [312] on the basis of 400 proteins. The bins were assigned at the species, genus and family level when average amino acid identity of encoded proteins to the reference genome was greater than \geq 90%, 60% and 45%, respectively [313,314], in at least 50 proteins [315]. The average coverage of bins were determined using MaxBin2 [306] by recruiting reads (from each sample) to scaffolds. The average coverage normalized to the total number of reads in each sample corresponds to the relative abundances of bins.

6.2.5. Reconstruction of metabolic pathways for carbohydrate fermentation

CAZy were clustered into 5 categories based on the substrate specificity of glycoside hydrolases (GHs) and carbohydrate esterases (CEs). Enzymes from the GH families GH13, GH31, GH97, GH4, GH14, GH15, GH57 and GH63 were assigned to starch degrading enzymes. GH families GH32, GH91 and GH68 were assigned as fructan hydrolysing enzymes. GH families containing β -glucanases including licheninase, β -glucan endohydrolase, endo-(1, 4) β -glucanase are GH8, GH16, GH26, GH5, GH6, GH9, GH10, GH12, GH44, GH48, GH45, GH51. GH an CE families harboring xylanase, arabinofuranosidase, α -glucuronsidase and acetyl-xylan esterase were regarded as arabinoxylan specific and include GH5, GH10, GH11, GH8, GH43, GH51, GH67, GH115, CE1, CE2, CE4, CE6 and CE7. Enzymes degrading O-linked and N-linked host glycans include GH20, GH84, GH110, GH89, GH125, GH109, CE14, GH123 and CE9. The degradation capacity of each bin corresponds to the sum of positive hits of GHs or CEs under each category.

Metabolic pathways of starch, fructan and lactose were studied by blasting sequences of key enzymes that were characterized biochemically (Table S6.4) against 360 assembled genomes. An amino acid identity of \geq 40% and e-value \leq 1e-5 were used as threshold values. The relative abundance of enzymes over time was calculated by sum of all positive hits normalizing with corresponding abundance of target bins at four time points.

6.2.6. Statistical analysis

Data analyses were performed in R, (version 3.4.3, The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, https://www.r-project.org/). P values < 0.05 with Bonferroni-adjustment were considered significant. Results are presented as means \pm standard deviation. The average daily gain, feed intake of pigs, feed efficiency and relative abundance of bin were compared using linear mixed-effects (LME) models based on randomized complete block design with repeated measurement. In the model, pigs were considered as experimental unit, time and block were considered as fixed effects and random effect, respectively. Alpha-diversity parameters between time points were compared using Kruskal-Wallis rank-sum test. The UniFrac distance of pig groups were also compared using LME models with time*sow source as fixed effects.

6.3. Results

6.3.1. Growth performance and gut health of pigs

The grow performance of pigs in 21 days after weanling is listed in Table 6.1. Both average feed intake and average daily gain increased throughout the experimental period. The feed efficiency increased in the first two weeks and plateaued in the last week. All animals remained healthy during the 21-day trial.

Time	Day 7	Day 14	Day 21
Average feed intake ^a (g DM ^b /day)	267 ±2.90 ^C	469±4.11 ^B	749±16.85 ^A
Average daily gain (g / day)	177±11.48 ^C	375±11.33 ^B	615±17.49 ^A
Feed efficiency (G / F)	0.65 ± 0.04 ^B	$0.80{\pm}0.02^{\text{ A}}$	0.84±0.03 ^A

Table 6.1. Growth performance of weanling pigs during the first 3 weeks after weanling

Data was presented as mean \pm standard error of means. Results with unlike letter in the same row were significant different (*P* < 0.05).

^aPigs were fed with phase 1 diet (80% basal diet + 20% wheat flour) for the first 7 days, followed by phase 2 diet (50% basal diet + 50% wheat flour) from days 8 to 21. ^bDM, dry matter.

6.3.2. Bacterial community composition analysis by 16S rRNA gene sequencing

Analyses of the microbiome composition determined factors that influence the evolution of the microbiome after weaning (Figure 6.1 & Figure S6.1). Alpha diversity increased after weaning and remained stable after week 3 (Figure 6.1). The presence of probiotic lactobacilli in the diet [267] did not influence the composition of fecal microbiota. Significant but minor differences were observed between individual animals (Table 6.2). Litter effects were significant at weaning but not at later sampling times (Figure. 6.1). The differences between bacterial communities were mainly explained by wheat content of the diet and the time after weaning (Table 6.2). The effects of time and wheat inclusion on bacterial composition were visualized by PCoA based on weighted UniFrac distance matrix (Figure S6.1). PCoA clearly grouped samples based on time after weaning and wheat content (Figure S6.1). Therefore, subsequent analyses focused on microbial degradation of carbohydrates.

Fastara	UniFrac dist	UniFrac distance (weighted)					
Factors	Ν	R ^b	р				
Probiotic	6	0.008	0.122				
Animal	48	0.087	0.001				
Sow	11	0.100	0.001				
Age	4	0.332	0.001				
Wheat	3	0.505	0.001				

Table 6.2. ANOSIM^a of weighted UniFrac a distance matrix calculated with partial 16S rRNA sequences

^aANOSIM, Analysis of similarity.

^bSlight correlation was considered when 0 < R < 0.3, whereas R > 0.3 was considered a strong correlation.

Figure 6.1a. α -Diversity of fecal microbiota over time. Black bars represent Chao1 indexes, grey bars represent the number of observed species in each sample. Data were calculated from partial 16S rRNA sequences and are presented as mean \pm standard errors of the means (n = 48). Mean values for the same index (bars with same color) with unlike letters or asterisk (*) are significantly different (*P* < 0.05).

Figure 6.1b. UniFrac distance (weighted) between fecal microbiota of piglets from the same sow (gray bars) and from all piglets (hatched bars) during the first 3 weeks after weanling. Mean values for the same group (bars with same color) and pairs at the same time point with unlike letters are significantly different (P < 0.05).



6.3.3. Metagenomic reconstruction of fecal microbiome in weanling pigs

Reconstruction of bacterial genomes from metagenomic sequence data generated a total of 596 genomic bins from 18 weanling pigs and enabled a genome-based investigation of microbial metabolism. The average size of 598 bins was 2.07 Mb and the average N50 was 32,152 bp. Figure 6.2 shows the taxonomic identification of 360 bins with completeness of > 70% and contamination of < 5%). Of the 360 identified bins, 216 were assigned to *Firmicutes* and 96 to *Bacteroidetes*; 11 bins were identified as Actinobacteria, 16 as Proteobacteria. Only 106 of the metagenomics bins were identified at the genus or species level; remaining bins did not match to genome-sequenced reference strains. The relative abundance of bacterial genomes was calculated based on the average coverage per metagenomics bin normalized to the number of total reads in each sample (Figure 6.2, Table S6.3). About half of the bins (175 of 360) showed differences in abundance over time. Among these, 56 bins showed a higher abundance at 0 d when compared to other sampling times while the abundance of 64 bins increased over time. One of the bins with decreasing abundance represents Lactobacillus delbrueckii, which has to date not been considered a representative of animal intestinal microbiota. Interestingly, 20 bins only increased temporarily at day 7 and / or day 14.

The capacity of 360 bins for glycan degradation was initially predicted by identification of GHs and carbohydrate esterases with similar substrate preference (Figure 6.2, Table S6.3). Starch-degrading enzymes were widely found in genomes of Firmicutes and *Bacteroidetes*. These metagenomic bins were relatively abundant and increased over time, particularly in genomes of *Faecalibacterium* spp. Only few genomes harboured fructan degrading enzymes, examples include genomes of *Lactobacillus, Escherichia coli* and several unclassified *Bacteroidales*. The distribution of bins carrying enzymes for β -glucan, arabinoxylan and host-glycan metabolism

overlapped; these GH families were widely distributed in genomes of *Bacteroidetes*, *Ruminococcus* and *Lachnospiraceae*.

6.3.4. Reconstruction of metabolic pathways for starch, fructan and lactose metabolism in weanling pigs

Microbial metabolism of starch, fructan and lactose was further analysed by identification of metabolic enzymes degrading starch, fructans, and lactose [316–323] (Figure 6.3). Query sequences were selected to retrieve all characterized metabolic pathways for the substrate with minimal overlap between hits obtained with different query sequences for the same substrate.

Firmicutes and *Bacteroidetes* harboured distinct pathways for starch degradation. *Firmicutes* convert starch by an extracellular α -(1→4)-glucan branching enzyme (GlgB) and pullulanses (Amy12), these enzymes occurred only in *Firmicutes*. GlgB was detected in 191 of 216 bins assigned to *Firmicutes*. Remarkably, most of the starch-degrading *Firmicutes* carry GlgB but no other starch hydrolysing enzymes; only 5 members of *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* and one *Eubacterium rectale* additional carry pullulanases. Bin 254 was the only member of *Firmicutes* with an extracellular neopullulanse2. The periplasmic starch utilization by *susA* (GH13, 54.2%) and *susB* (GH97, 74.0%) was present in *Bacteroidetes*. Multiple metagenomics bins assigned to *Bacteroidetes* contained multiple genes for starch digestion, including extracellular and periplasmic enzymes. Among the 80 starch-degrading *Bacteroidetes*, only two *Bacteroidetes* were without *susA* or *susB*, 23 *Bacteroidetes* additionally harboured extracellular amylase (Amy1, 4) or neopullulanse (SusG).

Firmicutes and *Bacteroidetes* also harboured distinct enzymes for fructan hydrolysis. *Firmicutes* catabolize fructan by intracellular β -fructofuranosidase (ScrA / ScrB, GH32) and extracellular fructansucrases (Inu, GH68, and FruA, GH32). FruA, ScrB and Inu were present only in

lactobacilli. ScrA was present in other *Firmicutes*, including *Subdoligranulum variabile*, *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*, *Eubacterium* and unclassified *Clostridiales*. *Bacteroidetes* metabolize fructan by β -(2 \rightarrow 6) endo-fructanases (GH32) including BT_1760 (extracellular), BT_3082 (periplasmic) and BT_1765/1754 (intracellular). Among 49 fructan-degrading *Bacteroidetes*, only 3 members did not carry intracellular β -(2 \rightarrow 6) endo-fructanase, 9 members of *Bacteroidetes* additional harboured extracellular BT_1760, another 2 members additional carried periplasmic BT_3082.

Lactose hydrolysis was identified only in *Firmicutes* with exception of bin20 representing a member of *Coriobacteriaceae*. Most lactose-degrading bacteria (27 out of 31) hydrolyze lactose by intracellular GH2 β -galactosidase (BbgI, LacM and BbgIV) or GH42 β -galactosidase LacA, including members of *Lactobacillus, Subdoligranulum, Ruminococcus*. The abundance of *Lactobacillus delbrueckii*, a species that is specialized for lactose conversion, decreased over time (Figure 6.2). The other lactose decomposers were capable of lactose hydrolysis by extracellular BbgIII (GH2).

Figure 6.2. Phylogeny, abundance, and metabolic potential of bacterial taxa in the fecal microbiota of piglets. Bacterial taxa were identified based on reconstructed genomes assigned to 360 bins with $\geq 70\%$ completeness and < 5% contamination. The phylogenetic tree and the taxonomic assignment of reconstructed bins are shown as the innermost layers. The taxonomic assignment was based on the average amino acid identity of encoded proteins to the most closely related reference genome sequence. Branches and labels with different colors represent different phyla as indicated by the color code to the lower left. The heatmap in the third layer depicts the relative abundance of the 360 bins, inside to outside 0, 7, 14, and 21 d (n = 18 per time point). The relative abundance of bins in each sample was calculated from the average contig coverage obtained by re-mapping reads form samples and normalizing to the total reads in the sample. The outermost four layers depict the number of glycosyl hydrolases and esterases encoded in each bin. Glycosyl hydrolases and esterases were grouped by their predicted substrate specificity as follows: Lactose degrading enzymes include GH1,GH2 and GH42; Starch degrading enzymes include GH13, GH31, GH97, GH4, GH14, GH15, GH57 and GH63; fructan degrading enzymes include GH32, GH91 and GH68; β-glucan degrading enzymes include GH8, GH16, GH26, GH5, GH6, GH9, GH10, GH12, GH44, GH48, GH45, and GH51; arabinoxylan degrading enzymes include GH5, GH10, GH11, GH8, GH43, GH51, GH67, GH115, CE1, CE2, CE4, CE6 and CE7; host-glycan degrading enzymes include GH20, GH84, GH110, GH89, GH125, GH109, CE14, GH123 and CE9.



Figure 6.3. Predicted metabolic pathways for starch, fructan, and lactose metabolism. The abundance of metabolic enzymes was obtained by using biochemically characterized enzymes as query sequences for BLAST analysis of metagenomics bins. Enzymes are grouped by the substrate and the cellular location of the query sequence. The abundance of corresponding genes at the four time points was calculated from the cumulative relative abundance of bins encoding for a homologue of the gene and is shown as colour coded matrix for the four time points (left to right 0, 7, 14, and 21 d). Labels at the left side for rows include the name of gene and the abbreviations for the organism for which the corresponding enzyme was characterized. Abbreviations for organisms are as follows: *Bat, Bacteroidetes; Bt, Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron; Lb, Lactobacillus; Fp, Faecalibacterium prausnitzii; Fic, Firmicutes.* The accession number of query sequences and reference to the biochemical characterization of the enzymes is provided in Table S6.4 of the online supplementary material.



6.4. Discussion

6.4.1. Microbial composition in piglets differed by host derived factors and reshaped by diet

The fecal microbiota of weanling pigs is unstable during early life and stabilizes within 2-3 weeks after weaning [118,304]. In this study, we analyzed the structure and function of the intestinal microbial community in piglets during the first three weeks after weaning by partial 16S rRNA gene sequencing and metagenomics analysis. Diet together with age were the most significant factors shaping community assembly in weaning piglets; litter effects were transient and minor. Age alters the physiology of the gastrointestinal tract including immune and metabolic functions during weaning in piglets, these changes occur rapidly in response to the transition to solid food [256,324].

Litter effects in the structure of fecal communities were significant at weaning and the diversity of animals from different sows was higher than the diversity of littermates. Initial differences in microbiota structure between animals and litters were altered by the uniform post-weaning diet. Inclusion of probiotic bacteria gastric communities of lactobacilli [267] but did not significantly alter the structure of fecal microbiota. The use of the same probiotic *L. reuteri* at a 10-fold higher dose significantly altered the abundance of only very few bacterial taxa [23]. The limited impact of probiotic bacteria on the overall composition of intestinal microbiota matches observations in humans [256,325].

6.4.2. Novel reference with 596 genomes were reconstructed for swine fecal microorganisms The importance of the intestinal microbiome for host physiology highlights the need for comprehensive analysis based on genomic and phenotypic assays. Culture-dependent analysis of intestinal microbiota, however, lags the identification of bacterial taxa by high-throughput

sequencing approaches [290,326]. This study reconstructed 596 genomes including 360 high quality and substantially completed genomes from swine fecal microbiota. Owing to the high error rates in sequencing and assembly of regions with repetitive sequences including rRNA operons [327], bacterial taxa were identified on the basis of the AAI of multiple conserved proteins sequences distributed across the genomes [313]. Only 106 genomes were assigned to the genus or species level due to the lack of matching genome sequences of cultured species. For the remaining 254 high quality genomes, this study provides novel genome sequence data and expands current knowledge on the phylogenetic and metabolic diversity of swine intestinal microorganisms [328,329]. The phylogenetic analysis of 360 reconstructed genomes and the annotation of open reading frames serves as the first reference for metagenomes of swine microbiota. Different from past swine metagenomics studies [294,304,330] this reference allows the assignment of the metabolic activity of intestinal organisms to their taxonomic identification.

6.4.3. Phylogeny and functions of high-quality genomes reconstructed for swine fecal microorganisms

The increasing abundance of *Bacteroidales* and *Clostridiales* over time reflects their ability to derive metabolic energy from diverse plant polysaccharides [321,331–333]. CAZy annotation indicated the ability of multiple *Bacteroidetes* species to degrade starch, β -glucan, arabinoxylan and host glycans [317]. *Ruminococcaceae*, a family in the phylum *Firmicutes*, also includes species with the capability to hydrolyse a broad range of polysaccharides, matching the identification of *R. bromii* as a keystone species for starch degradation in the human colon [334]. The relative abundance of metagenomic bins representing bacterial taxa with multiple polysaccharide degrading enzymes increased in response to the inclusion of plant carbohydrates after weaning. Examples include members of *Bacteroidetes* and *Ruminococcaceae*. In contrast,

some early colonizers, mostly Proteobacteria including E. coli and members of the genus *Clostridum* decreased dramatically after weaning. The reduced abundance of *Proteobacteria* may relate to a lower protein intake concomitant with a higher fiber intake and a more developed immune function [324,335]. Remarkably, metagenomics binning also identified Lactobacillus *delbrueckii* in the microbiome of piglets; this organism decreased rapidly after weaning. L. delbrueckii has not been considered a member of animal intestinal microbiota [131]. Different from other species of the L. delbrueckii group, which maintain enzymes for metabolism of a relatively broad array of carbohydrates [131], the genome of L. delbrueckii underwent reductive evolution that silenced most carbohydrate metabolic enzymes [336]. This metabolic focus of L. *delbrueckii* on lactose as main source of metabolic energy was interpreted as adaptation to the milk environment or dairy fermentations [337], however, our data suggests that the metabolic focus on lactose may alternatively represent adaptation to the intestine of suckling mammals. Re-analysis of the intestinal microbiome of weanling piglets [23] indeed revealed that L. delbrueckii was also detected in piglets on the day of weaning but no longer detectable 2 or 3 weeks after weaning (Figure S6.2).

6.4.4. Microbial degradation of starch, fructans and lactose in weanling pigs

Even though a large panel of CAZymes have been catalogued based on substrate specificity, CAZy-family based classification of enzymes needs to be complemented by a more detailed analysis that is based on reference sequences of enzymes that were biochemically characterized [317,338]. Moreover, classification of proteins in GH or CE families not always allows an unambiguous prediction of their substrate specificity or cellular location. Many substrates are degraded by enzymes several from several families, and enzymes in many GH or CE families are active on more than one substrate [331].

In humans, starch entering the large intestine is degraded by microbial consortia contributing diverse extracellular, periplasmatic and intracellular starch-converting and –hydrolysing enzymes [339] while lactose, GOS and dietary fructans are degraded by few bacterial groups, particularly *Bifidobacterium* spp. [340,341]. Our analysis revealed that microbial consortia and species that degrade starch, fructans, and lactose in weaning piglets differ substantially from those that were identified in humans.

Bacterial degradation of starch is mediated by amylases and pullulanases, which hydrolyse α -(1 \rightarrow 4)- and α -(1 \rightarrow 6)-glucosidic bonds, respectively [319]. Members from GH13 families were identified as the principal starch degrading enzymes but Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes used distinct starch-utilization systems. Extracellular glycosidases were identified mainly in Firmicutes while periplasmic enzymes were only found in Bacteriodetes. The high abundance of an extracellular α -(1 \rightarrow 4)- glucan branching enzyme suggests this enzyme is important for the primary degradation of starch in the swine GIT. The α -(1 \rightarrow 4)-glucanotransferase GlgB catalyses glucan chain transfer to form α -(1 \rightarrow 6)-glucosidic linkages; this enzyme was found in *Firmicutes* only. The enzyme was suggested to improve accessibility to insoluble starch [320,342] and is broadly distributed in intestinal microbiota of different hosts including humans, chicken, cattle, and swine [343]. Following starch hydrolysis by extracellular enzymes, the α-glucosidases SusA and SusB further degrade gluco-oligosaccharides in the periplasm. Disruption of SusA and SusB from B. thetaiotaomicron, reduced the rate of growth but did not eliminate the growth of the strain [344]; however, periplasmic starch degrading enzymes may reduce access of competitors to the products of hydrolysis. With exception of F. prausnitzii, starch degrading Firmicutes carried a single glycosidase; in contrast, redundant enzymes with different activities or different locations were commonly detected within a single genome of Bacteroidetes. The high abundance of starch

utilizing enzymes in fecal microbiota demonstrates that wheat starch, despite its hydrolysis by pancreatic amylases and brush border enzymes, is a major carbohydrate source for colonic microbiota. The distribution of extracellular and periplasmic enzymes for starch degradation highlights a high level of metabolic cooperativity that was also noted in human starch and cellulose degrading microbial communities [317,334]. In humans, *Ruminococcus bromii* plays a key role in fermentation of type 3 resistant starch and enhanced the growth of *B. thetaiotaomicron*, *B. adolescentis* or *E. rectale* on resistant starch [322,334], however, this study indicates that this species does not fulfill a comparable role in swine microbiota.

Fructans with an average degree of polymerization of 5 - 6 are among the major non-starch polysaccharides in wheat [345]. Fructans were degraded by Bacteriodetes and lactobacilli. The linear structure of fructans allows hydrolysis by single enzyme that are classified in the GH32 or GH68 families [320]. In contrast to the complex and partially redundant starch degrading enzymes in *Bacteriodetes*, fructans degraders carried fewer fructanases. Fructan utilization is not conserved within members of a specific species [39,40,66]. Three GH32 enzymes, including BT1760 (extracellular), BT3082 (periplasmic), and BT1765 (intracellular), as well as hybrid twocomponent (HTC) signaling system, BT1754 are required for fructan utilization in B. thetaiotaomicron and related Bacteroides spp.[321]. B. thetaiotaomicron utilized levan while B. caccae ferments inulin [321,345]. GH 68 family enzymes in lactobacilli are extracellular levansucrases which are necessary for biofilm formation on non-secretary epithelia of the upper GI tract; these enzymes synthezise levan but do not contribute to fructan hydrolysis [347]. Intracellular GH32 β-fructofuranosidases of lactobacilli (scrB) utilize only fructans with a DP of less than 4 that are transported across the membrane [316,346,348]. The metagenomic analysis is the first to report the presence of extracellular fructanases in intestinal lactobacilli. FruA is

common in oral streptococci, however, its presence is exceptional in lactobacilli and was previously identified only in type II sourdough microbiota [323]; The exclusive presence of FruA in *Lactobacillus* species representing swine intestinal communities may reflect specific nutritional requirements in pigs. The identification of *Bacteriodes* and *Lactobacillus* spp. as major degrading organisms also contrasts microbial consortia degrading fructans in the humans intestine, where bifidobacteria are the main organisms that degrade fructans and benefit from fructan addition to the diet [349].

Lactose accounts for about 26.7% of sow milk solids [350]; transition diets contain 10-15% of lactose. Lactose is thus one of the major dietary carbohydrates in suckling and weanling pigs; wheat contains only low quantities of polygalactans[323]. Only *Firmicutes* fermented lactose with the LacS/LacLM pathway widely distributed in lactobacilli [351–353]. Lactose is transported into the cytoplasm by lactose permease and hydrolysed by intracellular GH2 β -galactosidases common in *Firmicutes*, and GH42 β -galactosidases of lactobacilli. Lactobacilli colonize the stomach of swine where dietary lactose is available; in contrast, *Bacteroidetes* are dominant only in hindgut microbiota after full or partial digestion of lactose in the small intestine. Accordingly, their extracellular enzymes may target β -glycosidic linkages in host or plant glycans rather than lactose. Microbial fermentation of lactose in the terminal ileum and the large intestine contributes to lactose digestion particularly in lactase-non-persistent humans [354]. The distribution of β -galactosidases in human microbiota remains poorly characterized but bifidobacteria are considered to be the main organisms involved in metabolism of lactose and related β -galacto-oligosaccharides [341].

In conclusion, we present a metagenomics reference for swine intestinal microbiome by assigning taxonomies and metabolic functions to the 360 high quality assembled genomes. Along with the clear evidence for dietary carbohydrates acting as the most significant drivers for diversification

of microbiota, we further determined the key microbial contributors to degradation of major substrates in starter diet, including starch, fructans, and lactose. Starch is a substrate for colonic microbiota and its metabolism is dependent on metabolic co-operativity between *Firmicutes* and *Bacteroidetes*. Fructans and lactose are fermented by simple enzyme systems present in *Bacteroides* and *Lactobacillus* spp., respectively. This study greatly improved the functional analysis of swine intestinal microbiome. It also enables future studies linking composition and function of piglet microbiota to establish feeding systems that improve feed efficiency and animal health while reducing microbial resistance to antibiotics.

Supplementary materials

Ingredients (%)	Phase 1 (day 0 to 6)	Phase 2 (day 7 to 21)
Wheat HRS (NRC)	20.00	50.00
Corn (NRC)	31.54	1.76
Lactose	15.00	10.00
Soybean meal (NRC)	15.00	15.00
B. napus canola meal		2.50
Soy protein conc HP300	3.00	2.50
Herring meal	6.00	2.50
Corn DDGS ^a (NRC)		5.00
Canola oil (NRC)	4.00	3.40
Limestone	1.15	1.10
Salt	0.50	0.50
Other vitamin and mineral ingredients	3.31	5.24
TiO2	0.50	0.50
Total	100	100

Table S6.1. Composition of diets to fulfil NRC recommendations (2012) for pigs (5-11kg)

^a DDGS, distiller's dried grains with soluble

Diet Group		Components	Lactobacilli
Diet	Oloup	Components	strains
	Control	basal diet + 2% unfermented wheat	N/A
Unfermented diet	Acidified Control basal diet + 2% unfermented wheat + lactic and acetic acids		N/A
	Freeze dried	basal diet + 2% unfermented wheat	L. fermentum
	Canbiocin probiotics	+ freeze dried Canbiocin probiotics	and <i>L. casei</i>
	Canbiocin probiotics	basal diet + 2% fermented wheat with Canbiocin probiotics	L. fermentum and L. casei
Fermented diet	Reutericyclin	basal diet + 2% fermented wheat with reutericyclin producing <i>Lactobacilli</i>	<i>L. reuteri</i> TMW1.656
	Non-reutericyclin	basal diet + 2% fermented wheat with non-reutericyclin producing <i>Lactobacilli</i> mutant	<i>L. reuteri</i> TMW1.656∆rtc N

 Table S6.2. Experimental design and diets used in this study

Figure S6.1. Principle coordinates analysis (PCoA) of fecal microbiota composition based on weighted UniFrac-distance of partial 16S rRNA sequences. Each dot represents individual fecal samples, colored according to the sampling age (Panel A) and according to the wheat content of feed (Panel B).



		Genome					
Bin_ID	Phylogeny *	size (bp)	# contigs	N50	GC %	Completeness %	Contamination %
Bin206	unclassified Clostridiales	1830849	1827	28008	37.9	93.18	1.34
Bin154	Ruminococcaceae	1762869	1672	85982	38.5	85.68	0
Bin196	Ruminococcus flavefaciens	2578630	2253	34763	38.5	83.22	0
Bin155	Ruminococcaceae	2082788	1954	45052	39.4	95.66	0.34
Bin326	Phascolarctobacterium	2057086	2008	25219	38.2	98.2	0.6
Bin156	Ruminococcaceae	1655009	1639	15466	38.4	80.98	0
Bin33	unclassified Bacteroidales	2244629	1736	18188	36.6	80.59	0.74
Bin207	unclassified Clostridiales			10212			
DIII207	unclassified Closifiulaies	1863125	1778	2	38.4	95.97	0
Bin208	unclassified Clostridiales			10251			
BIII208	unclassified Closificaties	2436536	2318	5	36.5	94.92	1.08
Bin157	Ruminococcaceae	1554586	1503	66345	35.7	89.93	0.81
D' 14				11208			
Bin34	unclassified Bacteroidales	2729792	2247	4	39.8	95.51	0.48
Bin209	unclassified Clostridiales	1698269	1677	17005	36.7	93.66	0
Bin35	unclassified Bacteroidales	2297146	2020	24716	37.9	87.3	3.62
Din?	Fachavishin cali			10058			
Bin3	Escherichia coli	4539067	4259	4	36.2	98.78	0.21
Bin203	Subdoligranulum variabile	2419992	2241	54866	36.6	77.55	0
Bin36	unclassified Bacteroidales	2271448	1776	17594	38.6	80.49	0.12
Bin197	Ruminococcus	2105499	2009	20316	38.6	91.28	3.75
Bin348	Desulfovibrio piger	1636123	1660	4524	38.9	70.59	1.78
Bin210	unclassified Clostridiales	1732346	1649	82781	38.9	96.15	0
Bin37	unclassified Bacteroidales	2342019	2022	12083	36.9	86.11	1.22
Bin211	unclassified Clostridiales	1910205	1935	57561	37.8	90.9	0.1

Table S6.3. Quality assessment of 596 bins by CheckM (* Phylogenetic affiliation were onlyassigned to 360 bins with completeness $\geq 70\%$ and contamination $\leq 5\%$)

Bin186	Faecalibacterium			11667			
DIII180	Гиесиндистетит	2360806	2222	7	37.7	97.54	0
Bin18	Coriobacteriaceae	1849683	1765	12665	36.1	91.53	1.61
Bin29	Bacteroides coprophilus	2770554	2322	32561	38.3	83.95	1.75
Bin32	Alistipes putredinis			11595			
DIII32	Austipes putreatins	3093702	2561	9	36.9	99.52	0
Bin212	unclassified Clostridiales	2412669	2353	53548	36.4	96.37	1.88
Bin2	Alphaproteobacteria	1642539	1774	12239	38	95.51	0.06
Bin4	Escherichia coli	4045726	4109	9746	36.2	92.63	1.66
Bin213	unclassified Clostridiales	1623393	1767	6376	40.1	84.81	2.02
Bin355	Pyramidobacter piscolens	3300405	2874	65943	39.8	91.53	0
Bin31	Bacteroides vulgatus	4361813	3981	38325	39.1	86.72	4.48
Bin12	Mycoplasmatales	1431294	1527	61079	39.9	92.42	3.37
Bin149	Lachnospiraceae	2644724	2483	49401	40.7	95.98	0.38
Bin158	Ruminococcaceae			30124			
DIII138	Kuminococcuceue	2601857	2435	3	37.4	99.32	0.17
Bin138	Clostridium scindens	2885217	2986	48377	41	94.74	0.33
Bin137	Clostridium bolteae	4404879	4344	34725	41.7	97.22	3.39
Bin214	unclassified Clostridiales	1778909	1761	45079	38.2	79.87	3.69
Bin349	Desulfovibrio piger			10258			
Dilloty	Desuijoviono piger	2582996	2215	5	38.8	98.7	0.59
Bin358	Akkermansia muciniphila	2562750	2279	23613	39	93.82	0
Bin215	unclassified Clostridiales	1531569	1629	12145	38.9	92.31	0
Bin359	Akkermansia.s muciniphila	2550919	2188	67327	36.5	92.59	1.69
Bin216	unclassified Clostridiales	2620615	2567	43124	38.8	95.94	4.44
Bin38	unclassified Bacteroidales	1927438	1643	69052	34.7	93.24	0
Bin39	unclassified Bacteroidales	2761614	2250	51677	37.2	95.47	3.58
Bin217	unclassified Clostridiales	1319117	1287	22659	39.2	87.27	0.81
Bin345	Delftia			11490			
DIIIJTJ	Dogun	3345219	3080	4	33.6	96.84	0.67
Bin159	Ruminococcaceae	2341184	2273	50355	39.7	93.06	2.68

Bin193	Ruminococcus flavefaciens	2173514	2173	7496	38.3	90.82	1.79
Bin40	unclassified Bacteroidales	2701234	2204	32610	37.2	95.66	1.26
Bin218	unclassified Clostridiales	1996919	2051	78492	39.4	90.92	0
Bin41	unclassified Bacteroidales	2520126	2207	16383	38.6	88.58	3.52
Bin42	unclassified Bacteroidales	1842287	1694	14583	38.2	87.36	2.69
Bin357	unclassified Opitutae	2171368	1770	58031	34.1	93.92	0
Bin43	unclassified Bacteroidales	2226688	1831	12095	38.2	86.38	1.94
Bin219	unclassified Clostridiales	2139860	2139	85995	39.6	99.19	1.34
Bin220	unclassified Clostridiales	2043147	1972	53303	37.5	99.19	0
Bin13	Mycoplasmatales	1336820	1401	75640	39.7	95.51	0
Bin221	unclassified Clostridiales	1352857	1312	14366	38.5	90.28	1.4
Bin44	unclassified Bacteroidales	2422237	1853	37116	35.2	93.62	0
Bin222	unclassified Clostridiales	1119053	1213	7205	39.1	72.77	2.42
Bin45	unclassified Bacteroidales	2159755	1922	11314	37.3	87.2	1.07
Bin341	Lentisphaeraceae	2106401	2042	6125	39	78.14	3.27
Bin223	unclassified Clostridiales	3208704	3096	81878	38.6	96.55	4.89
Bin224	unclassified Clostridiales	1428668	1472	10528	39.7	85.41	4.08
Bin147	Eubacterium rectale	3016716	2656	46020	40.5	92.89	2.41
Bin225	unclassified Clostridiales	1618420	1616	33696	38.2	88.29	0.67
Bin226	unclassified Clostridiales	2261741	2296	60580	39.5	94.97	1.8
Bin46	unclassified Bacteroidales	2421738	1986	39489	34.9	96.98	0
Bin8	Treponema	2598084	2486	63340	39.3	99.3	0.35
Bin160	Ruminococcaceae	1524490	1422	44141	39.5	81.88	0
Bin47	unclassified Bacteroidales	2351503	1856	64818	35.8	96.71	0
Bin227	unclassified Clostridiales	2613503	2498	19220	37.6	92.17	3.91
Bin161	Ruminococcaceae	1681403	1700	36129	39.5	89.57	2.68
Bin228	unclassified Clostridiales			10906			
DIII220	unclassified Closif lutates	2188636	2112	3	36.9	95.97	0.67
Bin229	unclassified Clostridiales	2426086	2508	60578	37.8	97.99	0.67
Bin48	unclassified Bacteroidales	2941455	2977	6789	37.4	78.3	2.89
Bin230	unclassified Clostridiales	2802820	2671	44895	37.7	97.55	0.42

D' 001				10670			
Bin231	unclassified Clostridiales	1899796	1591	4	36.9	98.58	0
Bin162	Ruminococcaceae	1766263	1634	52448	38.4	88.37	0
Bin232	unclassified Clostridiales	2082760	2024	75827	37.3	99.19	0
Bin49	unclassified Bacteroidales	2266810	1784	91382	35.5	96.54	0.75
Bin356	Thermanaerovibrio						
	acidaminovorans	3327991	2971	74791	39.7	100	0
Bin233	unclassified Clostridiales	2396985	2302	32437	37.1	97.32	1.82
Bin50	unclassified Bacteroidales	3729088	3509	11025	39.1	90.78	3.04
Bin194	Ruminococcus flavefaciens	2237849	2286	7947	38.7	76.29	2.68
Bin51	unclassified Bacteroidales	3498672	3124	14590	39.2	87.95	0
Bin234	unclassified Clostridiales	1832603	1807	32183	40.3	99.19	2.96
Bin235	unclassified Clostridiales	2781264	2787	13508	37	90.43	3.9
Bin236	unclassified Clostridiales	1746954	1797	15807	40.4	96.1	2.15
Bin52	unclassified Bacteroidales	3119199	2576	38614	39.7	92.05	2.14
Bin237	unclassified Clostridiales	2133212	2062	73764	37.2	88.59	0.67
Bin238	unclassified Clostridiales	1579536	1545	83397	40.6	90.94	0.67
Bin19	Coriobacteriaceae	1804051	1718	13407	36.1	94.96	2.26
Bin53	unclassified Bacteroidales	2502981	2063	44065	36	95.48	1.3
Bin54	unclassified Bacteroidales	1712893	1628	9816	37.8	75.44	1.07
Bin163	Ruminococcaceae	2238204	2226	44483	38.6	96.98	0
Bin327	Phascolarctobacterium	2187908	2100	63911	37.8	99.98	0.6
Bin239	unclassified Clostridiales			10881			
DIII239		1828019	1761	8	36.1	86.58	0
Bin240	unclassified Clostridiales	2677664	2647	74195	39	81.54	0
Bin55	unclassified Bacteroidales	2708720	2177	29051	38.2	79.44	1.32
Bin150	Lachnospiraceae	3969489	3892	43630	41.3	91.14	4.75
Bin241	unclassified Clostridiales	1925525	1856	29444	37.2	84.34	2.01
Bin242	unclassified Clostridiales	2007844	1966	63047	39.9	99.19	2.15
Bin139	Eubacteriaceae	2181022	2255	49723	39	97.99	0.34
Bin243	unclassified Clostridiales	2180581	2277	64492	39.2	90.6	2.35

Bin244	unclassified Clostridiales			11163			
		1706632	1538	9	37.3	85.23	0
Din 245	unalogoified Clostridialog			33345			
Bin245	unclassified Clostridiales	2489405	2376	9	36.7	98.39	0
Bin246	unclassified Clostridiales	1973682	2003	15279	37	84.68	1.01
Bin151	Lachnospiraceae	4166508	4234	40172	39.4	94.74	3.01
Bin247	unclassified Clostridiales	3247545	2907	30463	38.4	96.64	4.7
Bin56	unclassified Bacteroidales	2740503	2362	17988	37.1	92.82	0.25
Bin248	unclassified Clostridiales	2205832	2206	47517	39.1	91.28	0.67
Bin249	unclassified Clostridiales			11517			
B1n249		1931383	1908	9	37.9	95.97	1.34
Bin57	unclassified Bacteroidales	2825891	2291	35700	37.2	95.47	0.13
Bin164	Ruminococcaceae	2700705	2571	61881	37.2	87.76	0
Bin250	unclassified Clostridiales	3131831	3090	89621	39.1	98.39	1.61
Bin353	Succinatimonas	2223481	2031	30915	39.2	87.65	2.39
Bin251	unclassified Clostridiales	1988121	1831	79148	38.3	92.6	1.34
Bin324	Erysipelotrichaceae	2205326	2115	40568	37.5	97.62	0.32
Bin252	unclassified Clostridiales			12467			
Dili232		2481236	2266	4	38.5	92.2	0
Bin20	Coriobacteriaceae			20021			
Dili20		2710304	2436	4	37.9	99.73	1.61
Bin253	unclassified Clostridiales	1592435	1443	79320	38.3	92.64	0.7
Bin136	Clostridium bolteae	3146713	3042	61365	41.3	97.47	0.63
Bin140	Eubacterium	2096058	1852	94653	39.8	96.45	0.95
Bin331	Megasphaera	2689152	2595	43150	38.2	94.31	0.6
Bin346	Sutterella wadsworthensis	2492678	2095	45587	33.9	97.52	1.24
Bin141	Eubacterium	2513023	2362	43094	39.8	94.68	0.63
Bin58	unclassified Bacteroidales	2086887	1704	35843	38.5	97.88	0.86
Bin330	Phascolarctobacterium	2170661	2130	13371	39.5	95.3	1.8
Bin254	unclassified Clostridiales	2482995	2189	25177	40.1	80.76	1.79
Bin255	unclassified Clostridiales	1970220	1878	49057	37.6	95.43	1.34
Bin256	unclassified Clostridiales	3029120	2799	36454	36.9	95.97	2.69
--------	----------------------------	---------	------	-------	------	-------	------
Bin191	Ruminococcus	2119190	2089	42295	37.7	95.99	1.41
Bin165	Ruminococcaceae	2451609	2347	32137	37.3	80.59	4.93
Bin142	Eubacterium	1699470	1770	6671	38.5	76.9	0
Bin257	unclassified Clostridiales	1739302	1714	6327	36.4	73.64	2.24
Bin129	Lactobacillus johnsonii	1907384	1930	28754	35.5	99.03	1.41
Bin258	unclassified Clostridiales	1888926	1812	44278	37.6	84.23	1.44
Bin347	Dechloromonas aromatica	1807772	1626	30276	34.8	89.57	0.47
Bin21	Coriobacteriaceae	1690747	1581	12055	36.2	94.83	3.13
Bin59	unclassified Bacteroidales	1681287	1479	11796	38	77.59	4.62
Bin259	unclassified Clostridiales	2936626	2740	23635	37.6	97.14	3.23
Bin260	unclassified Clostridiales	1293082	1395	8699	37.1	70.8	3.36
Bin204	Subdoligranulum variabile	2645506	2520	49156	36.5	80.25	2.04
Dim20	Destausidas			12265			
Bin30	Bacteroides	5079918	4404	8	39.2	88.84	3.41
Bin128	Lactobacillus delbrueckii	1477589	1451	8687	35.1	82.99	0.32
Bin340	Veillonella	2396989	2376	61398	38.2	99.4	2.45
Bin60	unclassified Bacteroidales	2910260	2518	16209	37.2	94.53	4.8
Bin261	unclassified Clostridiales	1266743	1367	5986	38.4	74.57	0.02
Bin354	Succinatimonas	1787287	1683	32177	37.5	88.79	4.18
Bin61	unclassified Bacteroidales	2457371	1802	18440	36.4	89.68	2.1
Bin166	Ruminococcaceae	2151898	2015	50019	38.1	93.88	0
Bin22	Coriobacteriaceae	1982127	1764	25401	36.3	98.28	3.29
Bin198	Subdoligranulum			11241			
DII198	Subabligranulum	2826653	2643	5	35.6	98.3	0.87
Bin262	unclassified Clostridiales	1839038	1786	45360	37.7	88.95	0
Bin23	Coriobacteriaceae	1680601	1642	10116	39.1	90.5	2.79
Bin14	Mycoplasmatales	1616339	1891	30006	38.1	89.81	3.93
Bin263	unclassified Clostridiales	2291401	2388	7670	37.8	91.38	4.34
Bin264	unclassified Clostridiales	1575513	1469	33174	36.8	72.58	0
Bin265	unclassified Clostridiales	2531601	2366	72378	36.5	96.37	1.08

Bin266	unclassified Clostridiales	1879263	1986	13156	40.1	95.69	3.63
Bin267	unclassified Clostridiales	1622984	1614	21069	39.9	86.29	0
Bin268	unclassified Clostridiales	1668797	1733	8345	37.4	87.04	2.02
Bin167	Ruminococcaceae	2180112	2079	79115	36.1	97.99	0
Bin269	unclassified Clostridiales	1720739	1684	59249	39.5	90.03	0.81
Bin62	unclassified Bacteroidales	2977236	2328	34534	36.4	89.44	0.93
Bin9	Treponema	2110065	1920	22791	37.8	89.34	2.45
Bin63	unclassified Bacteroidales	2446683	1867	10328	37.7	75.72	2.22
Bin64	unclassified Bacteroidales	2267061	1753	52800	35.8	96.89	0
Bin344	Pirellulaceae	2332346	1705	48194	36.1	71.2	0
Bin270	unclassified Clostridiales	1946657	1999	33781	38.3	90.25	1.13
Bin271	unclassified Clostridiales	2061864	2158	65481	38.5	91.95	1.74
Bin65	unclassified Bacteroidales	2504743	1801	23786	37.6	73.58	0
Bin66	unclassified Bacteroidales	1989460	1749	26287	40.8	89.6	0.95
Bin67	unclassified Bacteroidales	1714397	1519	12313	40.8	81.7	4.11
Bin132	Lactobacillus reuteri	1496783	1473	10171	33.6	95.36	0
Bin272	unclassified Clostridiales	2656576	2708	66528	38.1	97.97	0
Bin342	Lentisphaeraceae	2078870	1625	55157	33.6	92.57	2.73
Bin187	Faecalibacterium	2246804	2143	35889	36.9	99.15	0.68
Bin68	unclassified Bacteroidales	2434754	2036	25781	36.5	96.56	2.7
Bin273	unclassified Clostridiales	2389425	2162	50319	38.2	74.73	3.9
Bin69	unclassified Bacteroidales	2322208	1840	29783	36.8	89.78	0.65
Bin274	unclassified Clostridiales	2261105	2150	70628	38.6	94.97	2.35
Bin130	Lactobacillus johnsonii	1293336	1334	42956	35.8	76.27	0
Bin10	Treponema	2569688	2332	81465	37.7	97.2	1.4
Bin275	unclassified Clostridiales	2802272	2803	66055	38	98.32	0.67
Bin70	unclassified Bacteroidales	2901996	2311	13684	37.3	79.43	2.75
Bin168	Ruminococcaceae	2047572	1877	87297	38.2	89.8	0.68
Bin328	Phascolarctobacterium	1465414	1561	7798	37.9	86.03	2.81
Bin143	Eubacterium	1881236	1888	17047	39.5	95.03	2.32

D' 27(10204			
Bin276	unclassified Clostridiales	1969293	1902	8	36.3	92.37	1.34
Bin71	unclassified Bacteroidales	2331089	1906	27233	35.9	94.76	1.09
Bin24	Coriobacteriaceae	2029779	1781	77820	36.4	99.19	3.51
Bin144	Eubacterium	1794056	1645	29179	40.8	95.77	3.55
Bin169	Ruminococcaceae	1697960	1738	5956	38.8	86.24	1.68
D:205				18565			
Bin205	unclassified Clostridiales	2131993	2073	0	38.4	97.99	2.28
Bin277	unclassified Clostridiales	1897894	1922	14722	39.2	81.54	4.7
Bin192	Ruminococcus	2439570	2452	29950	37.3	97.99	4.87
Bin278	unclassified Clostridiales	2338762	2346	11343	36.8	86.35	4.81
Bin72	unclassified Bacteroidales	1514134	1343	15342	40.1	88.6	0.4
Bin73	unclassified Bacteroidales	2682180	2060	27344	38.6	90.64	4.78
Bin279	unclassified Clostridiales	2263384	2034	24333	39.1	95.11	3.36
Bin133	Lactobacillus reuteri	1886628	1840	13296	33.1	95.15	2.08
Bin5	Escherichia coli	4590617	4441	23061	36	97.05	1.21
Bin280	unclassified Clostridiales	1658702	1628	13452	40	92.34	0.34
Bin170	Ruminococcaceae	1700865	1782	5958	39.4	85.57	1.68
Bin332	Megasphaera	2278117	2230	71445	37.8	94.41	0
Bin199	Subdoligranulum			16161			
DIII177	Subuongranaium	2928041	2799	5	35.8	98.64	0
Bin336	Mitsuokella	2228453	2064	66232	34.8	86.45	0.08
Bin74	unclassified Bacteroidales	2484673	1793	20830	37.7	71.93	2.96
Bin75	unclassified Bacteroidales	2283003	1711	16966	37.1	80.96	1.23
Bin76	unclassified Bacteroidales	2650459	2007	25441	37.1	87.5	0.68
Bin281	unclassified Clostridiales	2055966	1969	25266	36.9	90.6	0.67
Bin282	unclassified Clostridiales	1371611	1433	9108	38.9	81.4	0
Bin283	unclassified Clostridiales	1198057	1313	33671	38.1	73.37	0.22
Bin15	Mycoplasmatales	1225896	1305	38939	40.7	94.38	3.37
Bin284	unclassified Clostridiales			13988			
DIII204		2082480	2033	0	36.9	90.77	0.7

Bin285	unclassified Clostridiales	1350016	1440	74085	38.2	74.21	0.89
Bin286	unclassified Clostridiales	1633266	1724	8598	40.4	94.19	2.42
Bin171	Ruminococcaceae	1766373	1743	11378	39.7	88.93	2.68
Bin77	unclassified Bacteroidales	2209579	2033	16917	38	95.86	3.39
Bin172	Ruminococcaceae	2032609	1797	28782	38.3	79.88	0.67
D:297				11903			
Bin287	unclassified Clostridiales	2719853	2651	6	40.2	94.97	1.18
Bin78	unclassified Bacteroidales	2571420	2063	31496	37.9	89.56	3.46
D' 1	Methanobrevibacter						
Bin1	ruminantium	2829865	3006	74937	40.4	99.2	4
Bin288	unclassified Clostridiales	1596527	1530	38000	40	91.16	1.57
Bin289	unclassified Clostridiales	2032812	1954	54383	37.6	84.45	4.7
Bin290	unclassified Clostridiales	2408428	2367	39986	36.4	96.37	1.08
Bin291	unclassified Clostridiales	2301193	2202	44239	38.8	92.06	4.99
Bin292	unclassified Clostridiales	1508701	1520	46168	39.6	79.48	0
Bin79	unclassified Bacteroidales	1728802	1594	6211	40.7	75.19	4.55
Bin80	unclassified Bacteroidales	2228938	1860	30674	35.6	89.31	0.88
Bin293	unclassified Clostridiales			12792			
DIII293	unclassified Closifications	2220870	2170	7	38.3	97.99	0.84
Bin173	Ruminococcaceae	2753304	2574	20210	36.3	97.24	2.49
Bin174	Ruminococcaceae	2061437	1890	77005	39.5	97.05	0
Bin81	unclassified Bacteroidales	2644581	2267	11473	37.4	79.5	1.67
Bin82	unclassified Bacteroidales	2235881	1746	28470	35.9	94.61	1.49
Bin83	unclassified Bacteroidales	2173770	2099	9379	41.1	84.52	4.04
Bin145	Eubacterium	2021707	1983	15731	39	92.17	0.22
Bin25	Coriobacteriaceae	1217896	1272	5679	38.3	74.84	2.42
Bin84	unclassified Bacteroidales	2661534	2182	34087	36.5	91.12	3.21
Bin85	unclassified Bacteroidales	2290494	1976	11344	37.2	80.6	1.07
Bin86	unclassified Bacteroidales	2515548	2157	55863	35	86.54	0.69
Bin175	Ruminococcaceae	1372327	1374	42269	38.6	73.94	0.34
Bin87	unclassified Bacteroidales	2639495	2368	15850	38.6	88.29	0.19

Bin176	Ruminococcaceae	2518734	2617	24385	39.7	91.87	1.48
Bin88	unclassified Bacteroidales	1540644	1411	24417	40.4	75.37	0.48
Bin89	unclassified Bacteroidales	1656522	1426	15993	39.1	71.6	0
Bin90	unclassified Bacteroidales	2130712	1764	17352	36.3	74.18	1.67
Bin200	Subdoligranulum	2001516	1874	15682	35.6	92.78	2.61
Bin294	unclassified Clostridiales	1755699	1699	19784	39.9	90.53	1.36
Bin91	unclassified Bacteroidales	2996947	3051	27733	38.7	81.57	3.67
Bin92	unclassified Bacteroidales	2210670	2088	6682	37.3	83.34	1.13
Bin93	unclassified Bacteroidales	3309932	2960	19987	37.6	94.85	2.1
Bin94	unclassified Bacteroidales	1998319	1785	5581	36.4	73.15	2.94
Bin95	unclassified Bacteroidales	2896936	2689	34827	39.1	94.49	4.15
Bin295	unclassified Clostridiales	1747512	1751	93699	40.4	90.94	0.84
Bin96	unclassified Bacteroidales	1972060	1660	54107	41.5	85.56	1.54
Bin337	Mitsuokella	2227532	2060	20606	39.2	96.54	2.53
Bin360	Unclassidied TM7	2269311	1996	14377	37.4	74.36	3.08
Bin97	unclassified Bacteroidales	1824678	1592	12148	38.2	91.78	3.92
Bin296	unclassified Clostridiales	1734705	1714	41258	37.1	90.27	0.5
Bin125	Lactobacillus amylovorus	2092575	2282	17389	35.4	96.56	2.19
Bin134	Lactobacillus reuteri	1837333	1898	21850	34.4	95.99	0.55
Bin98	unclassified Bacteroidales	1854803	1591	17914	40.6	80.19	0.24
Bin195	Ruminococcus flavefaciens	2924649	2704	29607	38.7	90.94	0.06
Bin351	Myxococcales	3174537	2385	20315	36.7	76.65	1.77
Bin297	unclassified Clostridiales	1894814	1864	56400	38.8	90.81	0.34
Bin298	unclassified Clostridiales	1754008	1780	22966	36.1	82.66	0.22
Bin131	Lactobacillus johnsonii	2354155	2481	22259	36.1	97.77	3.54
Bin177	Ruminococcaceae	2189092	2103	47065	39.3	97.27	0
Bin99	unclassified Bacteroidales	2248797	1866	34014	40.6	93.65	0.21
Bin329	Phascolarctobacterium	1335061	1402	6254	37.9	74.09	2.84
Bin100	unclassified Bacteroidales	1996743	1652	7938	35.4	76.95	3.04
Bin178	Ruminococcaceae	2132237	2012	59826	36.3	97.99	0
Bin101	unclassified Bacteroidales	2086320	1717	19705	36.1	70.02	1.85

Bin152	Lachnospiraceae	2294616	2307	16503	39	87.87	4.35
Bin352	Succinivibrionaceae	2691173	2290	21390	39.9	94.49	2.11
Bin299	unclassified Clostridiales	2379421	2445	11275	36.9	90.25	3.02
Bin102	unclassified Bacteroidales	2131512	1807	16617	35.7	84.68	4.41
Bin148	Lachnospiraceae	2241106	1906	73454	36.5	96.38	0
Bin103	unclassified Bacteroidales	1875526	1663	5248	36.7	77.5	2.67
Bin26	Coriobacteriaceae	2012174	1990	8524	36.8	87.12	3.84
Bin300	unclassified Clostridiales	1446482	1501	8285	37	70.38	1.34
Bin135	Clostridiaceae	2321535	2307	15848	39.7	91.85	4.43
Bin27	Coriobacteriaceae	1859870	1738	20475	37.5	94.76	0.44
Bin301	unclassified Clostridiales	2620908	2503	8128	35.9	86.75	3.85
Bin302	unclassified Clostridiales	1762539	1742	46932	40.1	90.92	2.68
Bin104	unclassified Bacteroidales	2043352	1734	17974	39.5	81.95	1.35
Bin105	unclassified Bacteroidales	2115922	1845	18073	34.8	86.51	1.28
Bin106	unclassified Bacteroidales	3360894	2818	45863	39.6	91.95	1.3
Bin179	Ruminococcaceae	1733732	1623	35547	38.6	87.7	0
Bin303	unclassified Clostridiales	1522075	1530	9711	36.9	71.1	3.91
Bin304	unclassified Clostridiales	2277679	2081	68008	37.8	96.61	0
Bin6	Escherichia coli	4378339	4166	56008	36.2	98.1	0.51
Bin305	unclassified Clostridiales	1556708	1484	22206	39.6	87.88	0.81
Bin107	unclassified Bacteroidales	2422660	1843	17841	37.2	86.9	2.04
Bin338	Mitsuokella	2584130	2609	29763	38	83.51	1.83
Bin108	unclassified Bacteroidales	2212806	1742	8802	36.5	84.39	2.92
Bin306	unclassified Clostridiales	1931836	1760	14049	36.8	91.89	1.8
Bin153	Lachnospiraceae	2396817	2496	19514	38.9	91.24	2.86
Bin307	unclassified Clostridiales	2977250	2889	38767	38.5	97.55	4.36
Bin109	unclassified Bacteroidales	2039448	1844	20369	40.8	82.77	1.67
Bin126	Lactobacillus amylovorus	1872704	2024	21308	35.9	93.1	3.63
Bin11	Treponema	3713748	3443	23790	37.8	92.83	4.46
Bin180	Ruminococcaceae	1184430	1215	14014	38.3	72.62	3.8
Bin181	Ruminococcaceae	1370630	1410	6479	39.7	73.17	1.51

Bin127	Lactobacillus amylovorus	2305390	2673	7851	35.5	71.87	4.85
Bin308	unclassified Clostridiales	2776932	2584	9135	37.7	80.16	3.76
Bin309	unclassified Clostridiales	1485439	1472	53265	39.1	71.14	0.67
Bin110	unclassified Bacteroidales	2318070	1921	34010	34.4	93.21	0.75
Bin339	Mitsuokella multacida	2280648	2057	73000	36.8	99.07	0.23
Bin16	Mycoplasmatales	1360808	1457	85127	39.7	89.16	2.81
Bin111	unclassified Bacteroidales	1831141	1544	14930	36.7	90.49	0.81
Bin112	unclassified Bacteroidales	2036153	1766	18811	37.9	74.03	1.79
Bin310	unclassified Clostridiales	1569787	1638	15266	37.2	88.96	4.88
Bin311	unclassified Clostridiales	1403937	1349	9202	38.4	72.66	2.01
Bin188	Faecalibacterium	1692888	1597	25270	37	86.52	2.63
Bin350	Desulfovibrio piger	2137733	1868	21919	38.7	88.94	0.59
Bin7	Escherichia coli	3690123	3667	9802	36.1	81.73	0.75
Bin312	unclassified Clostridiales	1431094	1344	19208	36.5	70.94	4.36
Bin113	unclassified Bacteroidales	1797376	1739	5314	41.2	73.41	4.48
Bin333	Megasphaera	2626568	2595	52653	37.9	96.31	0.81
Bin313	unclassified Clostridiales	1985734	2068	45508	38.6	89.85	2.85
Bin189	Faecalibacterium	2148852	2039	32749	36.9	97.49	2.35
Bin314	unclassified Clostridiales	2648966	2871	19098	37.3	96.31	0.67
Bin201	Subdoligranulum	1964712	1779	58535	35.7	95.15	0
Bin114	unclassified Bacteroidales	1783367	1600	10225	40.6	77.19	2.14
Bin182	Ruminococcaceae	1826106	1887	13823	39.4	90.02	2.68
Bin315	unclassified Clostridiales	1658327	1638	17084	37.3	80.33	4.92
Bin146	Eubacterium	2527670	2706	6884	38.7	83.24	3.24
Bin115	unclassified Bacteroidales	2210555	1714	22129	37.1	75.05	4.26
Bin316	unclassified Clostridiales	1446827	1562	7106	40.1	88.72	0.81
Bin317	unclassified Clostridiales	1811894	1782	6272	36.9	87.38	2.24
Bin116	unclassified Bacteroidales	2337932	2206	19912	36.3	92.21	4.3
Bin117	unclassified Bacteroidales	2190512	2047	18531	41.5	82.96	3.31
Bin118	unclassified Bacteroidales	1923735	1995	7304	40.7	79	4.31
Bin183	Ruminococcaceae	1406707	1453	21106	38.5	74.61	2.01

Bin334	Megasphaera	2241385	2084	49478	38	98.3	0.06
Bin184	Ruminococcaceae	2048608	1914	79805	36.6	91.95	0.67
Bin343	Lentisphaeraceae	2004189	1701	23419	37.5	86.55	1.35
Bin119	unclassified Bacteroidales	1964288	1745	14945	41.7	86.29	2.57
Bin318	unclassified Clostridiales	2153926	2062	61047	38.6	96.98	1.12
Bin319	unclassified Clostridiales	1343990	1432	6359	38.3	84.02	2.8
Bin320	unclassified Clostridiales	1796414	1906	14183	36.1	89.71	0.34
Bin120	unclassified Bacteroidales	2333386	1866	24877	37	87.22	3.43
Bin121	unclassified Bacteroidales	2067332	1911	31884	38.1	94.34	1.08
Bin190	Faecalibacterium	1941345	1912	26562	36.9	95.58	4.55
Bin185	Ruminococcaceae	2281111	2023	17389	36.2	96.71	0
Bin335	Megasphaera	2010916	1896	31707	38	96.77	0.12
Bin321	unclassified Clostridiales	2124251	2120	12928	36.9	87.76	4.42
Bin322	unclassified Clostridiales	1645263	1730	7880	39.2	76.17	1.98
Bin28	Coriobacteriaceae	1696648	1711	6161	36.5	72.53	4.49
Bin325	Erysipelotrichaceae	2212377	2170	35697	38	89.52	3.17
Bin17	Mycoplasmatales	1819014	2104	47690	40	91.29	3.68
Bin323	unclassified Clostridiales	1311736	1539	6551	37.4	73.97	0.67
Bin122	unclassified Bacteroidales	2259638	1814	20780	36.1	95.46	1.35
Bin202	Subdoligranulum	1999819	1919	10853	35.4	86.37	2.04
Bin123	unclassified Bacteroidales	2100023	1942	8678	40.5	77.07	3.61
Bin124	unclassified Bacteroidales	1873840	1589	6907	36.3	70.96	4.28
Bin361		1310798	1491	6067	36.3	69.22	2.46
Bin362		2973976	3198	11671	37.9	69.08	9.92
Bin363		2468156	1917	14979	37.6	68.92	0.37
Bin364		2233528	2166	8986	38.9	68.9	5.64
				13548			
Bin365		1603743	1515	8	37.3	68.6	0
Bin366		1129220	1317	8837	39.5	68.46	2.25
Bin367		2562344	2478	29474	38.2	68.28	2.15
Bin368		1854379	1923	4949	39.1	68.23	5.14

Bin369	2167306	1648	20958	40.5	68.1	0
Bin370	1694210	1815	13649	40.3	67.94	8.95
Bin371	1503394	1597	4467	38.5	67.93	9.55
Bin372	2002013	1867	5452	35.2	67.82	4.14
Bin373	2021820	1856	6342	39.3	67.72	6.54
Bin374	1791261	1951	5299	38.8	67.65	5.48
Bin375	1365044	1532	4677	40.2	67.52	7.27
Bin376	1934432	1818	5647	36.9	67.5	2.83
Bin377	1153419	1198	4548	39.4	67.48	1.96
Bin378	1334982	1358	6963	38.5	67.4	3.02
Bin379	2408349	2434	6818	38.9	67.24	6.9
Bin380	1254731	1319	4818	39.7	67.21	2.24
Bin381	1102516	1163	5485	38.5	67.01	3.37
Bin382	1212776	1346	3911	39.7	66.78	5.43
Bin383	1856568	1620	10874	37.2	66.51	2.71
Bin384	1642157	1714	3888	40.7	66.45	6.38
Bin385	1535590	1609	6355	37.8	66.38	1.72
Bin386	2398121	1952	14140	36.6	66	3.83
Bin387	1506353	1587	11286	39.6	65.88	0
Bin388	2440555	2614	3811	39	65.86	6.88
Bin389	1659016	1442	36082	37	65.66	2.01
Bin390	1511610	1660	5072	36.8	65.07	5.12
Bin391	1965207	1772	39194	39.5	65	0.31
Bin392	1232678	1261	20585	39.3	64.89	1.61
Bin393	2139668	1804	10600	37.3	64.66	0
Bin394	2172764	1664	27278	35.3	64.66	0
Bin395	1056935	1081	4378	39	64.48	0
Bin396	1044913	1046	5361	39.4	64.43	4.15
Bin397	1120639	1149	5002	39	63.81	0.87
Bin398	1524997	1461	74311	40.1	63.76	1.51
Bin399	1315030	1456	4306	38	63.6	5.27

Bin400	1252940	1425	4289	40	63.53	8.9
Bin401	2030149	1934	28568	39.2	63.5	7.52
Bin402	2285915	2649	4969	38.2	63.44	7.27
			83645			
Bin403	1063973	1091	4	34.9	63.25	0.85
Bin404	1302128	1449	7144	34.7	63.22	8.83
Bin405	1193006	1216	5177	38.7	63.21	0.16
Bin406	1357436	1402	6822	36.7	63.11	5.09
Bin407	1107204	1206	3296	38.2	63.07	5.78
Bin408	1336841	1361	7767	39.5	63.05	2.42
Bin409	1306560	1345	8121	39.6	62.74	3.02
Bin410	1410508	1508	5069	38	62.6	0
Bin411	2039121	1502	37377	36	62.41	0.37
Bin412	1428703	1406	5019	36.5	62.36	2.95
Bin413	1857618	2022	8047	39.5	62.07	6.9
Bin414	3195805	3548	17061	37.2	62.03	8.98
Bin415	2077190	1553	9600	37.8	61.92	0.19
Bin416	1749183	1859	13581	40.1	61.89	3.02
Bin417	1459340	1610	6369	37.3	61.51	0.67
Bin418	1703018	1854	25477	37.3	61.3	8.35
Bin419	1267823	1405	3491	39.3	60.84	4.5
Bin420	2144216	2460	3585	38.5	60.8	5.24
Bin421	1519910	1514	69773	36.8	60.74	9.4
Bin422	1525945	1310	7972	37	60.65	2
Bin423	1967855	1657	4061	37.7	60.46	8.87
Bin424	1223863	1515	5767	40	60.29	7.72
Bin425	1656526	1734	7527	36.7	60.06	3.45
Bin426	2277586	2402	8574	40.5	60.05	3.55
Bin427	981984	1066	4128	38.4	60.05	0.37
Bin428	1288927	1406	4986	37.6	59.99	0.81
Bin429	1843394	1622	13816	36.8	59.84	0.38

Bin430	1130162	1237	7522	38.9	59.74	1.68
Bin431	1909114	1968	3645	40.7	59.71	8.65
Bin432	1272744	1229	7493	40.5	59.67	1.9
Bin433	1808196	1674	4909	39.2	59.38	6.09
Bin434	1123184	1154	5452	38.4	59.32	3.19
Bin435	1830656	1883	12955	36.8	58.93	6.25
Bin436	2043955	1660	16959	36.5	58.71	4.83
Bin437	2064895	1928	16798	39.1	58.62	0
Bin438	1304382	1359	8412	37	58.62	0
Bin439	1122848	1199	4205	40.3	58.57	0.4
Bin440	1447039	1424	9281	34.8	58.18	1.13
Bin441	2223136	1955	17178	38.2	58.02	4.25
Bin442	1293223	1438	3945	37.8	57.96	5.11
Bin443	1090948	1229	3835	40.4	57.89	5.26
Bin444	1200336	1262	5428	35.8	57.78	1.34
Bin445	2722530	2478	7284	38.5	57.76	1.72
Bin446	893826	903	14221	38	57.76	6.11
Bin447	1909199	1522	6579	36.9	57.68	8.54
Bin448	1316469	1514	4241	40.8	57.47	5.17
Bin449	2035486	1811	12610	37.7	57.36	7.59
Bin450	2092590	1928	8112	37.5	57.24	5.17
Bin451	1682184	1750	6544	40.4	57.06	4.71
Bin452	2365437	2292	5550	38.9	56.99	2
Bin453	1157956	1262	3910	37.5	56.61	0.81
Bin454	1095620	1119	3432	35.9	56.54	2.96
Bin455	1627873	1919	5148	38.8	56.53	1.59
Bin456	1072942	1190	4897	39.7	56.33	1.43
Bin457	744099	764	92760	34.8	55.74	3.7
Bin458	999476	1026	16143	40	55.65	0.7
Bin459	824290	917	27926	34.8	55.56	1.28
Bin460	961899	1030	11126	38.4	55.52	0

Bin461	1744531	1932	5603	36.5	55.45	8
Bin462	1577161	1363	4639	38.9	55.29	3.62
Bin463	1471716	1336	32785	39.6	54.83	2.01
Bin464	1044685	1110	5323	38.9	54.66	1.72
Bin465	1430451	1550	3388	39.9	54.58	9.11
Bin466	1664482	1854	4840	38.9	54.39	3.51
Bin467	2396819	2601	6838	36.9	54.37	9.28
Bin468	956092	997	3877	38.7	54.21	0.48
Bin469	1151845	1018	18326	36	54.16	0
Bin470	1353123	1450	6502	40.2	54.02	5.17
Bin471	1365045	1425	4217	36.6	54	3.77
Bin472	842914	883	6381	40.2	53.99	2.24
Bin473	1592989	1657	3434	40.6	53.87	5.34
Bin474	1464852	1649	6949	39.8	53.79	6.9
Bin475	1166255	1352	4345	39	53.68	7.48
Bin476	1110080	1169	3864	38.5	53.64	4.64
Bin477	1015727	1000	11865	37.7	53.61	9.48
Bin478	1364517	1394	40544	37	53.5	1.68
Bin479	2036698	1468	16371	37.6	53.45	0
Bin480	1075416	1293	4199	38.1	53.19	2.06
Bin481	1145424	1310	3767	37.9	52.9	5.17
Bin482	1408638	1398	5317	36.9	52.71	5.26
Bin483	953388	955	70335	40.6	52.66	0
Bin484	1606183	1547	3686	35.4	52.58	4.26
Bin485	1845347	1502	6534	37.7	52.35	0
Bin486	1839645	1864	4762	37.7	51.72	3.45
Bin487	999395	1130	4498	39.3	51.72	1.72
Bin488	1854460	1688	7261	39.2	51.65	0.86
Bin489	1476623	1456	3224	36.6	51.23	6.02
Bin490	2003427	2397	3148	38.7	51.22	7.86
Bin491	1686034	1759	4743	39	51.03	1.51

Bin492	1108364	1316	3442	39.1	51.01	3.6
Bin493	1017259	1054	12793	38.4	51.01	3.69
Bin494	1139929	1254	13351	37.3	50.99	4.7
Bin495	2194692	2423	3257	38.9	50.92	8.39
Bin496	1173324	1218	5158	38.2	50.17	1.72
Bin497	1866523	2090	3858	35.8	50.16	7.14
Bin498	1126168	1359	3610	38.5	50.03	0.84
Bin499	3277796	2985	32767	38	99.14	5.02
Bin500	1966701	1981	9973	38.3	85.7	5.02
Bin501	2240957	2115	12341	39.8	76.72	5.02
Bin502	1793018	1764	27158	39.2	77.56	5.15
Bin503	1976925	1801	7832	36.9	75.22	5.16
Bin504	1878262	1807	10672	36.3	98.28	5.17
Bin505	1426083	1421	8193	33.2	70.69	5.17
Bin506	2662936	2432	85913	38.8	92.34	5.2
Bin507	2139673	2220	9920	38.8	79.86	5.21
Bin508	1637023	1743	4711	37.3	79.79	5.24
Bin509	2372517	1857	16259	36.4	76.5	5.25
Bin510	2598569	2210	54716	36.6	94.83	5.33
Bin511	1824212	1881	12493	38.9	87.19	5.37
Bin512	2136769	1883	52688	35.6	88.64	5.49
Bin513	2459858	2223	61970	37.1	97.58	5.5
Bin514	1918557	1827	4882	37.1	70.86	5.53
Bin515	1983956	1854	11355	38.1	92.92	5.54
Bin516	2411490	2409	14271	37	91.44	5.59
Bin517	1152004	1307	9552	38.6	75.87	5.62
Bin518	2291540	1748	63204	37.2	71.22	5.66
Bin519	2573945	2477	99043	36.9	100	5.68
Bin520	2466033	2084	10316	36.6	85.85	5.72
Bin521	2241228	2136	25545	37.7	94.46	5.74
Bin522	1741172	1637	19547	40.3	87.7	5.76

Bin523	3589326	3446	54690	38.5	96.86	5.77
Bin524	1740354	1747	15838	36.8	75.62	5.81
Bin525	2571745	2634	10356	37.8	89.28	5.83
Bin526	2200911	2154	14936	37	94.95	5.88
Bin527	1966188	1917	7969	38.1	81.17	5.91
Bin528	1799007	1749	16035	36.8	73.23	5.91
Bin529	2332343	2481	14957	37.4	87.27	5.98
Bin530	1378029	1432	7085	39.5	78.13	5.99
Bin531	1600341	1603	4978	39	71.3	6.03
Bin532	4164407	4078	81930	38	97.99	6.04
Bin533	1343577	1506	6698	37	74.13	6.04
Bin534	1238049	1302	57401	38.4	92.13	6.18
Bin535	1717864	1820	9895	40.1	98.19	6.26
Bin536	1960524	1855	16968	35.4	92.03	6.46
Bin537	1751733	1780	13736	36.9	91.72	6.54
Bin538	4104711	4144	61491	38.4	98.55	6.57
Bin539	1878582	1836	30545	39.7	79.98	6.6
Bin540	2185120	2110	42883	38.6	95.34	6.61
Bin541	1929332	1942	6011	36.9	84.82	6.62
Bin542	1520479	1576	41939	40.2	84.83	6.63
Bin543	3287706	3151	16655	38.7	94.13	6.66
Bin544	3054476	3236	13676	35.6	90.73	6.72
Bin545	2717093	2490	9993	35.8	93.01	6.76
Bin546	1776760	1937	11635	38.9	80.98	6.83
Bin547	1942522	2176	9039	39	78.61	6.94
Bin548	1706268	1800	10885	38.2	79.25	6.96
Bin549	1764100	1855	4871	37	76.71	7.03
Bin550	1954045	1846	62478	39.5	90.23	7.05
Bin551	1545271	1691	5163	40	77.74	7.05
Bin552	1937801	1941	16548	36.6	91.61	7.13
Bin553	1955867	1803	7391	40.7	74.36	7.14

Bin554	2106644	1950	28768	36.9	94.74	7.18
Bin555	3258633	2713	63761	37.5	99.02	7.24
Bin556	2299186	2301	9415	40.4	83.44	7.27
Bin557	4074606	4164	27117	41.1	87.97	7.34
Bin558	1570448	1724	7931	40.3	98.28	7.37
Bin559	2155938	2049	7414	41	85.64	7.57
Bin560	1759147	1611	11959	40.6	84.43	7.59
Bin561	2177353	2360	5738	39.6	75.56	7.65
Bin562	1839667	1827	8586	38.1	87.15	7.66
Bin563	2490848	2247	22329	36.8	89.66	7.68
Bin564	3321712	2936	9454	37.4	89.72	7.69
Bin565	1362611	1281	16653	40.7	95.51	7.72
Bin566	2530947	2023	44585	34.3	93.1	7.84
Bin567	2550816	2698	19736	38.8	86.77	7.88
Bin568	1809625	1993	10322	39.3	82.62	7.9
Bin569	1702724	2116	4591	38.8	76.16	8.04
Bin570	2376943	2332	60127	39.3	97.32	8.22
Bin571	3694456	3203	49266	37.2	95.66	8.33
Bin572	2130877	2048	4929	40.1	73.07	8.35
Bin573	2198409	2063	45884	37	92.66	8.45
Bin574	2185721	1714	20828	35.5	89.76	8.49
Bin575	2341095	2108	10185	40.5	88.79	8.57
Bin576	3237146	3196	28485	39.1	80.76	8.63
Bin577	2816250	2525	11911	36.8	92.83	8.65
Bin578	1715919	1822	7148	36.8	71.46	8.67
Bin579	3354197	3573	19203	40.3	93.57	8.89
Bin580	1952089	1881	4954	40.5	73.81	8.93
Bin581	2952581	2721	21077	38.5	94.75	8.96
Bin582	2439996	2562	15432	37.7	91.72	9.06
Bin583	2534311	2460	59550	38.8	94.97	9.08
Bin584	2544605	2377	17895	39.7	88.62	9.16

Bin585	2739071	2851	30885	39.6	99.11	9.37
Bin586	2386437	2244	8616	40.6	86.97	9.38
Bin587	2051823	1759	7224	35.2	73.09	9.38
Bin588	3682531	4100	15862	37.9	89.07	9.4
Bin589	1826271	1831	17189	37.9	79.31	9.4
Bin590	2153349	2084	52811	37.9	83.05	9.53
Bin591	2624229	2313	21667	36	94.88	9.59
Bin592	2189278	1994	12534	36.8	92.66	9.63
Bin593	2040605	1931	8579	35.9	92.21	9.68
Bin594	2077685	2073	32982	37.9	92.89	9.73
Bin595	4004257	3782	43413	38.6	96.19	9.92
Bin596	2310127	2396	13485	37.5	91.11	9.98

Name	Protein	UniProt accession #	Reference
Amy1_Bat	Beta/alpha-amylase	A0A2N0UIC8	[355]
Amy4_Bat	Alpha-amylase	A0A2N0UX89	[355]
Amy12_Fp	Pullulanase	A0A2N0UU23	[355]
GlgB_Fic	1,4-alpha-glucan branching enzyme GlgB	P30539	[342]
susG_Bt	Neopullulanase SusG	Q8A1G3	[356]
susA_Bat	Neopullulanase SusA	Q8A1G0	[356]
susB_Bat	Glucan 1,4-alpha-glucosidase SusB	G8JZS4	[356]
<i>BT_3082_Bat</i>	2,6-beta-D-fructofuranosidase	Q8A373	[321]
BT_1765_Bat	Levanase (2,6-beta-D- fructofuranosidase)	Q8A6W1	[321]
<i>BT_1760_Bat</i>	Glycoside hydrolase family 32	Q8A6W6	[321]
BT_1754_Bat	Two-component system sensor histidine kinase/response regulator	Q8A6X1	[321]
inuJ_Lb	Inulosucrase	Q74K42	[357]
sacA_Fic	Sucrose-6-phosphate hydrolase	A0A173R035	[316]
scrB_Lb	β-fructofuranosidase	D0R647	[358]
LacA_Lb	Beta-galactosidase LacA	C6H178	[359]
BbgI_Fic	Beta-galactosidase BbgII	D4QFE6	[360]
BbgIII_Fic	Beta-galactosidase BbgIII	A4K5H9	[360]
BbgIV_Fic	Beta-galactosidase BbgIV	D4QFE8	[360]
LacM Lb	Beta-galactosidase LacM	Q02604	[361]

Table S6.4. Accession number and reference to the biochemical characterization of enzymes

BLAST for starch, fructan and lactose degradation

Figure S6.2. Relative abundance (%) of *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* of suckling pigs (day 0) and weaned pigs (day 7 and day 14) determined by Illumina sequencing of 16S tags. Data with unlike letters are significantly different (P < 0.05).



Chapter 7 Biochemical characterization of *glgB* gene cloned from swine intestinal bacteria

7.1. Introduction

Glucan-branching enzyme (EC:2.4.1.18) catalyzes the cleavage of α -(1 \rightarrow 4)-glucan chain and transfer to generate α -(1 \rightarrow 6)- glycosidic bonds which is common found in nature [362,363]. Among prokaryotes, two distinct types of glucan-branching enzyme (GH13 and GH57) [364,365] are identified with extremely diverse distribution within and between different phyla [364]. The spectrum of branching enzymes in gut microbiome also differentiates between hosts, among which pigs and human share the most similarity in branching enzyme profile [366].

In a previous study on metagenomic reconstructions of swine gut microbial metabolism [267] (Chapter 4), *Firmicutes* and *Bacteriodetes* harbored distinct starch-utilization system. *Firmicutes* dominated in extracellular glycosidases while *Bacteriodetes* possessed all the periplasmic amylolytic enzymes. This uneven distribution of glycosidases in the two dominant phyla of swine gut microbiota suggested a high level of metabolic cooperativity in starch utilization between these microorganisms. Glucan-branching enzyme *glgB* was the most abundant extracellular glycosidases found in *Firmicutes*, which highlighted its importance in primary degradation of starch in swine intestine. This enzyme converts unbranched substrates into highly branched structures and increased their accessibility to glycosidases and solubility [367]. However, these findings were concluded from metagenomic-assembled genomic sequence analysis, the precise elucidation of its role in starch utilization still requires biochemical validation.

In addition, the capacity of producing α -(1 \rightarrow 6)- glucan also makes *glgB* highly useful in developing functional food and improving food quality. One example is adding α -(1 \rightarrow 6)-linkages to maltodextrin to produce highly-branched dietary fiber, which is more resistant to intestinal

digestion and slowed to release glucose [368,369]. Addition of branching enzyme in wheat bread resulted in an increased bread volume and decreased crumb firmness [370]. Branching enzyme treatment also could retard retrogradation of corn starch, corresponding to a slowed hardness increase and taste declination of corn-starch-based food during storage [371].

The aim of this study is to verify the predicted enzymatic activity of *glgB* in formation of α -(1 \rightarrow 6)bonds. Two *glgB* gene variants encoding α -(1 \rightarrow 4)-glucan branching enzyme were transferred from swine intestinal bacteria to *E. coli*. Confirming enzymatic activity will improve the elucidation of metabolic cooperativity between *Firmicutes* and *Bacteriodetes* in starch utilization in swine intestine and promote potential applications of *glgB* in food industry.

7.2. Materials and methods

7.2.1. Bacteria, plasmid and growth condition

E. coli BL21 Star (DE3) (Invitrogen) with pET-28b+ (Novagen, Etobicoke, ON, Canada) was cultivated in Luria-Bertani (LB) broth containing 0.05 g/L kanamycin and aerobically incubated at 37 °C.

7.2.2. Prediction and validation of glgB gene sequences from swine intestinal bacteria

Two protein sequences with an amino acid identity of $\geq 40\%$ against $\alpha - (1 \rightarrow 4)$ -glucan branchingenzyme glgB (EC:2.4.1.18) of *Butyrivibrio fibrisolvens* [342] were selected from metagenomicassembled proteomes of swine intestinal bacteria. Corresponding nucleotides sequences are listed in table S7.1. To validate these sequences, specific amplification of B342 and B344 was performed with high-fidelity Tag DNA polymerase (PlatinumTM *Taq* DNA Polymerase High Fidelity, Invitrogen) from swine-feces isolated DNA mixture. SacI / SalI restriction enzyme cutting sites were also inserted for further analysis by PCR amplification with primers as following: B34F-SacI (5'-3'): GCTGAGCTCATGACAACTGTAGAAAAGAAA; B34R-SalI (5'-3'): GAAGTCGACGAATTCAAATACCGCAACG.

PCR products were cleaned and then preliminary checked by 1% agarose gel (1941 bps, Figure 7.1, left).





7.2.3. Branching enzyme glgB gene cloning and protein purification

Purified PCR amplicons and pET-28b+ vector was digested by SacI / SalI restriction enzymes and then ligated into recombinant plasmids following SacI / SalI digestion protocol (Figure 7.2, right). The recombinant plasmids were transferred into *E. coli* BL21 Star (DE3) chemically competent cells (Invitrogen, USA) for protein expression under the guidelines of One Shot BL21 (DE3) Competent cell Manual (Invitrogen, MAN0000662). Overexpression of *glgB* in *E. coli* was induced by 0.1 M Isopropyl β -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG).

After overnight growth, recombinant plasmid DNAs were isolated and then sequenced with T7 primer 5'- TAATACGACTCACTATAGGG -3' (University of Alberta, Faculty of Science, Canada). GlgB proteins were purified from colonies cloned with correct *glgB* gene using HisPur[™] Ni-NTA Resin (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, England) and validated by Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) (Figure 7.2, right). Protein concentration was measured by Bio-Rad protein assay dye reagent (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, Canada) by using bovine serum albumin as the standard.

Figure 7.2. SDS-PAGE analysis of BL21 Star[™] (DE3) expressed protein encoded by B342 and B344. Lanes: 1-2, cell extract of B342 and B344; 2, ladder; 3-4, the 1st elution of B342 and B344; 5-6, the 1st flow through of B342 and B344; 7-8, the 2nd flow through of B342 and B344.



7.2.4. Biochemical characterization of branching enzyme glgB gene clone

Branching activity of purified *glgB* from clone B342 and B344 against α - (1→4)-glucan were determined by the reduction of iodine-binding amylose in raw / heated (85 °C, 10 min) potato amylose (purity > 98%, Megazyme, Ireland) after 4h digestion (pH 7.4) as previously described [342]. A standard curve was generated from various concentration of heated amylose ranging from 0 to 100 mg /L. The quantitative detection of iodine-binding amylose was conducted based on the liner correlation between iodine-binding amylose content and the corresponding absorption of amylose-iodine complex at λ _{620nm}.

7.2.5. Statistical analysis

Differences of *glgB* branching enzyme activity on raw / heated amylose between *E. coli* with or without *glgB* cloned, or variations between eluted proteins and washing flow-through were compared by one-way ANOVA in R (version 3.4.3). Results are presented as means \pm standard deviation. Comparisons with *P* values < 0.05 were considered significant different.

7.3. Results

7.3.1. Cloning glgB gene from swine intestinal bacteria in E. coli

Initially, the existence of *glgB* gene were predicted based on annotation of metagenomicassembled genomes of swine intestinal *Firmicutes* bacteria. Although it was still hard to identify which microorganisms harbored this enzyme, their sequences were verified by specific PCR amplification and sequencing (TableS7.1, Figure7.1). To validate the prediction of branching activity against α - (1 \rightarrow 4)-glucan, *glgB* was cloned in *E. coli* and induced over expression. Clone B342 and B344 expressed branching-enzyme *glgB*, which was successfully purified and verified by SDS-PAGE (Figure7.2)

7.3.2. Quantitative determination of amylose by measuring absorption of amylose-iodinecomplex

To establish quantitative detection of iodine-binding amylose, a standard curve was generated from various amylose amounts reflecting the linear relationship between iodine-binding amylose content and absorption of amylose-iodine-complex (Figure7.3). Raw potato amylose is partially soluble which requires heat treatment at 80 °C in water for 10 min to obtain uniform gelatinized solution [372]. Iodine-binding amylose detected the partial solubility of raw potato amylose approximately accounted for 34% of the total mass in this study (data no show), which could serve as the initial content of iodine-binding amylose in raw potato amylose [372].

Figure 7.3. Standard curve for branching enzyme activity determination based on the decrease in absorption of amylose-iodine complex





Reductions of iodine-binding amylose between adding protein elution and washing flow-through was compared to verify that the retained enzyme activity of glgB after Ni-NTA spin column-based purification process. Compared to no protein negative control, purified protein significantly reduced the content of iodine-binding amylose detected in potato amylose while no significant difference detected in flow-through treated group after 4 h incubation (p < 0.05, data no shown). Meanwhile, adding cell lysate also significantly decreased the level of iodine-binding amylose in potato amylose (p < 0.05). No significant difference was observed between cell lysate and purified protein confirmed the retained enzyme activity of glgB (Table7.3, Figure7.4).

Table 7.1. Concentration of iodine-binding amylose in raw or heated potato amylose after digestion of clone B342 and B344 expressed protein. Data in the same column with different letter indicated significant difference (P < 0.05)

Additives	Heated potato amylose (mg / L)	Raw potato amylose (mg / L)
Negative control	$187.04 \pm 10.36 \text{ A}$	$43.03 \pm 1.10A$
Cell lysate		
B342	$- 6.29 \pm 0.66 \text{ B}$	$-10.35 \pm 1.95 \text{ B}$
B344	$-4.45 \pm 0.94 \text{ B}$	$-13.13 \pm 3.49 \text{ B}$
Purified Protein		
B342	-6.68 ± 0.55 B	$4.63 \pm 4.61 \text{ B}$
B344	- 2.76 ± 1.25 B	$0.76\pm3.43~\mathrm{B}$

7.3.4. Biochemical characterisation of α - (1 \rightarrow 4)-branching activity of *glgB* cloned from swine intestinal bacteria

To investigate the α - (1 \rightarrow 4)-branching activity of *glgB* on different substrates, raw potato amylose and heated potato amylose were digested by B342 / B344 clone expressed protein (Table7.1). The initial concentration of amylose added was standardized to 200 ± 5 mg / L. Heat treatment increased 87% of iodine-binding amylose detected in negative control. This was possible related to the double helix structure of potato amylose which can be destroyed by heat treatment with excessive water resulting in more iodine-amylose complex [373,374]. Heated amylose was completely digested by B342 / B344 clone expressed *glgB* while raw potato amylose was still partially digested. Compared to negative control, significant reduction of iodine-binding amylose in raw potato amylose was observed by adding cell lysates and purified proteins. But no significant difference was observed between cell lysates and purified proteins indicating the purified proteins are the key component reducing iodine-binding amylose in potato amylose.

7.4. Discussion

Metagenomic sequencing has facilitated the prediction of microbial composition and metabolic functions of environmental niches [375]. But it is challenging to translate the presence of a specific gene in a certain niche into prediction of confirmed metabolic activity, which still requires extra biochemical validation for the specific biological process [366,376]. In our previous prediction of microbial degradation of starch in swine intestine, Firmicutes harbored a high abundance of α - (1 \rightarrow 4)-branching enzyme glgB dominating the extracellular degradation. This branching enzyme was suggested to increase the accessibility of insoluble starch by introducing more α -(1 \rightarrow 6)-chains [367]. The fact is both glycogen branching enzymes and starch branching enzyme catalyze the formation of α - (1 \rightarrow 6)-glyosidic bonds on amylose and amylopectin. The difference between the action modes of glycogen branching enzymes and starch branching enzymes still should be carefully distinguished [377,378]. That is glycogen branching enzymes tend to produce more (8-9%) but shorter branches (10-12 glucose residues) in glycogens while starch branching enzymes usually generate less (3.5%) but longer branches (20-23) in amylopectin [379,380]. In this study, we confirmed that gene cloning and protein purification retained the activity of *glgB* on amylose. The different reductions of iodine-binding amylose in raw and heated potato amylose after digestion reflected the activity of glgB on α - (1 \rightarrow 4)-amylose and suggested the needs for potent branching enzyme to increase the accessibility of raw potato amylose to amylase. In addition, the iodine-binding capacity of amylose increases with the average degree of polymerization [381]. But the reduction of iodine-binding amylose treated by glgB cloned cell extracts exceeded the average number of untreated controls, which positively indicated the release

of iodine-binding amylose by *glgB* treatment and the reasonable length of the generated chain residues. But the introducing points, the number and length of α - (1 \rightarrow 6)-branches still need further identification.

7.5. Conclusion

It's promising to obtain potent metabolic enzyme from intestinal bacteria based on bioinformatic prediction, which could also promote a better understanding of metabolic process in animal intestine. Gene cloning *glgB* gene from swine intestinal bacteria successfully retained its activity on α - (1 \rightarrow 4)-amylose but the precise structure of end products still need further validation.

Table S7.1. Nucleotide sequences of glgB gene clone B342 and B344

Target	Sequence $(5' \rightarrow 3')$
	ATGACAACTGTAGAAAAGAAAAACACAAAATGCGCTTCCCTTTCCGGAAAAAATAACAGAATATGACCAGTATCTGTTTGCGCAGGCTA
	CAAACTACGACATCTACAACAAGCTTGGAAGCCATGTAACTGTAAACAATGGTGAAAAGGGTGTTTATTTTGCCGTATGGGCACCTAA
	GGCTAAGGCTGTAAGTCTGGTAGGCAACTTTAACAACTGGGATGGCTCTAAAAACCCAATGACCAGAAATGAGCCAAGTGGTATCTG
	GGATATTTTTGTGCCTGGACTTGATGTAGGTGAGGTTTATAAATATCAGATTAAGACCTGGGATGACCGTATTTTAATGAAGGCTGAC
	CCATATGCCAATTCTAACGAGCTTCGTCCAAACAACGCCTCTGTAGTTTCTGACATTTCACATTTTAAATGGTCAGATGCCAAGTGGAT
	ACAAACCGCAGAAAAACTGATATTAAAAAGGCACCAATGGCTATCTAT
	GGCGAAAATGGCACTGATTTCTATAATTATCGTGAATTTGCCCATGAAATAACTGATTATGTAAAACAGATGGGCTATACTCATATTGA
	ATTAATGGGTATTGCTGAACATCCATTTGATGGCTCATGGGGGCTATCANGTAACTGGCTATTACGCACCTACTTCAAGATATGGAACA
	CCAGAAGATTTCATGTACATGATTAACTATCTGCATGAGCATAAGATTGGTGTTATCTTAGACTGGGTTCCTGCACATTTTCCAAGAGA
	TGGTCATGGTCTGGCTAAATTTGATGGTACAGCTGTCTATGAATATGCCGATCCTAAGAAGGGAGAACATCCTGACTGGGGTACAAT
	GATTTTTGATTTCGGCAAGAATGAAGTTAAGAACTTCCTGATTGCCAATGCACTATTCTGGATTGAAAAGATGCATCTGGATGGTTTGA
B342	GAGTTGATGCCGTTGCCTCAATGTTATATCTTGATTATGGCAAACAGACTGGACAGTGGATTGCCAACAAATACGGCGGCAACAAGA
	ATCTTGAGGCTATAGAATTCTTTAAACACTTAAATACCTGTATTGTTGGCCGTAATCCTGGCACCATGATGATAGCCGAGGAATCAACC
	GCCTGGCCAAAGGTTACCGGCGATCCTAAAGATGATGGTCTGGGCTTTACATTCAAGTGGAATATGGGCTGGATGCATGACTTCCTG
	GATTATATGAAGCTTGATCCATTATTCAGAAAGTTTAATCATAACAAGATGACTTTCTCCATGATGTATGCTTATTCTGAGAATTTCATT
	CTGGTACTTTCACATGATGAAGTTGTACACCTGAAGTGTTCAATGCTGAATAAAATGCCTGGCTATCCAGCTGATAAATTCAAGAATCT
	GAAAGCTGCCTACGCATTTATGATTGGTCATCCTGGCAAGAAACTGCTGTTTATGGGTCAGGACTTTGGACAGCTCAGAGAATGGTCA
	GAGGAAAGAGAACTTGACTGGTTCCTGTTAGAAGAAGCTGAACACAAGAACCTGCAGACTTACTATGCAGATCTGCTGCACATCTAT
	AATTCTTATCCGGTTTTATATAACAGTGACTATACACCAGATGGCTTTAAGTGGATTAATGCCGACGATGGTGACAGATCAATCTTCTC
	GTTTGTAAGACTCTCGCCTACCAAAAAGAAGAAGCATCTCCTGTTTGTAGTAAACTTCACACCAATGGAGAGAACTGACTACAGAGTAGGT
	GTACCAAACAGAAGAACCTATAAGCTGATTCTGGATTCTGAAGATCCTAAATATGGTGGAAGTGCTCCAGAAGATAAGCAGAAGCTC
	TATAAGGCCGAAAAGAAGGAATGTGACAATCAGAAGTTCTCATTTGCCTATTCCTTACCAGCCTATGGCGTTGCGGTATTTGAATTCTA
	Α
	ATGACAACTGTAGAAAAGAAAAGAAAACACAAAATGCGCTTCCCTTTCCGGAAAAAATAACAGAATATGACCAGTATCTGTTTGCGCAGGCTA
	CAAACTACGACATCTACAACAAGCTTGGAAGCCATGTAACTGTAAACAATGGTGAAAAGGGTGTTTATTTTGCCGTATGGGCACCTAA
	GGCTAAGGCTGTAAGTCTGGTAGGCAACTTTAACAACTGGGATGGCTCTAAAAACCCAATGACCAGAAATGAGCCAAATGGTATCTG
	GGATATTTTTGTGCCTGGACTTGATGTAGGTGAGGTTTATAAATATCAGATTAAGACCTGGGATGACCGTATTTTAATGAAGGCTGAC
	CCATATGCCAATTCTAACGAGCTTCGTCCAAACAACGCCTCTGTAGTTTCTGACATTTCACATTTTAAATGGTCAGATGCTAAGTGGATT
	ACAAACCGCAGAAAAACTGATATTAAAAAGGCACCAATGGCTATCTAT
	GGCGAAAATGGCACTGATTTCCATAATTATCGTGAATTTGCCCATGAAATAACTGATTATGTAAAAACAGATGGGCTATACTCATATTGA
	ATTAATGGGTATTGCTGAACATCCATTTGATGGCTCATGGGGCTATCANGTAACTGGCTATTACGCACCTACTTCAAGATATGGAACA
	CCAGAAGATTTCATGTACATGATTAACTATCTGCATGAGCATAAGATTGGTGTTATCTTAGACTGGGTTCCTGCACATTTTCCAAGAGA
	TGGTCATGGTCTGGCTAAATTTGATGGTACAGCTGTCTATGAATATGCCGATCCTAAGAAGGGAGAACATCCTGACTGGGGTACAAT
	GATTTTTGATTTCGGCAAGAATGAAGTTAAGAACTTCCTGATTGCCAATGCACTATTCTGGATTGAAAAGATGCATCTGGATGGTTTGA
B344	GAGTTGATGCCGTTGCCTCAATGTTATATCTTGATTATGGCAAACAGACTGGACAGTGGATTGCCAACAAATACGGCGGCAACAAGA
	ATCTTGAGGCTATAGAATTCTTTAAACACTTAAATACCTGTATTGTTGGCCGTAATCCTGGCACCATGATGATAGCCGAGGAATCAACC
	GCCTGGCCAAAGGTTACCGGCGATCCTAAAGATGATGGTCTGGGCTTTACATTCAAGTGGAATATGGGCTGGATGCATGACTTCCTG
	GATTATATGAAGCTTGATCCATTATTCAGAAAGTTTAATCATAACAAGATGACTTTCTCCATGATGTATGCTTATTCTGAGAAATTTCATT
	CTGGTACTTTCACATGATGAAGTTGTACACCTGAAGTGTTCAATGCTGAATAAAATGCCTGGCTATCCAGCTGATAAATTCAAGAATCT
	GAAAGCTGCCTACGCATTTATGATTGGTCATCCTGGCAAGAAACTGCTGTTTATGGGTCAGGACTTTGGACAGCTCAGAGAATGGTCA
	GAGGAAAGAGAACTTGACTGGTTCCTGTTAGAAGAAGCTGAACACAAGAACCTGCAGACTTACTATGCAGATCTGCTGCACATCTAT
	AATTCTTATCCGGTTTTATATAACAGTGACTATACACCAGATGGCTTTAAGTGGATTAATGCCGACGATGGTGACAGATCAATCTTCTC
	GTTTGTAAGACTCTCGCCTACCAAAAAGAAGAAGAATCTCCTGTTTGTAGTAAACTTCACACCAATGGAGAGAACTGACTACAGAGAGAG
	GTACCAAACAGAAGAACCTATAAGCTGATTCTGGATTCTGAAGATCCTAAATATGGTGGAAGTGCTCCAGAAGATAAGCAGAAGCTC
	TATAAGGCCGAAAAGAAGGAATGTGACAATCAGAAGTTCTCATTTGCCTATTCCTTACCAGCCTATGGCGTTGCGGTATTTGAATTCTA
	A

Chapter 8. General discussion and conclusion

8.1. Quantitative profile of virulence factors and virotype identification of ETEC in pig

The diversity of virulence factors of swine-associated ETEC and their hybrid virotypes at different age and geographical locations contribute to the unpredictability of ETEC diagnostics and prevention [50]. In the longitudinal surveillance of ETEC virulence factors in weanling pigs, the high-resolution pathogenicity was determined by multiplex HRM-qPCR analysis. By simultaneously determining five swine-associated fimbriae, the identification of dominant fimbriae type and the presence of other fimbriae types could be detected in the same reaction (Chapter 3). Combining with the quantification of enterotoxins, the diagnosis of virulence determinants could provide the basis for the development of ETEC vaccines and fimbriae-targeted treatment for weanling pigs [50,197].

The virulence of ETEC is dependent on the presence of toxins and adhesion factors in the same genome; therefore, despite the comprehensive determination of virulence factors in swine feces, the virotype of ETEC strains involving in PWD still cannot be characterized by PCR-based assays with gDNA as template. One possibility is to use multiplexed single intact cell droplet digital PCR (MuSIC ddPCR), which uses whole cells as template and thus enables the determination of co-occurrence of fimbriae and enterotoxins in the same cell [382–384]. MuSIC ddPCR has been successfully applied for EHEC detection in food enrichment samples, by detecting genetic targets (*stx* and *eae*) in the same bacterial cell to distinguish EHEC from false positives. [382]. Combining the quantification of all the virulence factors with the further diagnosis of ETEC virotype would greatly broaden the understanding of ETEC pathogenicity in pigs and thus improve the prevention of ETEC in swine production.

8.2. Swine as source of fermentation organisms for cereal fermentations

Gut microbiota is the collectivity of microbes living in the gastrointestinal tract, with the dominance of bacteria and presence of archaea. The dynamic equilibrium of gut microbiota is mainly influenced by host physiological conditions, antibiotics, diet, and particularly dietary carbohydrates. [292,294,295,385]. These factors alone or together determine the resources, stress and disturbance in intestinal tract thus alter microbial compositions and thus contribute to dramatic difference between the forestomach microbiota and large intestinal microbiota [294,298,385,386]. The low gastric pH prevents that acid-sensitive microorganisms colonize the foregut. Lactobacillus dominates the microbiota in swine proximal gut by adhering to the surface of nonsecretory sites, and continuously inoculates passing digesta [230,387]. Sourdough fermentation initially start with mixture of flour, water and starter cultures and gradually develop into relatively stable ecosystem by continuous propagation. Lactic acid bacteria, possible together with yeast are the major fermenters of sourdough and lactobacilli are typically the dominant species in sourdoughs. With respect to the pH, the regular supply of nutrients and the temperature, the swine forestomach resemble sourdough fermentations. Despite the vast difference in complexity and selection pressure of sourdough fermentation and gut microbiota, the metabolic traits required by survival and adaptation in sourdough coincide with that is needed for colonization in swine intestine [148,388,389].

The essential of adaptations is mainly related to microbial competitions, both for the sourdough fermentation and probiotic application. Swine-adapted *L. reuteri* outcompeted ETEC in ileum or caecum by exclusively occupying colonizing sites but did not decrease the abundance of luminal *Clostridium* Cluster I. The production of bacteriocin is another characteristic of *L. reuteri* for interference competition, which widely exists in natural ecosystems [390]. Reutericylin production

did not inhibit Gram-positive *Clostridium* Cluster I in swine intestine but reutericyclin contributed to the competition against *L. sanfranciscensis* thus aid in the stable persistence of *L. reuteri* in sourdough. Host adapted *L. delbrueckii*-group species and *L. reuteri* also populate in type II sourdoughs and benefit the quality of sourdough and sourdough bread. These common points enable the possibility to translate the ecological interactions in swine stomach to sourdough fermentation thereby facilitating the selection of sourdough starter cultures. The shared selection pressure in cereal fermentations and the swine stomach also facilitates the use of host-adapted lactobacilli in feed fermentations to supply probiotic strains.

8.3. Selection criteria for swine probiotic requires further linkage between host adaptation of strains and host immune responses

The content of *Clostridium* cluster I decreased equivalently in pigs fed with *L. reuteri* and *L. fermentum* / *L. casei* while only inclusion of *L. reuteri* reduced the abundance of total *E. coli* and enterotoxins. The release of enterotoxin in pigs is mediated by swine-specific fimbriae adhering to intestinal epitheliums [50,60,264]. Thus, the divergent observations could be translated to that host-adapted *L. reuteri* effectively inhibited the colonization of ETEC without fimbriae-type specificity and reduced the release of toxins in swine intestine. In addition, the better survival of *L. reuteri* during intestinal transit also supported the higher competitiveness of host-adapted strains in swine intestine. If we infer that the reduction in *Clostridium* Cluster I is equivalently due to immunomodulatory effects of *L. fermentum* / *L. casei* and competitive exclusion of *L. reuteri*, these results perfectly support the host-adaption-based selection criteria for swine probiotics. But the major limitation of this thesis is the lack of information about immune responses induced by autochthons and allochthons in pigs were not so well explained as that in

human and mice. Therefore, these findings support the selection criteria for probiotics based on their host adaption but also requires more validation of the corresponding immune responses in pigs.

8.4. Limitations and future directions

As discussed above, one of the major limitations of this study is the lack of host immune response to host-adapted and nomadic lactobacilli. According to immunological studies in mice and human, allochthonous probiotics are more likely to induce the overexpression of inflammatory cytokines and skew the immunity towards inflammation. But this conclusion cannot be translated to pigs due to insufficient supports from animal studies. Most of probiotic studies relied on IPEC-J2 / Cao2 cell lines based *in vitro* assays rather than animal study to evaluate the immunomodulation of probiotics. Therefore, further immunological research on pigs is a crucial piece to fill the gap and support the selection criteria of probiotics suggested in this thesis.

Another limitation is the absence of direct evidence of exclusive colonization of host-adapted lactobacilli. This study proposed host-adapted lactobacilli possess higher competitiveness to outcompete attach sites thus reduce ETEC adhesion in swine intestine. Although better persistence and pathogen inhibition of host-adapted lactobacilli were observed in this thesis, the direct proof showing the link between lactobacilli colonization and reduced ETEC attachment was still missing. Florescent *in situ* hybridization (FISH) is one possibility to provide solid evidence by quantifying the attached ETEC in swine intestine before and after probiotic intervention.

In addition, biochemical characterization of Glgb branching enzyme was only preliminarily confirmed by the reduction of amylose in this study. Based on the bioinformatic prediction in Chapter 6, this enzyme converted unbranched starch into highly branched structures and thus increased their solubility and accessibility to glycosidases in swine intestine. Moreover, fewer but

longer branches were introduced by glgB starch branching enzyme into insoluble amylose which is distinguishable from glycogen branching enzymes formatting more and shorter branches in glycogens. Thus, the introducing points, the number and length of α - (1 \rightarrow 6)-branches introduced by glgB branching enzymes still need further identification.

8.5. Conclusion

In summary, host adaption played a central role in competitiveness of probiotics strains in swine intestine thus exerted divergent effects on pathogenic and commensal microbiota (Chapter 4 and 5). According to the specific purpose in swine production, using the probiotic strains with desired properties is the key criteria for selection of swine probiotics (Chapter 2). Precise determination of pathogenesis relies on the development of detection methods and is necessary for effective prevention of disease. Combining probiotic application and pathogen detection is an efficient way to reduce risk of infection by intestinal pathogens in current swine production systems and thus reduced usage of antibiotics (Chapter 3). The reconstruction of gut microbial metabolism improved the understanding of carbohydrate fermentation in the swine intestine also enabled the development of feeding models with higher feed efficiency and better pathogen control for weanling pigs (Chapter 6 and 7).

Bibliography

1. Docic M, Bilkei G. Differences in antibiotic resistance in *Escherichia coli*, isolated from East-European swine herds with or without prophylactic use of antibiotics. J Vet Med Ser B. 2003;50:27–30.

2. Sieburth JM, Gutierrez J, McGinnis J, Stern JR, Schneider BH. Effect of Antibiotics on Intestinal Microflora and on Growth of Turkeys and Pigs. Exp Biol Med. SAGE PublicationsSage UK: London, England; 1951;76:15–8.

3. Jensen B. The impact of feed additives on the microbial ecology of the gut in young pigs. J Anim Feed Sci. The Kielanowski Institute of Animal Physiology and Nutrition, Polish Academy of Sciences, Jabłonna, Poland; 1998;7:45–64.

4. Simeoni D, Rizzotti L, Cocconcelli P, Gazzola S, Dellaglio F, Torriani S. Antibiotic resistance genes and identification of staphylococci collected from the production chain of swine meat commodities. Food Microbiol. Academic Press; 2008;25:196–201.

5. Looft T, Johnson TA, Allen HK, Bayles DO, Alt DP, Stedtfeld RD, et al. In-feed antibiotic effects on the swine intestinal microbiome.

 Heo JM, Opapeju FO, Pluske JR, Kim JC, Hampson DJ, Nyachoti CM. Gastrointestinal health and function in weaned pigs: A review of feeding strategies to control post-weaning diarrhoea without using in-feed antimicrobial compounds. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr (Berl). 2013;97:207– 37.

7. Mitchell IDG, Kenworthy R. Investigations on a Metabolite from *Lactobacillus bulgaricus* which Neutralizes the Effect of Enterotoxin from Escherichia coli Pathogenic for Pigs. J Appl Bacteriol. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (10.1111); 1976;41:163–74.

8. Dowarah R, Verma AK, Agarwal N, Patel BHM, Singh P. Effect of swine based probiotic on

performance, diarrhoea scores, intestinal microbiota and gut health of grower-finisher crossbred pigs. Livest Sci. 2017;195:74–9.

9. Alexopoulos C, Georgoulakis IE, Tzivara A, Kritas SK, Siochu A, Kyriakis SC. Field evaluation of the efficacy of a probiotic containing *Bacillus licheniformis* and *Bacillus subtilis* spores, on the health status and performance of sows and their litters. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr (Berl). 2004;88:381–92.

10. Zhang J, Deng J, Wang Z, Che C, Li Y, Yang Q. Modulatory effects of *Lactobacillus salivarius* on intestinal mucosal immunity of piglets. Curr Microbiol. Springer-Verlag; 2011;62:1623–31.

11. Bohmer BM, Kramer W, Roth-Maier DA. Dietary probiotic supplementation and resulting effects on performance, health status, and microbial characteristics of primiparous sows. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr (Berl). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (10.1111); 2006;90:309–15.

12. Ritter AC, Paula A, Correa F, Veras FF, Brandelli A. Characterization of *Bacillus subtilis* available as probiotics. J Microbiol Res. 2018;8:23–32.

13. Jakava-Viljanen M, Palva A. Isolation of surface (S) layer protein carrying *Lactobacillus* species from porcine intestine and faeces and characterization of their adhesion properties to different host tissues. Vet Microbiol. Elsevier; 2007;124:264–73.

14. Lin W-H, Yu B, Jang SH, Tsen HY. Different probiotic properties for *Lactobacillus fermentum* strains isolated from swine and poultry. Anaerobe. Academic Press; 2007;13:107–13.

15. Martín R, Delgado S, Maldonado A, Jiménez E, Olivares M, Fernández L, et al. Isolation of lactobacilli from sow milk and evaluation of their probiotic potential. J Dairy Res. Cambridge University Press; 2009;76:418–25.

16. Duar RM, Lin XB, Zheng J, Martino ME, Grenier T, Pérez-Muñoz ME, et al. Lifestyles in transition: evolution and natural history of the genus *Lactobacillus*. FEMS Microbiol Rev.

2017;41:S27-48.

17. Walter J, Maldonado-Gomez MX, Martinez I. To engraft or not to engraft: an ecological framework for gut microbiome modulation with live microbes. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 2018;49:129–39.

18. Frese SA, Parker K, Calvert CC, Mills DA. Diet shapes the gut microbiome of pigs during nursing and weaning. Microbiome. BioMed Central; 2015;3:28.

19. Bailey M, Haverson K, Inman C, Harris C, Jones P, Corfield G, et al. The development of the mucosal immune system pre- and post-weaning: balancing regulatory and effector function. Proc Nutr Soc. Cambridge University Press; 2005;64:451–7.

20. Morelli L. *In vitro* selection of probiotic Lactobacilli: a critical appraisal. Curr issues interstinal Microbiol. 2000;1:59–67.

21. Fuller R. Basis and efficacy of probiotics. Worlds Poult Sci J. 1988;44:69–70.

22. Mitchell IDG, Kenworthy R. Investigations on a Metabolite from *Lactobacillus bulgaricus* which Neutralizes the Effect of Enterotoxin from *Escherichia coli* Pathogenic for Pigs. J Appl Bacteriol. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (10.1111); 1976;41:163–74.

Yang Y, Zhao X, Le MHA, Zijlstra RT, Gänzle MG. Reutericyclin producing *Lactobacillus reuteri* modulates development of fecal microbiota in weanling pigs. Front Microbiol. 2015;6:762.
Douglas SL, Edwards SA, Kyriazakis I. Management strategies to improve the performance of low birth weight pigs to weaning and their long-term consequences1,2. J Anim Sci. Oxford University Press; 2014;92:2280–8.

25. Lallès J-P, Bosi P, Smidt H, Stokes CR. Nutritional management of gut health in pigs around weaning. Proc Nutr Soc. Cambridge University Press; 2007;66:260–8.

26. Houghteling PD, Walker WA. Why is initial bacterial colonization of the intestine important
to infants' and children's health? J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. NIH Public Access; 2015;60:294– 307.

27. Dominguez-Bello MG, De Jesus-Laboy KM, Shen N, Cox LM, Amir A, Gonzalez A, et al. Partial restoration of the microbiota of cesarean-born infants via vaginal microbial transfer. Nat Med. Nature Publishing Group; 2016;22:250–3.

28. Ferretti P, Pasolli E, Tett A, Asnicar F, Gorfer V, Fedi S, et al. Mother-to-infant microbial transmission from different body sites shapes the developing infant gut microbiome. Cell Host Microbe. Cell Press; 2018;24:133-145.e5.

29. Korpela K, Costea P, Coelho LP, Kandels-Lewis S, Willemsen G, Boomsma DI, et al. Selective maternal seeding and environment shape the human gut microbiome. Genome Res. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; 2018;28:561–8.

30. Yassour M, Jason E, Hogstrom LJ, Arthur TD, Tripathi S, Siljander H, et al. Strain-level analysis of mother-to-child bacterial transmission during the first few months of life. Cell Host Microbe. Cell Press; 2018;24:146-154.e4.

31. Siggers RH, Thymann T, Jensen BB, Mølbak L, Heegaard PMH, Schmidt M, et al. Elective cesarean delivery affects gut maturation and delays microbial colonization but does not increase necrotizing enterocolitis in preterm pigs. Am J Physiol Integr Comp Physiol. American Physiological Society; 2008;294:R929–38.

32. Mueller NT, Bakacs E, Combellick J, Grigoryan Z, Dominguez-Bello MG. The infant microbiome development: mom matters. Trends Mol Med. Elsevier Current Trends; 2015;21:109–17.

33. Daniel JA, Carroll JA, Keisler DH, Kojima CJ. Evaluation of immune system function in neonatal pigs born vaginally or by cesarean section. Domest Anim Endocrinol. Elsevier;

163

2008;35:81-7.

34. Buddington RK, Williams CH, Kostek BM, Buddington KK, Kullen MJ. Maternal-to-infant transmission of probiotics: concept validation in mice, rats, and pigs. Neonatology. Karger Publishers; 2010;97:250–6.

35. Lorenzen E, Kudirkiene E, Gutman N, Grossi AB, Agerholm JS, Erneholm K, et al. The vaginal microbiome is stable in prepubertal and sexually mature Ellegaard Göttingen Minipigs throughout an estrous cycle. Vet Res. BioMed Central; 2015;46:125.

36. Asnicar F, Manara S, Zolfo M, Truong DT, Scholz M, Armanini F, et al. Studying vertical microbiome transmission from mothers to infants by strain-level metagenomic profiling. mSystems. American Society for Microbiology Journals; 2017;2:e00164-16.

37. Starke IC, Pieper R, Neumann K, Zentek J, Vahjen W. Individual responses of mother sows to a probiotic *Enterococcus faecium* strain lead to different microbiota composition in their offspring. Benef Microbes. Wageningen Academic Publishers ; 2013;4:345–56.

38. Duranti S, Lugli GA, Mancabelli L, Armanini F, Turroni F, James K, et al. Maternal inheritance of bifidobacterial communities and bifidophages in infants through vertical transmission. Microbiome. BioMed Central; 2017;5:66.

39. Solís G, de los Reyes-Gavilan CG, Fernández N, Margolles A, Gueimonde M. Establishment and development of lactic acid bacteria and bifidobacteria microbiota in breast-milk and the infant gut. Anaerobe. Academic Press; 2010;16:307–10.

40. Albrecht S, Lane JA, Mariño K, Al Busadah KA, Carrington SD, Hickey RM, et al. A comparative study of free oligosaccharides in the milk of domestic animals. Br J Nutr. Cambridge University Press; 2014;111:1313–28.

41. Mudd AT, Salcedo J, Alexander LS, Johnson SK, Getty CM, Chichlowski M, et al. Porcine

milk oligosaccharides and sialic acid concentrations vary throughout lactation. Front Nutr. Frontiers; 2016;3:39.

42. Difilippo E, Pan F, Logtenberg M, Willems R (H. AM, Braber S, Fink-Gremmels J, et al. Milk oligosaccharide variation in sow milk and milk oligosaccharide fermentation in piglet intestine. J Agric Food Chem. American Chemical Society; 2016;64:2087–93.

43. Scharek-Tedin L, Kreuzer-Redmer S, Twardziok SO, Siepert B, Klopfleisch R, Tedin K, et al. Probiotic treatment decreases the number of CD14-expressing cells in porcine milk which correlates with several intestinal immune parameters in the piglets. Front Immunol. Frontiers; 2015;6:108.

44. Duar RM, Frese SA, Lin XB, Fernando SC, Burkey TE, Tasseva G, et al. Experimental evaluation of host adaptation of *Lactobacillus reuteri* to different vertebrate species. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2017;83:e00132-17.

45. Duar RM, Clark KJ, Patil PB, Hernández C, Brüning S, Burkey TE, et al. Identification and characterization of intestinal lactobacilli strains capable of degrading immunotoxic peptides present in gluten. J Appl Microbiol. 2015;118:515–27.

46. Martínez I, Maldonado-Gomez MX, Gomes-Neto JC, Kittana H, Ding H, Schmaltz R, et al. Experimental evaluation of the importance of colonization history in early-life gut microbiota assembly. Elife. 2018;7:1–26.

47. Walter J, Maldonado-Gómez MX, Martínez I. To engraft or not to engraft: an ecological framework for gut microbiome modulation with live microbes. Curr Opin Biotechnol. Elsevier Current Trends; 2018;49:129–39.

48. Gresse R, Chaucheyras-Durand F, Fleury MA, Van de Wiele T, Forano E, Blanquet-Diot S. Gut microbiota dysbiosis in postweaning piglets: understanding the keys to health. Trends

Microbiol. Elsevier Current Trends; 2017;25:851–73.

49. Katsuda K, Kohmoto M, Kawashima K, Tsunemitsu H. Frequency of enteropathogen detection in suckling and weaned pigs with diarrhea in Japan. J Vet Diagnostic Investig. 2006;18:350–4.

50. Fairbrother JM, Nadeau É, Gyles CL. *Escherichia coli* in postweaning diarrhea in pigs: an update on bacterial types, pathogenesis, and prevention strategies. Anim Heal Res Rev. Cambridge University Press; 2005;6:17–39.

51. Dou S, Gadonna-Widehem P, Rome V, Hamoudi D, Rhazi L, Lakhal L, et al. Characterisation of early-life fecal microbiota in susceptible and healthy pigs to post-weaning diarrhoea. Loh G, editor. PLoS One. Public Library of Science; 2017;12:e0169851.

52. Ramayo-Caldas Y, Mach N, Lepage P, Levenez F, Denis C, Lemonnier G, et al. Phylogenetic network analysis applied to pig gut microbiota identifies an ecosystem structure linked with growth traits. ISME J. Nature Publishing Group; 2016;10:2973–7.

53. Levy M, Blacher E, Elinav E. Microbiome, metabolites and host immunity. Curr Opin Microbiol. 2017;35:8–15.

54. Nagy B, Fekete PZ. Enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* in veterinary medicine. Int J Med Microbiol. Urban & Fischer; 2005;295:443–54.

55. Moeser AJ, Pohl CS, Rajput M. Weaning stress and gastrointestinal barrier development: implications for lifelong gut health in pigs. Anim Nutr. 2017;3:313–21.

56. Casas V, Rodríguez-Asiain A, Pinto-Llorente R, Vadillo S, Carrascal M, Abian J. *Brachyspira hyodysenteriae* and *B. pilosicoli* proteins recognized by sera of challenged pigs. Front Microbiol. 2017;8.

57. Biksi I, Lőrincz M, Molnár B, Kecskés T, Takács N, Mirt D, et al. Prevalence of selected enteropathogenic bacteria in Hungarian finishing pigs. Acta Vet Hung. Akadémiai Kiadó ;

2007;55:219–27.

58. Trevisi P, Merialdi G, Mazzoni M, Casini L, Tittarelli C, De Filippi S, et al. Effect of dietary addition of thymol on growth, salivary and gastric function, immune response, and excretion of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium, in weaning pigs challenged with this microbe strain. Ital J Anim Sci. 2007;6:374–6.

59. Kwon D, Choi C, Jung T, Chung HK, Kim JP, Bae SS, et al. Genotypic prevalence of the fimbrial adhesins (F4, F5, F6, F41 and F18) and toxins (LT, STa, STb and STx2e) in Escherichia coli isolated from postweaning pigs with diarrhoea or oedema disease in Korea. Vet Rec. British Medical Journal Publishing Group; 2002;150:35–7.

60. Zhang W, Zhao M, Ruesch L, Omot A, Francis D. Prevalence of virulence genes in *Escherichia coli* strains recently isolated from young pigs with diarrhea in the US. Vet Microbiol. Elsevier; 2007;123:145–52.

61. Francis DH. Enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* infection in pigs and its diagnosis. J Swine Heal Prod. 2002;10:171–5.

62. Weber NR, Pedersen KS, Hansen CF, Denwood M, Hjulsager CK, Nielsen JP. Batch medication of intestinal infections in nursery pigs - a randomised clinical trial on the efficacy of treatment strategy, type of antibiotic and bacterial load on average daily weight gain. Prev Vet Med. Elsevier B.V.; 2017;137:69–76.

63. Stege H, Jensen TK, Møller K, Bækbo P, Jorsal SE. Risk factors for intestinal pathogens in Danish finishing pig herds. Prev Vet Med. 2001;50:153–64.

64. Arruda PHE, Madson DM, Ramirez A, Rowe EW, Songer JG. Bacterial probiotics as an aid in the control of *Clostridium difficile* disease in neonatal pigs. Can Vet J. 2016;57:183–8.

65. Hussain I, Borah P, Sharma RK, Rajkhowa S, Rupnik M, Saikia DP, et al. Molecular

characteristics of *Clostridium difficile* isolates from human and animals in the North Eastern region of India. Mol Cell Probes. Academic Press; 2016;30:306–11.

66. Knetsch CW, Connor TR, Mutreja A, van Dorp SM, Sanders IM, Browne HP, et al. Whole genome sequencing reveals potential spread of Clostridium difficile between humans and farm animals in the Netherlands, 2002 to 2011. Euro Surveill. Europe PMC Funders; 2014;19:20954.

67. Klaasen HLBM, Molkenboer MJCH, Bakker J, Miserez R, Häni H, Frey J, et al. Detection of the β2 toxin gene of *Clostridium perfringens* in diarrhoeic piglets in The Netherlands and Switzerland. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol. 1999;24:325–32.

68. Songer JG, Uzal FA. Clostridial enteric infections in pigs. J Vet Diagnostic Investig. 2005;17:528–36.

69. Kranker S, Alban L, Boes J, Dahl J. Longitudinal study of Salmonella enterica serotype typhimurium infection in three Danish farrow-to-finish swine herds. J Clin Microbiol. American Society for Microbiology Journals; 2003;41:2282–8.

70. Funk JA, Davies PR, Nichols MA. Longitudinal study of *Salmonella enterica* in growing pigs reared in multiple-site swine production systems. Vet Microbiol. Elsevier; 2001;83:45–60.

71. Belœil PA, Chauvin C, Proux K, Rose N, Queguiner S, Eveno E, et al. Longitudinal serological responses to *Salmonella enterica* of growing pigs in a subclinically infected herd. Prev Vet Med. 2003;60:207–26.

72. Jacobson M, Gerth Lofstedt M, Holmgren N, Lundeheim N, Fellstrom C. The prevalences of *Brachyspira* spp. and *Lawsonia intracellularis* in Swedish piglet producing herds and wild boar population. J Vet Med Ser B. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (10.1111); 2005;52:386–91.

73. La T, Phillips ND, Hampson DJ. An investigation into the etiological agents of swine dysentery in Australian pig herds. Anjum M, editor. PLoS One. Public Library of Science; 2016;11:e0167424.

74. Bae JK, Wieland B, Sait M, Longbottom D, Smith DGE, Alarcon P, et al. Risk factors associated with *Lawsonia intracellularis* in English pig farms. Vet J. W.B. Saunders; 2013;197:707–11.

75. Pascu C, Costinar L, Mernea I, Tătar D, Herman V. Prevalence of *Lawsonia intracellularis* infections in pig herds from the Western Romania. Ital Oral Surg. 2015;6:378–81.

76. Clements A, Young JC, Constantinou N, Frankel G. Infection strategies of enteric pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Gut Microbes. Taylor & Francis; 2012;3:71–87.

77. Matías J, Berzosa M, Pastor Y, Irache J, Gamazo C, Matías J, et al. Maternal vaccination. Immunization of sows during pregnancy against ETEC infections. Vaccines. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute; 2017;5:48.

78. Toledo A, Gómez D, Cruz C, Carreón R, López J, Giono S, et al. Prevalence of virulence genes in *Escherichia coli* strains isolated from piglets in the suckling and weaning period in Mexico. J Med Microbiol. 2012;61:148–56.

79. Wang W, Zijlstra RT, Gänzle MG. Identification and quantification of virulence factors of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* by high-resolution melting curve quantitative PCR. BMC Microbiol. BioMed Central; 2017;17:114.

80. Nagy B, Whipp SC, Imberechts H, Bertschinger HU, Dean-Nystrom EA, Casey TA, et al. Biological relationship between F18ab and F18ac fimbriae of enterotoxigenic and verotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* from weaned pigs with oedema disease or diarrhoea. Microb Pathog. Academic Press; 1997;22:1–11.

81. Wilson RA, Francis DH. Fimbriae and enterotoxins associated with Escherichia coli serogroups isolated from pigs with colibacillosis. Am J Vet Res. 1986;47:213–7.

82. Osek J. Prevalence of virulence factors of *Escherichia coli* strains isolated from diarrheic and healthy piglets after weaning. Vet Microbiol. Elsevier; 1999;68:209–17.

83. Melkebeek V, Goddeeris BM. ETEC vaccination in pigs. Vet Immunol Immunopathol. Elsevier; 2013;152:37–42.

84. Katrien V, Vesna M, Eric C, Jean Paul R, Chris V. Adjuvant effect of Gantrez® AN nanoparticles during oral vaccination of piglets against F4+enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*. Vet Immunol Immunopathol. 2010;139:148–55.

85. Felder CB, Vorlaender N, Gander B, Merkle HP, Bertschinger HU. Microencapsulated enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* and detached fimbriae for peroral vaccination of pigs. Vaccine. 2001;19:706–15.

86. Yaeger M, Funk N, Hoffman L. A survey of agents associated with neonatal diarrhea in Iowa swine including *Clostridium difficile* and porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. J Vet Diagnostic Investig. SAGE PublicationsSage CA: Los Angeles, CA; 2002;14:281–7.

87. Moono P, Foster NF, Hampson DJ, Knight DR, Bloomfield LE, Riley T V. *Clostridium difficile* infection in production animals and avian species: a review. Foodborne Pathog Dis. 2016;13:647–55.

88. Hopman NEM, Keessen EC, Harmanus C, Sanders IMJG, van Leengoed LAMG, Kuijper EJ, et al. Acquisition of *Clostridium difficile* by piglets. Vet Microbiol. Elsevier; 2011;149:186–92.

89. Uzal FA, McClane BA. Recent progress in understanding the pathogenesis of *Clostridium perfringens* type C infections. Vet Microbiol. Elsevier B.V.; 2011;153:37–43.

90. Baker AA, Davis E, Rehberger T, Rosener D. Prevalence and diversity of toxigenic *Clostridium perfringens* and *Clostridium difficile* among swine herds in the Midwest. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2010;76:2961–7.

91. Miclard J, Jäggi M, Sutter E, Wyder M, Grabscheid B, Posthaus H. *Clostridium perfringens*beta-toxin targets endothelial cells in necrotizing enteritis in piglets. Vet Microbiol. 2009;137:320–
5.

92. Quintana-Hayashi MP, Mahu M, Pauw N De, Boyen F, Pasmans F, Martel A, et al. The levels of *Brachyspira hyodysenteriae* binding to porcine colonic mucins differ between individuals, and binding is increased to mucins from infected pigs with *de novo* MUC5AC synthesis. Infect Immun. American Society for Microbiology Journals; 2015;83:1610–9.

93. Oxberry SL, Hampson DJ. Epidemiological studies of *Brachyspira pilosicoli* in two Australian piggeries. Vet Microbiol. Elsevier; 2003;93:109–20.

94. Chouet S, Prieto C, Mieli L, Veenhuizen MF, McOrist S. Patterns of exposure to *Lawsonia intracellularis* infection on European pig farms. Vet Rec. British Medical Journal Publishing Group; 2003;152:14–7.

95. Visscher C, Kruse A, Sander S, Keller C, Mischok J, Tabeling R, et al. Experimental studies on effects of diet on *Lawsonia intracellularis* infections in fattening boars in a natural infection model. Acta Vet Scand. BioMed Central; 2018;60:22.

96. Resende TP, Pereira CER, Gabardo M de P, Haddad JPA, Lobato ZIP, Guedes RMC. Serological profile, seroprevalence and risk factors related to *Lawsonia intracellularis* infection in swine herds from Minas Gerais State, Brazil. BMC Vet Res. BioMed Central; 2015;11:306.

97. Murray R, Tataryn J, Pintar K, Thomas MK. Estimates of the burden of illness for eight enteric pathogens associated with animal contact in Canada. Epidemiol Infect. Cambridge University Press; 2017;145:3413–23.

98. Gruzdev N, McClelland M, Porwollik S, Ofaim S, Pinto R S-SS. Global transcriptional analysis of dehydrated *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. Appl Env Microbiol.

171

2012;78:7866–75.

99. Alvarez-Ordóñez A, Broussolle V, Colin P, Nguyen-The C, Prieto M. The adaptive response of bacterial food-borne pathogens in the environment, host and food: implications for food safety. Int J Food Microbiol. Elsevier B.V.; 2015;213:99–109.

100. Bednorz C, Guenther S, Oelgeschläger K, Kinnemann B, Pieper R, Hartmann S, et al. Feeding the probiotic *Enterococcus faecium* strain NCIMB 10415 to piglets specifically reduces the number of *Escherichia coli* pathotypes that adhere to the gut mucosa. Appl Environ Microbiol. American Society for Microbiology; 2013;79:7896–904.

101. Kreuzer S, Machnowska P, Aßmus J, Sieber M, Pieper R, Schmidt MF, et al. Feeding of the probiotic bacterium *Enterococcus faecium* NCIMB 10415 differentially affects shedding of enteric viruses in pigs. Vet Res. BioMed Central; 2012;43:58.

102. Tan C, Zhai Z, Ni X, Wang H, Ji Y, Tang T, et al. Metabolomic profiles reveal potential factors that correlate with lactation performance in sow milk. Sci Rep. Nature Publishing Group; 2018;8:10712.

103. Scharek L, Guth J, Reiter K, Weyrauch KD, Taras D, Schwerk P, et al. Influence of a probiotic *Enterococcus faecium* strain on development of the immune system of sows and piglets. Vet Immunol Immunopathol. Elsevier; 2005;105:151–61.

104. Holzapfel W, Arini A, Aeschbacher M, Coppolecchia R, Pot B. *Enterococcus faecium* SF68 as a model for efficacy and safety evaluation of pharmaceutical probiotics. Benef Microbes. Wageningen Academic Publishers ; 2018;9:375–88.

105. Macha M, Taras D, Vahjen W, Arini A, Simon O. Specific enumeration of the probiotic strain *Enterococcus faecium* NCIMB 10415 in the intestinal tract and in faeces of piglets and sows. Arch Anim Nutr. Taylor & Francis Group; 2004;58:443–52.

106. Martin L, Pieper R, Kröger S, Goodarzi Boroojeni F, Vahjen W, Neumann K, et al. Influence of age and *Enterococcus faecium* NCIMB 10415 on development of small intestinal digestive physiology in piglets. Anim Feed Sci Technol. Elsevier; 2012;175:65–75.

107. Starke IC, Zentek J, Vahjen W. Effects of the probiotic *Enterococcus faecium* NCIMB 10415 on selected lactic acid bacteria and enterobacteria in co-culture. Benef Microbes. Wageningen Academic Publishers ; 2015;6:345–52.

108. Taras D, Vahjen W, Macha M, Simon O. Performance, diarrhea incidence, and occurrence of *Escherichia coli* virulence genes during long-term administration of a probiotic *Enterococcus faecium* strain to sows and piglets. J Anim Sci. Oxford University Press; 2006;84:608–17.

109. Kritas SK, Marubashi T, Filioussis G, Petridou E, Christodoulopoulos G, Burriel AR, et al. Reproductive performance of sows was improved by administration of a sporing bacillary probiotic (*Bacillus subtilis* C-3102). J Anim Sci. Oxford University Press; 2015;93:405–13.

110. Baker AA, Davis E, Spencer JD, Moser R, Rehberger T. The effect of a *Bacillus*-based directfed microbial supplemented to sows on the gastrointestinal microbiota of their neonatal piglets. J Anim Sci. Oxford University Press; 2013;91:3390–9.

111. Liu H, Zhang J, Zhang S, Yang F, Thacker PA, Zhang G, et al. Oral administration of *Lactobacillus fermentum* I5007 favors intestinal development and alters the intestinal microbiota in formula-fed piglets. J Agric Food Chem. American Chemical Society; 2014;62:860–6.

112. Huang Y, Li Y-L, Huang Q, Cui Z-W, Yu D-Y, Rajput R, et al. Effect of orally administered *Enterococcus faecium* EF1 on intestinal cytokines and chemokines production of suckling piglets. Pak Vet J. 2012;32:81–4.

113. Wang A, Haifeng AE, Ae Y, Gao X, Xiaojie AE, Ae L, et al. Influence of *Lactobacillus fermentum* 15007 on the intestinal and systemic immune responses of healthy and *E. coli*

challenged piglets. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek. 2009;96:89-98.

114. Lähteinen T, Lindholm A, Rinttilä T, Junnikkala S, Kant R, Pietilä TE, et al. Effect of *Lactobacillus brevis* ATCC 8287 as a feeding supplement on the performance and immune function of piglets. Vet Immunol Immunopathol. Elsevier; 2014;158:14–25.

115. Zhang L, Xu Y-Q, Liu H-Y, Lai T, Ma J-L, Wang J-F, et al. Evaluation of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG using an *Escherichia coli* K88 model of piglet diarrhoea: effects on diarrhoea incidence, faecal microflora and immune responses. Vet Microbiol. Elsevier; 2010;141:142–8.

116. Mallo JJ, Rioperez J, Honrubia P. The addition of *Enterococcus faecium* to diet improves piglet's intestinal microbiota and performance. Livest Sci. Elsevier; 2010;133:176–8.

117. Zhao PY, Kim IH. Effect of direct-fed microbial on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, fecal noxious gas emission, fecal microbial flora and diarrhea score in weanling pigs. Anim Feed Sci Technol. Elsevier; 2015;200:86–92.

118. Yang Y, Galle S, Le MHA, Zijlstra RT, Gänzle MG. Feed fermentation with reuteran- and levan-producing *Lactobacillus reuteri* reduces colonization of weanling pigs by enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*. Appl Env Microbiol. 2015;81:5743–52.

119. Y. J. Chen, B. J. Min, J. H. Cho, O. S. Kwon, K. S. Son, I. H. Kim, et al. Effects of dietary *Enterococcus faecium* SF68 on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, blood characteristics and faecal noxious gas content in finishing pigs. Asian-Aust J Anim Sci. 2006;19:406–11.

120. Davis ME, Parrott T, Brown DC, de Rodas BZ, Johnson ZB, Maxwell C V., et al. Effect of a *Bacillus*-based direct-fed microbial feed supplement on growth performance and pen cleaning characteristics of growing-finishing pigs. J Anim Sci. Oxford University Press; 2008;86:1459–67.
121. Suo C, Yin Y, Wang X, Lou X, Song D, Wang X, et al. Effects of *Lactobacillus plantarum* ZJ316 on pig growth and pork quality. BMC Vet Res. BioMed Central; 2012;8:89.

122. Wang J, Ji HF, Hou CL, Wang SX, Zhang DY, Liu H, et al. Effects of *Lactobacillus johnsonii* XS4 supplementation on reproductive performance, gut environment, and blood biochemical and immunological index in lactating sows. Livest Sci. Elsevier; 2014;164:96–101.

123. Scharek L, Guth J, Filter M, Schmidt MFG. Impact of the probiotic bacteria *Enterococcus faecium* NCIMB 10415 (SF68) and *Bacillus cereus* var. toyoi NCIMB 40112 on the development of serum IgG and faecal IgA of sows and their piglets. Arch Anim Nutr. Taylor & Francis ; 2007;61:223–34.

124. Sonia TA, Ji H, Hong-Seok M, Chul-Ju Y. Evaluation of *Lactobacillus* and *Bacillus*-based probiotics as alternatives to antibiotics in enteric microbial challenged weaned piglets. African J Microbiol Res. Academic Journals; 2014;8:96–104.

125. Li X-Q, Zhu Y-H, Zhang H-F, Yue Y, Cai Z-X, Lu Q-P, et al. Risks associated with highdose *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* in an *Escherichia coli* model of piglet diarrhoea: intestinal microbiota and immune imbalances. Battista JR, editor. PLoS One. Public Library of Science; 2012;7:e40666.

126. Sayan H, Assavacheep P, Angkanaporn K, Assavacheep A. Effect of *Lactobacillus salivarius* on growth performance, diarrhea incidence, fecal bacterial population and intestinal morphology of suckling pigs challenged with F4+ enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*. Asian-Australasian J Anim Sci. Asian-Australasian Association of Animal Production Societies (AAAP); 2018;31:1308–14.

127. Konstantinov SR, Smidt H, Akkermans ADL, Casini L, Trevisi P, Mazzoni M, et al. Feeding of *Lactobacillus sobrius* reduces *Escherichia coli* F4 levels in the gut and promotes growth of infected piglets. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. Oxford University Press; 2008;66:599–607.

128. Upadhaya SD, Shanmugam SK, Kang DK, Kim IH. Preliminary assessment on potentials of probiotic *B. subtilis* RX7 and *B. methylotrophicus* C14 strains as an immune modulator in

Salmonella-challenged weaned pigs. Trop Anim Health Prod. Springer Netherlands; 2017;49:1065–70.

129. Scharek-Tedin L, Pieper R, Vahjen W, Tedin K, Neumann K, Zentek J. *Bacillus cereus* var.
Toyoi modulates the immune reaction and reduces the occurrence of diarrhea in piglets challenged with *Salmonella* Typhimurium DT1041. J Anim Sci. Oxford University Press; 2013;91:5696–704.
130. Zhou D, Zhu Y-H, Zhang W, Wang M-L, Fan W-Y, Song D, et al. Oral administration of a select mixture of *Bacillus* probiotics generates Tr1 cells in weaned F4ab/acR– pigs challenged with an F4+ ETEC/VTEC/EPEC strain. Vet Res. BioMed Central; 2015;46:95.

131. Duar RM, Lin XB, Zheng J, Martino ME, Grenier T, Pérez-Muñoz ME, et al. Lifestyles in transition: evolution and natural history of the genus *Lactobacillus*. FEMS Microbiol Rev. 2017;41:S27–48.

132. Plantinga TS, van Maren WWC, van Bergenhenegouwen J, Hameetman M, Nierkens S, Jacobs C, et al. Differential Toll-like receptor recognition and induction of cytokine profile by *Bifidobacterium breve* and *Lactobacillus strains* of probiotics. Clin Vaccine Immunol. American Society for Microbiology; 2011;18:621–8.

133. Livingston M, Loach D, Wilson M, Tannock GW, Baird M. Gut commensal *Lactobacillus reuteri* 100-23 stimulates an immunoregulatory response. Immunol Cell Biol. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2010;88:99–102.

134. Walter J, Britton RA, Roos S. Host-microbial symbiosis in the vertebrate gastrointestinal tract and the *Lactobacillus reuteri* paradigm. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108 Suppl:4645–52.

135. Lin YP, Thibodeaux CH, Peña JA, Ferry GD, Versalovic J. Probiotic *Lactobacillus reuteri* suppress proinflammatory cytokines via c-Jun. Inflamm Bowel Dis. Oxford University Press; 2008;14:1068–83.

136. Livingston M, Loach D, Wilson M, Tannock GW, Baird M. Gut commensal *Lactobacillus reuteri* 100-23 stimulates an immunoregulatory response. Immunol Cell Biol. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2010;88:99–102.

137. Trevisi P, Casini L, Coloretti F, Mazzoni M, Merialdi G, Bosi P. Dietary addition of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG impairs the health of *Escherichia coli* F4-challenged piglets. animal. Cambridge University Press; 2011;5:1354–60.

138. Kreuzer S, Janczyk P, Assmus J, Schmidt MFG, Brockmann GA, Nöckler K. No beneficial effects evident for *Enterococcus faecium* NCIMB 10415 in weaned pigs infected with *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium DT104. Appl Environ Microbiol. American Society for Microbiology; 2012;78:4816–25.

139. Szabó I, Wieler LH, Tedin K, Scharek-Tedin L, Taras D, Hensel A, et al. Influence of a probiotic strain of *Enterococcus faecium* on *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium DT104 infection in a porcine animal infection model. Appl Environ Microbiol. American Society for Microbiology; 2009;75:2621–8.

140. Haesebrouck F, Pasmans F, Chiers K, Maes D, Ducatelle R, Decostere A. Efficacy of vaccines against bacterial diseases in swine: what can we expect? Vet Microbiol. 2004;100:255–68.

141. Aarestrup FM, Oliver Duran C, Burch DGS. Antimicrobial resistance in swine production. Anim Heal Res Rev. Cambridge University Press; 2008;9:135–48.

142. Kroll JJ, Roof MB, McOrist S. Evaluation of protective immunity in pigs following oral administration of an avirulent live vaccine of *Lawsonia intracellularis*. Am J Vet Res. American Veterinary Medical Association 1931 North Meacham Road, Suite 100 Schaumburg, IL 60173 USA; 2004;65:559–65.

143. Giang HH, Viet TQ, Ogle B, Lindberg JE. Effects of supplementation of probiotics on the

performance, nutrient digestibility and faecal microflora in growing-finishing pigs. Asian-Australasian J Anim Sci. Asian Australasian Association of Animal Production Societies; 2011;24:655–61.

144. Chen Y., Min BJ, Cho JH, Kwon OS, Son KS, Kim HJ, et al. Effects of dietary *Bacillus*based probiotic on growth performance, nutrients digestibility, blood characteristics and fecal noxious gas content in finishing pigs. Asian-Australasian J Anim Sci. 2006;19:587–92.

145. Meng QW, Yan L, Ao X, Zhou TX, Wang JP, Lee JH, et al. Influence of probiotics in different energy and nutrient density diets on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, meat quality, and blood characteristics in growing-finishing pigs. J Anim Sci. Oxford University Press; 2010;88:3320–6.

146. Marko A, Rakická M, Mikušová L, Valík Ľ, Šturdík E. Lactic acid fermentation of cereal substrates in nutritional perspective. Int J Res Chem Environ. 2014;4:80–92.

147. Wang Y, Cho JH, Chen YJ, Yoo JS, Huang Y, Kim HJ, et al. The effect of probiotic BioPlus 2B® on growth performance, dry matter and nitrogen digestibility and slurry noxious gas emission in growing pigs. Livest Sci. Elsevier; 2009;120:35–42.

148. Zheng J, Zhao X, Lin XB, Gänzle M. Comparative genomics *Lactobacillus reuteri* from sourdough reveals adaptation of an intestinal symbiont to food fermentations. Sci Rep. Nature Publishing Group; 2016;5:18234.

149. De Angelis M, Siragusa S, Caputo L, Ragni A, Burzigotti R, Gobbetti M. Survival and persistence of *Lactobacillus plantarum* 4.1 and *Lactobacillus reuteri* 3S7 in the gastrointestinal tract of pigs. Vet Microbiol. Elsevier; 2007;123:133–44.

150. Toit M du, Franz C, Dicks L, Schillinger U, Haberer P, Warlies B, et al. Characterisation and selection of probiotic lactobacilli for a preliminary minipig feeding trial and their effect on serum

cholesterol levels, faeces pH and faeces moisture content. Int J Food Microbiol. 1998;40:93–104. 151. Broeckx G, Vandenheuvel D, Claes IJJ, Lebeer S, Kiekens F. Drying techniques of probiotic bacteria as an important step towards the development of novel pharmabiotics. Int J Pharm. 2016;505:303–18.

152. Chen XY, Woodward A, Zijlstra RT, Gänzle MG. Exopolysaccharides synthesized by *Lactobacillus reuteri* protect against enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* in piglets. Appl Environ Microbiol. American Society for Microbiology; 2014;80:5752–60.

153. Martino ME, Bayjanov JR, Caffrey BE, Wels M, Joncour P, Hughes S, et al. Nomadic lifestyle of *Lactobacillus plantarum* revealed by comparative genomics of 54 strains isolated from different habitats. Environ Microbiol. Wiley Online Library; 2016;18:4974–89.

154. Chen XY, Levy C, Gänzle MG. Structure-function relationships of bacterial and enzymatically produced reuterans and dextran in sourdough bread baking application. Int J Food Microbiol. 2016;239:95–102.

155. Marciňáková M, Klingberg TD, Lauková A, Budde BB. The effect of pH, bile and calcium on the adhesion ability of probiotic enterococci of animal origin to the porcine jejunal epithelial cell line IPEC-J2. Anaerobe. 2010;16:120–4.

156. Wang J, Zeng Y, Wang S, Liu H, Zhang D, Zhang W, et al. Swine-derived probiotic *Lactobacillus plantarum* inhibits growth and adhesion of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* and mediates host defense. Front Microbiol. Frontiers; 2018;9:1364.

157. Wang J, Ji H, Wang S, Liu H, Zhang W, Zhang D, et al. Probiotic *Lactobacillus plantarum* promotes intestinal barrier function by strengthening the epithelium and modulating gut microbiota. Front Microbiol. Frontiers; 2018;9:1953.

158. Wu Y, Zhu C, Chen Z, Chen Z, Zhang W, Ma X, et al. Protective effects of Lactobacillus

plantarum on epithelial barrier disruption caused by enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* in intestinal porcine epithelial cells. Vet Immunol Immunopathol. Elsevier B.V.; 2016;172:55–63.

159. Larsen N, Thorsen L, Kpikpi EN, Stuer-Lauridsen B, Cantor MD, Nielsen B, et al. Characterization of *Bacillus* spp. strains for use as probiotic additives in pig feed. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2014;98:1105–18.

160. Lee H, Gilliland S, Carter S. Amylolytic cultures of *Lactobacillus acidophilus*: potential probiotics to improve dietary starch utilization. J Food Sci. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (10.1111); 2001;66:338–44.

161. Jørgensen H, Sholly D, Pedersen AØ, Canibe N, Knudsen KEB. Fermentation of cereals influence on digestibility of nutrients in growing pigs. Livest Sci. Elsevier; 2010;134:56–8.

162. Missotten JAM, Michiels J, Ovyn A, de Smet S, Dierick NA. Fermented liquid feed for pigs. Arch Anim Nutr. 2010;64:437–66.

163. Nkhata SG, Ayua E, Kamau EH, Shingiro JB. Fermentation and germination improve nutritional value of cereals and legumes through activation of endogenous enzymes. Food Sci Nutr. 2018;6:2446–58.

164. Windisch W, Schedle K, Plitzner C, Kroismayr A. Use of phytogenic products as feed additives for swine and poultry. J Anim Sci. 2008;86:E140–8.

165. Casewell M, Friis C, Marco E, McMullin P, Phillips I. The European ban on growthpromoting antibiotics and emerging consequences for human and animal health. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2003;52:159–61.

166. Castanon JIR. History of the use of antibiotic as growth promoters in European poultry feeds.Poult Sci. Oxford University Press; 2007;86:2466–71.

167. Salim HM, Kang HK, Akter N, Kim DW, Kim JH, Kim MJ, et al. Supplementation of direct-

fed microbials as an alternative to antibiotic on growth performance, immune response, cecal microbial population, and ileal morphology of broiler chickens. Poult Sci. 2013;92:2084–90. 168. Duan Q, Zhou M, Zhu X, Yang Y, Zhu J, Bao W, et al. Flagella from F18+ *Escherichia coli* play a role in adhesion to pig epithelial cell lines. Microb Pathog. Elsevier Ltd; 2013;55:32–8. 169. Frydendahl K. Prevalence of serogroups and virulence genes in *Escherichia coli* associated with postweaning diarrhoea and edema disease in pigs and a comparison of diagnostic approaches. Vet Microbiol. 2002;85:169–82.

170. Knutton S, Lloyd DR, Candy DC, McNeish AS. Adhesion of enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli to human small intestinal enterocytes. Infect Immun. American Society for Microbiology Journals; 1985;48:824–31.

171. Thomas L V, Cravioto A, Scotland SM, Rowe B. New fimbrial antigenic type (E8775) that may represent a colonization factor in enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli in humans. Infect Immun. American Society for Microbiology Journals; 1982;35:1119–24.

172. Luiz WB, Rodrigues JF, Crabb JH, Savarino SJ, Ferreira LCS. Maternal vaccination with a fimbrial tip adhesin and passive protection of neonatal mice against lethal human enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli challenge. Infect Immun. American Society for Microbiology Journals; 2015;83:4555–64.

173. Luo Y, Van Nguyen U, De La Fe Rodriguez PY, Devriendt B, Cox E. F4+ETEC infection and oral immunization with F4 fimbriae elicits an IL-17-dominated immune response. Vet Res. BioMed Central; 2015;46:1–14.

174. Pereira DA, Silva CA, Ono MA, Vidotto O, Vidotto MC. Humoral Immune Response of Immunized Sows with Recombinant Proteins of Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli. 2015;60–8.
175. Guion CE, Ochoa TJ, Walker CM, Barletta F, Cleary TG. Detection of diarrheagenic Escherichia coli by use of melting-curve analysis and real-time multiplex PCR. J Clin Microbiol. American Society for Microbiology Journals; 2008;46:1752–7.

176. Lee SI, Kang SG, Kang ML, Yoo HS. Development of multiplex polymerase chain reaction assays for detecting enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli and their application to field isolates from piglets with diarrhea. J Vet Diagnostic Investig. 2008;20:492–6.

177. Patamaroj U, Seriwatana J, Echeverria P. Identification of enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli isolated from swine with diarrhea in Thailand by colony hybridization, using three enterotoxin gene probes. J Clin Microbiol. American Society for Microbiology Journals; 1983;18:1429–31.

178. Leonard SR, Mammel MK, Rasko DA, Lacher DW. Hybrid shiga toxin-producing and enterotoxigenic Escherichia sp. cryptic lineage 1 strain 7v harbors a hybrid plasmid. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2016;82:4309–19.

179. Zajacova ZS, Konstantinova L, Alexa P. Detection of virulence factors of Escherichia coli focused on prevalence of EAST1 toxin in stool of diarrheic and non-diarrheic piglets and presence of adhesion involving virulence factors in astA positive strains. Vet Microbiol. Elsevier; 2012;154:369–75.

180. Lin J, Mateo KS, Zhao M, Erickson AK, Garcia N, He D, et al. Protection of piglets against enteric colibacillosis by intranasal immunization with K88ac (F4ac) fimbriae and heat labile enterotoxin of Escherichia coli. Vet Microbiol. Elsevier B.V.; 2013;162:731–9.

181. Barth S, Schwanitz A, Bauerfeind R. Polymerase chain reaction–based method for the typing of F18 fimbriae and distribution of F18 fimbrial subtypes among porcine Shiga toxin–encoding *Escherichia coli* in Germany. J Vet Diagnostic Investig. SAGE PublicationsSage CA: Los Angeles, CA; 2011;23:454–64.

182. Souza TB, Lozer DM, Kitagawa SMS, Spano LC, Silva NP, Scaletsky ICA. Real-time

multiplex PCR assay and melting curve analysis for identifying diarrheagenic Escherichia coli. J Clin Microbiol. American Society for Microbiology Journals; 2013;51:1031–3.

183. Tobias J, Vutukuru S-R. Simple and rapid multiplex PCR for identification of the main human diarrheagenic Escherichia coli. Microbiol Res. Urban & Fischer; 2012;167:564–70.

184. Chen J, Griffiths MW. PCR differentiation of Escherichia coli from other Gram-negative bacteria using primers derived from the nucleotide sequences flanking the gene encoding the universal stress protein. Lett Appl Microbiol. 1998;27:369–71.

185. Druml B, Cichna-Markl M. High resolution melting (HRM) analysis of DNA – Its role and potential in food analysis. Food Chem. Elsevier; 2014;158:245–54.

186. Han W, Liu B, Cao B, Beutin L, Krüger U, Liu H, et al. DNA microarray-based identification of serogroups and virulence gene patterns of Escherichia coli isolates associated with porcine postweaning diarrhea and edema disease. Appl Environ Microbiol. American Society for Microbiology; 2007;73:4082–8.

187. Mader E, Ruzicka J, Schmiderer C, Novak J. Quantitative high-resolution melting analysis for detecting adulterations. Anal Biochem. Academic Press; 2011;409:153–5.

188. Omiccioli E, Amagliani G, Brandi G, Magnani M. A new platform for Real-Time PCR detection of Salmonella spp., Listeria monocytogenes and Escherichia coli O157 in milk. Food Microbiol. Elsevier Ltd; 2009;26:615–22.

189. Naze F, Le Roux K, Schuffenecker I, Zeller H, Staikowsky F, Grivard P, et al. Simultaneous detection and quantitation of Chikungunya, dengue and West Nile viruses by multiplex RT-PCR assays and dengue virus typing using high resolution melting. J Virol Methods. Elsevier; 2009;162:1–7.

190. Abdelaziz E, Ramadan H, Rasha B, Shadi S, Wael EN. Analysis of 16S ribosomal RNA gene

segments for the diagnosis of Gram negative pathogenic bacteria isolated from urinary tract infections. African J Microbiol Res. 2013;7:2862–9.

191. Iacumin L, Ginaldi F, Manzano M, Anastasi V, Reale A, Zotta T, et al. High resolution melting analysis (HRM) as a new tool for the identification of species belonging to the *Lactobacillus casei* group and comparison with species-specific PCRs and multiplex PCR. Food Microbiol. Academic Press; 2015;46:357–67.

192. Ganopoulos I, Madesis P, Darzentas N, Argiriou A, Tsaftaris A. Barcode High Resolution Melting (Bar-HRM) analysis for detection and quantification of PDO "fava Santorinis" (Lathyrus clymenum) adulterants. Food Chem. Elsevier Ltd; 2012;133:505–12.

193. Ganopoulos I, Argiriou A, Tsaftaris A. Adulterations in Basmati rice detected quantitatively by combined use of microsatellite and fragrance typing with High Resolution Melting (HRM) analysis. Food Chem. Elsevier; 2011;129:652–9.

194. Ganopoulos I, Sakaridis I, Argiriou A, Madesis P, Tsaftaris A. A novel closed-tube method based on high resolution melting (HRM) analysis for authenticity testing and quantitative detection in Greek PDO Feta cheese. Food Chem. Elsevier Ltd; 2013;141:835–40.

195. Madesis P, Ganopoulos I, Anagnostis A, Tsaftaris A. The application of Bar-HRM (Barcode DNA-High Resolution Melting) analysis for authenticity testing and quantitative detection of bean crops (Leguminosae) without prior DNA purification. Food Control. Elsevier Ltd; 2012;25:576–82.

196. Lin XB, Gänzle MG. Quantitative high-resolution melting PCR analysis for monitoring of fermentation microbiota in sourdough. Int J Food Microbiol. Elsevier B.V.; 2014;186:42–8.

197. Yang Y, Galle S, Le MHA, Zijlstra RT, Gänzle MG. Feed fermentation with reuteran- and levan-producing *Lactobacillus reuteri* reduces colonization of weanling pigs by enterotoxigenic

184

Escherichia coli. Appl Environ Microbiol. American Society for Microbiology; 2015;81:5743– 52.

198. Setia A, Bhandari SK, House JD, Nyachoti CM, Krause DO. Development and in vitro evaluation of an Escherichia coli probiotic able to inhibit the growth of pathogenic Escherichia coli K88. J Anim Sci. 2009;87:2005–12.

199. Kotlowski R, Bernstein CN, Sepehri S, Krause DO. High prevalence of Escherichia coli belonging to the B2+D phylogenetic group in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut. 2007;56:669–75. 200. Casey TA, Bosworth BT. Design and evaluation of a multiplex polymerase chain reaction assay for the simultaneous identification of genes for nine different virulence factors associated with *Escherichia coli* that cause diarrhea and edema disease in swine. J Vet Diagnostic Investig. SAGE PublicationsSage CA: Los Angeles, CA; 2009;21:25–30.

201. Radvanszky J, Surovy M, Nagyova E, Minarik G, Kadasi L. Comparison of different DNA binding fluorescent dyes for applications of high-resolution melting analysis. Clin Biochem. Elsevier; 2015;48:609–16.

202. Cheng J, Jiang Y, Rao P, Wu H, Dong Q, Wu Z, et al. Development of a single-tube multiplex real-time PCR for detection and identification of five pathogenic targets by using melting-curve analysis with EvaGreen. Arch Virol. Springer Vienna; 2013;158:379–86.

203. Gudnason H, Dufva M, Bang DD, Wolff A. Comparison of multiple DNA dyes for real-time PCR: Effects of dye concentration and sequence composition on DNA amplification and melting temperature. Nucleic Acids Res. 2007;35:1–8.

204. Mao F, Leung WY, Xin X. Characterization of EvaGreen and the implication of its physicochemical properties for qPCR applications. BMC Biotechnol. 2007;7:1–16.

205. Nagy B, Whipp SC, Imberechts H, Bertschinger HU, Dean-Nystrom EA, Casey TA, et al.

Biological relationship between F18ab and F18ac fimbriae of enterotoxigenic and verotoxigenic Escherichia coli from weaned pigs with oedema disease or diarrhoea. Microb Pathog. Academic Press; 1997;22:1–11.

206. Wilson RA, Francis DH. Fimbriae and enterotoxins associated with Escherichia coli serogroups isolated from pigs with colibacillosis. Am J Vet Res. 1986;47:213–7.

207. Cox E, Devriendt B, Melkebeek V, Vanrompay D, Goddeeris B. Interaction of *E. coli* with the intestinal immune system of the pig in the post-weaning period. Nutr Intest Microbiota Host Interact Pig, 1st Int Work Abstr. 2013;

208. Shoaf-Sweeney KD, Hutkins RW. Chapter 2 Adherence, Anti-Adherence, and Oligosaccharides. 2008. p. 101–61.

209. Kagkli DM, Folloni S, Barbau-Piednoir E, van den Eede G, van den Bulcke M. Towards a pathogenic escherichia coli detection platform using multiplex SYBR®green real-time PCR methods and high resolution melting analysis. PLoS One. 2012;7.

210. Castillo M, Martín-Orúe SM, Manzanilla EG, Badiola I, Martín M, Gasa J. Quantification of total bacteria, enterobacteria and lactobacilli populations in pig digesta by real-time PCR. Vet Microbiol. 2006;114:165–70.

211. Git A, Dvinge H, Salmon-Divon M, Osborne M, Kutter C, Hadfield J, et al. Systematic comparison of microarray profiling, real-time PCR, and next-generation sequencing technologies for measuring differential microRNA expression. RNA. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; 2010;16:991–1006.

212. Ju W, Moyne AL, Marco ML. RNA-based detection does not accurately enumerate living Escherichia coli O157: H7 cells on plants. Front Microbiol. 2016;7:1–9.

213. Gresse R, Chaucheyras-Durand F, Fleury MA, Van de Wiele T, Forano E, Blanquet-Diot S.

Gut Microbiota Dysbiosis in Postweaning Piglets: Understanding the Keys to Health. Trends Microbiol. 2017;25:851–73.

214. Wegener HC. Antibiotics in animal feed and their role in resistance development. Curr Opin Microbiol. Elsevier Current Trends; 2003;6:439–45.

215. Valeriano VDV, Balolong MP, Kang D-K. Probiotic roles of *Lactobacillus* sp. in swine: insights from gut microbiota. J Appl Microbiol. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (10.1111); 2017;122:554–67.

216. Yang Y, Galle S, Le MHA, Zijlstra RT, Gänzle MG. Feed fermentation with reuteran- and levan-producing *Lactobacillus reuteri* reduces colonization of weanling pigs by enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2015;81:5743–52.

217. Zheng J, Ruan L, Sun M, Gänzle MG. A genomic view of lactobacilli and pediococci demonstrates that phylogeny matches ecology and physiology. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2015;81:7233–43.

218. Tannock GW, Smith JMB. The microflora of the pig stomach and its possible relationship to ulceration of the pars oesophagea. J Comp Pathol. W.B. Saunders; 1970;80:359–67.

219. Tannock G, Blumershine R, Archibald R. Demonstration of epithelium-associated microbes in the oesophagus of pigs, cattle, rats and deer. FEMS Microbiol Lett. Oxford University Press; 1987;45:199–203.

220. Lee SI, Kang SG, Kang ML, Yoo HS. Development of multiplex polymerase chain reaction assays for detecting Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli and their application to field isolates from piglets with diarrhea. J Vet Diagnostic Investig. SAGE PublicationsSage CA: Los Angeles, CA; 2008;20:492–6.

221. Leser T, Amenuvor J, Jensen T, Lindecrona R, Boye M, Møller K. Culture-Independent

Analysis of Gut Bacteria: the Pig Gastrointestinal Tract Microbiota Revisited. Appl Environ Microbiol. 68:673–90.

222. Wegmann U, MacKenzie DA, Zheng J, Goesmann A, Roos S, Swarbreck D, et al. The pangenome of *Lactobacillus reuteri* strains originating from the pig gastrointestinal tract. BMC Genomics. BMC Genomics; 2015;16:1–18.

223. Su MS-W, Oh PL, Walter J, Gänzle MG. Intestinal origin of sourdough *Lactobacillus reuteri* isolates as revealed by phylogenetic, genetic, and physiological analysis. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2012;78:6777–80.

224. Broadbent JR, Neeno-Eckwall EC, Stahl B, Tandee K, Cai H, Morovic W, et al. Analysis of the *Lactobacillus casei* supragenome and its influence in species evolution and lifestyle adaptation. BMC Genomics. BioMed Central; 2012;13:533.

225. Lin X, Lohans C, Duar R, Zheng J, Vederas J, Walter J, et al. Genetic determinants of reutericyclin biosynthesis in *Lactobacillus reuteri*. Appl Env Microbiol. 81.

226. Gänzle MG. Reutericyclin: biological activity, mode of action, and potential applications. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2004;64:326–32.

227. Le MHA, Galle S, Yang Y, Landero JL, Beltranena E, Gänzle MG, et al. Effects of feeding fermented wheat with *Lactobacillus reuteri* on gut morphology, intestinal fermentation, nutrient digestibility, and growth performance in weaned pigs. J Anim Sci. 2016;94:4677–87.

228. Meroth CB, Walter J, Hertel C, Brandt MJ, Hammes WP. Monitoring the bacterial population dynamics in sourdough fermentation processes by using PCR-denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis. Appl Environ Microbiol. American Society for Microbiology; 2003;69:475–82.

229. Darling ACE, Mau B, Blattner FR, Perna NT. Mauve: multiple alignment of conserved genomic sequence with rearrangements. Genome Res. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press;

2004;14:1394-403.

230. Walter J, Hertel C, Tannock GW, Lis CM, Munro K, Hammes WP. Detection of *Lactobacillus, Pediococcus, Leuconostoc*, and *Weissella* species in human feces by using group-specific PCR primers and denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis. Appl Environ Microbiol. Am Soc Microbiol; 2001;67:2578–85.

231. Furukawa S, Shimazaki J, Kawaharada K, Matsuda T, Aoyagi H, Wakabayashi H, et al. Acid Resistance Contributes to the High-Pressure Carbon Dioxide Resistance of Escherichia coli K-12. Curr Microbiol. 2015;70:1–5.

232. Lin XB, Gänzle MG. Quantitative high-resolution melting PCR analysis for monitoring of fermentation microbiota in sourdough. Int J Food Microbiol. 2014;186:42–8.

233. Caporaso JG, Kuczynski J, Stombaugh J, Bittinger K, Bushman FD, Costello EK, et al. QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. Nat Methods. Nature Publishing Group; 2010;7:335–6.

234. Edgar RC. Search and clustering orders of magnitude faster than BLAST. Bioinformatics.2010;26:2460–1.

235. Bokulich NA, Subramanian S, Faith JJ, Gevers D, Gordon JI, Knight R, et al. Quality-filtering vastly improves diversity estimates from Illumina amplicon sequencing. Nat Methods. Nature Publishing Group; 2013;10:57–9.

236. Sattler VA, Mohnl M, Klose V. Development of a Strain-Specific Real-Time PCR Assay for Enumeration of a Probiotic *Lactobacillus reuteri* in Chicken Feed and Intestine. Balcazar JL, editor. PLoS One. Public Library of Science; 2014;9:e90208.

237. Konstantinov SR, Smidt H, de Vos WM. Representational difference analysis and real-time PCR for strain-specific quantification of *Lactobacillus sobrius* sp. nov. Appl Environ Microbiol.

American Society for Microbiology; 2005;71:7578-81.

238. Ahlroos T, Tynkkynen S. Quantitative strain-specific detection of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG in human faecal samples by real-time PCR. J Appl Microbiol. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (10.1111); 2009;106:506–14.

239. Sisto A, De Bellis P, Visconti A, Morelli L, Lavermicocca P. Development of a PCR assay for the strain-specific identification of probiotic strain *Lactobacillus paracasei* IMPC2.1. Int J Food Microbiol. Elsevier; 2009;136:59–65.

240. Riboulet-Bisson E, Sturme MHJ, Jeffery IB, O'Donnell MM, Neville BA, Forde BM, et al. Effect of *Lactobacillus salivarius* Bacteriocin Abp118 on the Mouse and Pig Intestinal Microbiota. Dias-Neto E, editor. PLoS One. Public Library of Science; 2012;7:e31113.

241. A. Frese S, W. Hutkins R, Walter J, Frese SA, Hutkins RW, Walter J. Comparison of the colonization ability of autochthonous and allochthonous strains of lactobacilli in the human gastrointestinal tract. Adv Microbiol. 2012;02:399–409.

242. Maruo T, Sakamoto M, Toda T, Benno Y. Monitoring the cell number of Lactococcus lactis subsp. cremoris FC in human feces by real-time PCR with strain-specific primers designed using the RAPD technique. Int J Food Microbiol. Elsevier; 2006;110:69–76.

243. Lucchini F, Kmet V, Cesena C, Coppi L, Bottazzi V, Morelli L. Specific detection of a probiotic *Lactobacillus* strain in faecal samples by using multiplex PCR. FEMS Microbiol Lett. Oxford University Press; 1998;158:273–8.

244. Tilsala-Timisjärvi A, Alatossava T. Strain-specific identification of probiotic *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* with randomly amplified polymorphic DNA-derived PCR primers. Appl Environ Microbiol. American Society for Microbiology; 1998;64:4816–9.

245. Bunte C, Hertel C, Hammes WP. Monitoring and Survival of Lactobacillus paracasei LTH

2579 in Food and the Human Intestinal Tract. Syst Appl Microbiol. Urban & Fischer; 2000;23:260–6.

246. Fujimoto J, Tanigawa K, Kudo Y, Makino H, Watanabe K. Identification and quantification of viable Bifidobacterium breve strain Yakult in human faeces by using strain-specific primers and propidium monoazide. J Appl Microbiol. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (10.1111); 2011;110:209–17.

247. Fujimoto J, Matsuki T, Sasamoto M, Tomii Y, Watanabe K. Identification and quantification of *Lactobacillus casei* strain Shirota in human feces with strain-specific primers derived from randomly amplified polymorphic DNA. Int J Food Microbiol. Elsevier; 2008;126:210–5.

248. Treven P, Turkova K, Trmčić A, Obermajer T, Rogelj I, Matijašić BB. Detection and quantification of probiotic strain *Lactobacillus gasseri* K7 in faecal samples by targeting bacteriocin genes. Folia Microbiol (Praha). Springer Netherlands; 2013;58:623–30.

249. Vitali B, Candela M, Matteuzzi D, Brigidi P. Quantitative Detection of Probiotic Bifidobacterium Strains in Bacterial Mixtures by Using Real-time PCR. Syst Appl Microbiol. Urban & Fischer; 2003;26:269–76.

250. Sattler VA, Mohnl M, Klose V. Development of a Strain-Specific Real-Time PCR Assay for Enumeration of a Probiotic *Lactobacillus reuteri* in Chicken Feed and Intestine. Balcazar JL, editor. PLoS One. Public Library of Science; 2014;9:e90208.

251. Vinderola G, Zacarías MF, Bockelmann W, Neve H, Reinheimer J, Heller KJ. Preservation of functionality of Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis INL1 after incorporation of freeze-dried cells into different food matrices. Food Microbiol. Academic Press; 2012;30:274–80.

252. Krause DO, Bhandari SK, House JD, Nyachoti CM. Response of nursery pigs to a synbiotic preparation of starch and an anti-Escherichia coli K88 probiotic. Appl Environ Microbiol. American Society for Microbiology; 2010;76:8192–200.

253. Zani, Weykamp da Cruz W da, Freitas dos Santos F dos, Gil-Turnes. Effect of probiotic CenBiot on the control of diarrhoea and feed efficiency in pigs. J Appl Microbiol. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (10.1111); 1998;84:68–71.

254. Marco ML, Heeney D, Binda S, Cifelli CJ, Cotter PD, Foligné B, et al. Health benefits of fermented foods: microbiota and beyond. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 2017;44:94–102.

255. Frese SA, Benson AK, Tannock GW, Loach DM, Kim J, Zhang M, et al. The Evolution of Host Specialization in the Vertebrate Gut Symbiont *Lactobacillus reuteri*. Guttman DS, editor. PLoS Genet. Public Library of Science; 2011;7:e1001314.

256. Walter J, Maldonado-Gómez MX, Martínez I. To engraft or not to engraft: an ecological framework for gut microbiome modulation with live microbes. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 2018;49:129–39.

257. Zhang D, Ji H, Liu H, Wang S, Wang J, Wang Y. Complete genome sequence of probiotic *Lactobacillus reuteri* ZLR003 isolated from healthy weaned pig. J Biotechnol. Elsevier B.V.; 2016;228:69–70.

258. Derrien M, van Hylckama Vlieg JET. Fate, activity, and impact of ingested bacteria within the human gut microbiota. Trends Microbiol. Elsevier Current Trends; 2015;23:354–66.

259. Sánchez-Maldonado AF, Schieber A, Gänzle MG. Antifungal activity of secondary plant metabolites from potatoes (Solanum tuberosum L.): Glycoalkaloids and phenolic acids show synergistic effects. J Appl Microbiol. 2016;120:955–65.

260. Tannock GW, Munro K, Harmsen HJ, Welling GW, Smart J, Gopal PK. Analysis of the fecal microflora of human subjects consuming a probiotic product containing *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* DR20. Appl Environ Microbiol. American Society for Microbiology; 2000;66:2578–88.

261. Su Y, Yao W, Perez-Gutierrez ON, Smidt H, Zhu W-Y. Changes in abundance of

Lactobacillus spp. and Streptococcus suis in the stomach, jejunum and ileum of piglets after weaning. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. Oxford University Press; 2008;66:546–55.

262. Pulliam JRC, Epstein JH, Dushoff J, Rahman SA, Bunning M, Jamaluddin AA, et al. Agricultural intensification, priming for persistence and the emergence of Nipah virus: a lethal bat-borne zoonosis. J R Soc Interface. 2012;9:89–101.

263. Kyriakis SC, Sarris K, Kritas SK, Tsinas AC, Giannakopoulos C. Effect of salinomycin in the control of Clostridium perfringens type C infection in suckling pigs. Vet Rec. 1996;138:281–
3.

264. Toledo A, Gomez D, Cruz C, Carreon R, Lopez J, Giono S, et al. Prevalence of virulence genes in Escherichia coli strains isolated from piglets in the suckling and weaning period in Mexico. J Med Microbiol. 2012;61:148–56.

265. Felder CB, Vorlaender N, Gander B, Merkle HP, Bertschinger HU. Microencapsulated enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* and detached fimbriae for peroral vaccination of pigs. Vaccine. 2001;19:706–15.

266. Oh PL, Benson AK, Peterson DA, Patil PB, Moriyama EN, Roos S, et al. Diversification of the gut symbiont *Lactobacillus reuteri* as a result of host-driven evolution. ISME J. Nature Publishing Group; 2010;4:377–87.

267. Zhao X, Wang W, Blaine A, Kane ST, Zijlstra RT, Gänzle MG. Impact of probiotic *Lactobacillus* sp.on autochthonous lactobacilli in weaned piglets. J Appl Microbiol. 2018;126:242–54.

268. Yang Y, Galle S, Le MHA, Zijlstra RT, Gänzle MG. Feed fermentation with reuteran- and levan-producing *Lactobacillus reuteri* reduces colonization of weanling pigs by Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli. Appl Environ Microbiol. American Society for Microbiology; 2015;81:5743–52.

269. Iaconelli C, Lemetais G, Kechaou N, Chain F, Bermúdez-Humarán LG, Langella P, et al. Drying process strongly affects probiotics viability and functionalities. J Biotechnol. Elsevier; 2015;214:17–26.

270. Albadran HA, Chatzifragkou A, Khutoryanskiy V V., Charalampopoulos D. Stability of probiotic *Lactobacillus plantarum* in dry microcapsules under accelerated storage conditions. Food Res Int. Elsevier; 2015;74:208–16.

271. Yang Y. Feed fermentation formulate gut microbiota of weanling pigs - Effects of exopolysaccharides and reutericyclin. 2014;

272. Zhao X, Wang W, Blaine A, Kane ST, Zijlstra RT, Gänzle MG. Impact of probiotic *Lactobacillus* sp. on autochthonous lactobacilli in weaned piglets. J Appl Microbiol. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (10.1111); 2019;126:242–54.

273. Edgar RC. UPARSE: highly accurate OTU sequences from microbial amplicon reads. Nat Methods. Nature Publishing Group; 2013;10:996.

274. Kim P Il, Jung MY, Chang Y-H, Kim S, Kim S-J, Park Y-H. Probiotic properties of *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* strains isolated from porcine gastrointestinal tract. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. Springer-Verlag; 2007;74:1103–11.

275. Roselli M, Finamore A, Britti MS, Konstantinov SR, Smidt H, de Vos WM, et al. The Novel Porcine *Lactobacillus sobrius* Strain Protects Intestinal Cells from Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli K88 Infection and Prevents Membrane Barrier Damage. J Nutr. 2018;137:2709–16.

276. Albadran HA, Chatzifragkou A, Khutoryanskiy V V., Charalampopoulos D. Stability of probiotic *Lactobacillus plantarum* in dry microcapsules under accelerated storage conditions. Food Res Int. Elsevier; 2015;74:208–16.

277. Isolauri E, Rautanen T, Juntunen M, Sillanaukee P, Koivula T. A Human Lactobacillus Strain

(Lactobacillus Casei sp strain GG) Promotes Recovery From Acute Diarrhea in Children. Pediatrics. 1991;88.

278. Stanton C, Ross RP, Fitzgerald GF, Sinderen D Van. Fermented functional foods based on probiotics and their biogenic metabolites. Curr Opin Biotechnol. Elsevier Current Trends; 2005;16:198–203.

279. Wang W, Hu H, Zijlstra RT, Zheng J, Gänzle MG. Metagenomic reconstructions of gut microbial metabolism in weanling pigs. Microbiome. 2019;7:48.

280. Kommineni S, Bretl DJ, Lam V, Chakraborty R, Hayward M, Simpson P, et al. Bacteriocin production augments niche competition by enterococci in the mammalian gastrointestinal tract. Nature. Nature Publishing Group; 2015;526:719–22.

281. Gänzle MG, Vogel RF. Contribution of reutericyclin production to the stable persistence of *Lactobacillus reuteri* in an industrial sourdough fermentation. Int J Food Microbiol. Elsevier; 2003;80:31–45.

282. Zheng J, Gänzle MG, Lin XB, Ruan L, Sun M. Diversity and dynamics of bacteriocins from human microbiome. Environ Microbiol. 2015;17:2133–43.

283. Liu L, Hao T, Xie Z, Horsman GP, Chen Y. Genome mining unveils widespread natural product biosynthetic capacity in human oral microbe Streptococcus mutans. Sci Rep. Nature Publishing Group; 2016;6:37479.

284. Riboulet-Bisson E, Sturme MHJ, Jeffery IB, O'Donnell MM, Neville BA, Forde BM, et al. Effect of *Lactobacillus salivarius* Bacteriocin Abp118 on the Mouse and Pig Intestinal Microbiota. Dias-Neto E, editor. PLoS One. Public Library of Science; 2012;7:e31113.

285. Cole BK, Scott E, Ilikj M, Bard D, Akins DR, Dyer DW, et al. Route of infection alters virulence of neonatal septicemia Escherichia coli clinical isolates. Beloin C, editor. PLoS One.

Public Library of Science; 2017;12:e0189032.

286. Gorkiewicz G, Thallinger GG, Trajanoski S, Lackner S, Stocker G, Hinterleitner T, et al. Alterations in the Colonic Microbiota in Response to Osmotic Diarrhea. Ravel J, editor. PLoS One. Public Library of Science; 2013;8:e55817.

287. Molist F, Manzanilla EG, Pérez JF, Nyachoti CM. Coarse, but not finely ground, dietary fibre increases intestinal *Firmicutes:Bacteroidetes* ratio and reduces diarrhoea induced by experimental infection in piglets. Br J Nutr. Cambridge University Press; 2012;108:9–15.

288. Bäckhed F, Roswall J, Peng Y, Feng Q, Jia H, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, et al. Dynamics and stabilization of the human gut microbiome during the first year of life. Cell Host Microbe. 2015;17:852.

289. Blekhman R, Goodrich JK, Huang K, Sun Q, Bukowski R, Bell JT, et al. Host genetic variation impacts microbiome composition across human body sites. Genome Biol. 2015;16:1–12. 290. Browne HP, Forster SC, Anonye BO, Kumar N, Neville BA, Stares MD, et al. Culturing of "unculturable" human microbiota reveals novel taxa and extensive sporulation. Nature. 2016;533:543–6.

291. Dethlefsen L, Eckburg PB, Bik EM, Relman DA. Assembly of the human intestinal microbiota. Trends Ecol Evol. 2006;21:517–23.

292. Benson AK, Kelly SA, Legge R, Ma F, Low SJ, Kim J, et al. Individuality in gut microbiota composition is a complex polygenic trait shaped by multiple environmental and host genetic factors. PNAS. 2010;107:18933–8.

293. Camarinha-Silva A, Maushammer M, Wellmann R, Vital M, Preuss S, Bennewitz J. Host genome influence on gut microbial composition and microbial prediction of complex traits in pigs. Genetics. 2017;206:1637–44.

294. Frese SA, Parker K, Calvert CC, Mills DA. Diet shapes the gut microbiome of pigs during nursing and weaning. Microbiome. Microbiome; 2015;3:28.

295. Koropatkin NM, Cameron EA, Martens EC. How glycan metabolism shapes the human gut microbiota. Nat Rev Microbiol. Nature Publishing Group; 2012;10:323–35.

296. Chung WSF, Walker AW, Louis P, Parkhill J, Vermeiren J, Bosscher D, et al. Modulation of the human gut microbiota by dietary fibres occurs at the species level. BMC Biol. 2016;14:1–14.

297. Sharon I, Morowitz MJ, Thomas BC, Costello EK, Relman DA, Banfield JF. Time series community genomics analysis reveals rapid shifts in bacterial species, strains, and phage during infant gut colonization. Genome Res. 2013;23:111–20.

298. Sullam KE, Rubin BER, Dalton CM, Kilham SS, Flecker AS, Russell JA. Divergence across diet, time and populations rules out parallel evolution in the gut microbiomes of Trinidadian guppies. ISME J. Nature Publishing Group; 2015;9:1508–22.

299. Bach Knudsen KE, Hedemann MS, Lærke HN. The role of carbohydrates in intestinal health of pigs. Anim Feed Sci Technol. Elsevier B.V.; 2012;173:41–53.

300. Jha R, Berrocoso JD. Review: Dietary fiber utilization and its effects on physiological functions and gut health of swine. Animal. 2015;9:1441–52.

301. Molist F, van Oostrum M, Pérez JF, Mateos GG, Nyachoti CM, van der Aar PJ. Relevance of functional properties of dietary fibre in diets for weanling pigs. Anim Feed Sci Technol. Elsevier B.V.; 2014;189:1–10.

302. Magnúsdóttir S, Heinken A, Kutt L, Ravcheev DA, Bauer E, Noronha A, et al. Generation of genome-scale metabolic reconstructions for 773 members of the human gut microbiota. Nat Biotechnol. Nature Publishing Group; 2017;35:81–9.

303. Schmidt TSB, Raes J, Bork P. The human gut microbiome: From association to modulation.

Cell. Elsevier Inc.; 2018;172:1198–215.

304. Slifierz MJ, Friendship RM, Weese JS. Longitudinal study of the early-life fecal and nasal microbiotas of the domestic pig. BMC Microbiol. BMC Microbiology; 2015;15:1–12.

305. Bolger AM, Lohse M, Usadel B. Trimmomatic: A flexible trimmer for Illumina sequence data. Bioinformatics. 2014;30:2114–20.

306. Wu Y, Tang Y, Tringe SG, Simmons BA, Singer SW. MaxBin: an automated binning method to recover individual genomes from metagenomes using an expectation-maximization algorithm. Microbiome. 2014;2:1–18.

307. Olm MR, Brown CT, Brooks B, Banfield JF. DRep: A tool for fast and accurate genomic comparisons that enables improved genome recovery from metagenomes through de-replication. ISME J. Nature Publishing Group; 2017;11:2864–8.

308. Parks DH, Imelfort M, Skennerton CT, Hugenholtz P, Tyson GW. CheckM: Assessing the quality of microbial genomes recovered from isolates, single cells, and metagenomes. Genome Res. 2015;25:1043–55.

309. Svartström O, Alneberg J, Terrapon N, Lombard V, De Bruijn I, Malmsten J, et al. Ninetynine de novo assembled genomes from the moose (*Alces alces*) rumen microbiome provide new insights into microbial plant biomass degradation. ISME J. Nature Publishing Group; 2017;11:2538–51.

310. Vent DH, Indian S, Zhao S, Zheng P, Dong S, Zhan X, et al. Prodigal: prokaryotic gene recognition and translation initiation site identification. Nat Commun. 2014;6:1–8.

311. Robert D. Finn, Jody Clements, William Arndt, Benjamin L. Miller, Travis J. Wheeler, Fabian
Schreiber AB and SRE. HMMER web server: 2015 update. Nucleic Acids Res. 2015;43:W30-8.
312. Segata N, Boernigen D, Tickle TL, Morgan XC, Garrett WS, Huttenhower C. Computational

meta'omics for microbial community studies. Mol Syst Biol. 2013;9:1–15.

313. Konstantinidis KT, Rosselló-Móra R, Amann R. Uncultivated microbes in need of their own taxonomy. ISME J. Nature Publishing Group; 2017;11:2399–406.

314. Rodriguez-R LM, Konstantinidis KT. Bypassing cultivation to identify bacterial species culture-independent genomic approaches identify credibly distinct clusters, avoid cultivation bias, and provide true insights into microbial species. Microbe. 2014;9:111–7.

315. Gupta RS, Lo B, Son J. Phylogenomics and comparative genomic studies robustly support division of the genus *Mycobacterium* into an emended genus *Mycobacterium* and four novel genera. Front Microbiol. 2018;9:1–41.

316. Chen C, Zhou F, Ren J, Ai L, Dong Y, Wu Z, et al. Cloning, expression and functional validation of a β - fructofuranosidase from *Lactobacillus plantarum*. Process Biochem. Elsevier Ltd; 2014;49:758–67.

317. Flint HJ, Scott KP, Duncan SH, Louis P, Forano E. Microbial degradation of complex carbohydrates in the gut. Gut Microbes. 2012;289–306.

318. Martens EC, Koropatkin NM, Smith TJ, Gordon JI. Complex glycan catabolism by the human gut microbiota: The bacteroidetes sus-like paradigm. J Biol Chem. 2009;284:24673–7.

319. Ryan SM, Fitzgerald GF, Van Sinderen D. Screening for and identification of starch-, amylopectin-, and pullulan-degrading activities in bifidobacterial strains. Appl Env Microbiol. 2006;72:5289–96.

320. Scott KP, Martin JC, Chassard C, Clerget M, Potrykus J, Campbell G, et al. Substrate-driven gene expression in *Roseburia inulinivorans*: Importance of inducible enzymes in the utilization of inulin and starch. PNAS. 2011;108:4672–9.

321. Sonnenburg ED, Zheng H, Joglekar P, Higginbottom SK, Firbank SJ, Bolam DN, et al.

Specificity of polysaccharide use in intestinal bacteroides species determines diet-induced microbiota alterations. Cell. Elsevier Ltd; 2010;141:1241–52.

322. Ze X, David Y Ben, Laverde-Gomez JA, Dassa B, Sheridan PO, Duncan SH, et al. Unique organization of extracellular amylases into amylosomes in the resistant starch-utilizing human colonic firmicutes bacterium *Ruminococcus bromii*. MBio. 2015;6:1–11.

323. Loponen J, Gänzle M. Use of sourdough in low FODMAP baking. Foods. 2018;7:96.

324. Pluske JR. Feed- and feed additives-related aspects of gut health and development in weanling pigs. J Anim Sci Biotechnol. 2013;4:1–7.

325. Kristensen NB, Bryrup T, Allin KH, Nielsen T, Hansen TH, Pedersen O. Alterations in fecal microbiota composition by probiotic supplementation in healthy adults: A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Genome Med. Genome Medicine; 2016;8.

326. Hugerth LW, Larsson J, Alneberg J, Lindh M V., Legrand C, Pinhassi J, et al. Metagenomeassembled genomes uncover a global brackish microbiome. Genome Biol. Genome Biology; 2015;16:1–18.

327. Peng Y, Leung HCM, Yiu SM, Chin FYL. IDBA-UD: A *de novo* assembler for single-cell and metagenomic sequencing data with highly uneven depth. Bioinformatics. 2012;28:1420–8.

328. Hug LA, Baker BJ, Anantharaman K, Brown CT, Probst AJ, Castelle CJ, et al. A new view of the tree of life. Nat Microbiol. 2016;1:1–6.

329. Mukherjee S, Seshadri R, Varghese NJ, Eloe-Fadrosh EA, Meier-Kolthoff JP, Göker M, et al. 1,003 reference genomes of bacterial and archaeal isolates expand coverage of the tree of life. Nat Biotechnol. Nature Publishing Group; 2017;35:676–83.

330. Di Cesare A, Fontaneto D, Doppelbauer J, Corno G. Fitness and recovery of bacterial communities and antibiotic resistance genes in urban wastewaters exposed to classical disinfection

treatments. Env Sci Technol. 2016;50:10153-61.

331. Hamaker BR, Tuncil YE. A perspective on the complexity of dietary fiber structures and their potential effect on the gut microbiota. J Mol Biol. Elsevier Ltd; 2014;426:3838–50.

332. Metzler-Zebeli BU, Schmitz-Esser S, Mann E, Grüll D, Molnar T, Zebeli Q. Adaptation of the cecal bacterial microbiome of growing pigs in response to resistant starch type 4. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2015;81:8489–99.

333. Robert C, Bernalier-Donadille A. The cellulolytic microflora of the human colon: Evidence of microcrystalline cellulose-degrading bacteria in methane-excreting subjects. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 2003;46:81–9.

334. Ze X, Duncan SH, Louis P, Flint HJ. *Ruminococcus bromii* is a keystone species for the degradation of resistant starch in the human colon. ISME J. Nature Publishing Group; 2012;6:1535–43.

335. Haenen D, Zhang J, Souza da Silva C, Bosch G, van der Meer IM, van Arkel J, et al. A diet digh in resistant starch modulates microbiota composition, SCFA concentrations, and gene expression in pig intestine. J Nutr. 2013;143:274–83.

336. Guchte M Van De, Penaud S, Grimaldi C, Barbe V, Bryson K, Nicolas P, et al. The complete genome sequence of *Lactobacillus Bulgaricus* reveas reductive evolution. PNAS. 2006;

337. Guchte M Van De, Penaud S, Grimaldi C, Barbe V, Bryson K, Nicolas P, et al. The complete genome sequence of *Lactobacillus Bulgaricus* reveas reductive evolution. PNAS. 2006;

338. Sorensen HR, Pedersen S, Jorgensen CT, Meyer ASAS, Sørensen HR, Pedersen S, et al. Enzymatic hydrolysis of wheat arabinoxylan by a recombinant "minimal" enzyme cocktail containing β -xylosidase and novel endo-1,4- β -xylanase and α -L-arabinofuranosidase activities. Biotechnol Prog. American Chemical Society (ACS); 2007;23:100–7. 339. Cockburn DW, Orlovsky NI, Foley MH, Kwiatkowski KJ, Bahr CM, Maynard M, et al. Molecular details of a starch utilization pathway in the human gut symbiont *Eubacterium rectale*. Mol Microbiol. 2015;95:209–30.

340. Reichardt N, Vollmer M, Holtrop G, Farquharson FM, Wefers D, Bunzel M, et al. Specific substrate-driven changes in human faecal microbiota composition contrast with functional redundancy in short-chain fatty acid production. ISME J. Nature Publishing Group; 2018;12:610–22.

341. Krumbeck JA, Rasmussen HE, Hutkins RW, Clarke J, Shawron K, Keshavarzian A WJ. Probiotic *Bifidobacterium* strains and galactooligosaccharides improve intestinal barrier function in obese adults but show no synergism when used together as synbiotics. Microbiome. Microbiome; 2018;6.

342. Rumbak E, Rawlings DE, Lindsey GG, Woods DR. Characterization of the *Butyrivibrio fibrisolvens* glgB gene, which encodes a glycogen-branching enzyme with starch-clearing activity. J Bacteriol. 1991;173:6732–41.

343. Lee S, Cantarel B, Henrissat B, Gevers D, Birren BW, Huttenhower C, et al. Gene-targeted metagenomic analysis of glucan-branching enzyme gene profiles among human and animal fecal microbiota. ISME J. Nature Publishing Group; 2014;8:493–503.

344. D'Elia JN, Salyers AA. Contribution of a neopullulanase, a pullulanase, and an alphaglucosidase to growth of *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron* on starch. J Bacteriol. 1996;178:7173–9.

345. Wilson B, Whelan K. Prebiotic inulin-type fructans and galacto-oligosaccharides: definition, specificity, function, and application in gastrointestinal disorders. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;32:64–8.

346. Petrov K, Popova L, Petrova P. High lactic acid and fructose production via Mn2+-mediated

conversion of inulin by *Lactobacillus paracasei*. Appl Env Microbiol. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology; 2017;101:4433–45.

347. Schwab C, Vogel R, Gänzle MG. Influence of oligosaccharides on the viability and membrane properties of *Lactobacillus reuteri* TMW1.106 during freeze-drying. Cryobiology. 2007;55:108–14.

348. Pridmore RD, Berger B, Desiere F, Vilanova D, Barretto C, Pittet A-C, et al. The genome sequence of the probiotic intestinal bacterium *Lactobacillus johnsonii* NCC 533. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2004;101:2512–7.

349. Flint HJ, Duncan SH, Louis P. The impact of nutrition on intestinal bacterial communities. Curr Opin Biotechnol. Elsevier Ltd; 2017;38:59–65.

350. Klobasa F, Werhahn E, Butler JE. Composition of sow milk during lactation. J Anim Sci. 1987;64:1458–66.

351. Gänzle MG, Follador R. Metabolism of oligosaccharides and starch in lactobacilli: A review. Front Microbiol. 2012;3:e340.

352. Honda H, Kataoka F, Nagaoka S, Kawai Y, Kitazawa H, Itoh H, et al. β-Galactosidase, phospho-β-galactosidase and phospho-β- glucosidase activities in lactobacilli strains isolated from human faeces. Lett Appl Microbiol. 2007;45:461–6.

353. Schwab C, Sørensen KI, Gänzle MG. Heterologous expression of glycoside hydrolase family 2 and 42 β-galactosidases of lactic acid bacteria in *Lactococcus lactis*. Syst Appl Microbiol. 2010;33:300–7.

354. Arola H, Tamm A. Metabolism of lactose in the human body. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1994;29:21–5.

355. Ze X, Ben David Y, Laverde-Gomez JA, Dassa B, Sheridan PO, Duncan SH, et al. Unique

organization of extracellular amylases into amylosomes in the resistant starch-utilizing human colonic firmicutes bacterium *Ruminococcus bromii*. MBio. American Society for Microbiology; 2015;6:e01058-15.

356. Martens EC, Koropatkin NM, Smith TJ, Gordon JI. Complex glycan catabolism by the human gut microbiota: the *Bacteroidetes* Sus-like paradigm. J Biol Chem. American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology; 2009;284:24673–7.

357. Pijning T, Anwar MA, Böger M, Dobruchowska JM, Leemhuis H, Kralj S, et al. Crystal structure of inulosucrase from *Lactobacillus*: insights into the substrate specificity and product specificity of GH68 fructansucrases. J Mol Biol. Academic Press; 2011;412:80–93.

358. Yin X, Heeney DD, Srisengfa YT, Chen SY, Slupsky CM, Marco ML. Sucrose metabolism alters *Lactobacillus plantarum* survival and interactions with the microbiota in the digestive tract. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. Oxford University Press; 2018;94:1–10.

359. Schwab C, Sørensen KI, Gänzle MG. Heterologous expression of glycoside hydrolase family 2 and 42 β-galactosidases of lactic acid bacteria in *Lactococcus lactis*. Syst Appl Microbiol. Urban & Fischer; 2010;33:300–7.

360. Goulas TK, Goulas AK, Tzortzis G, Gibson GR. Molecular cloning and comparative analysis of four β-galactosidase genes from *Bifidobacterium bifidum* NCIMB41171. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2007;76:1365–72.

361. Schwab C, Gänzle M. Lactic acid bacteria fermentation of human milk oligosaccharide components, human milk oligosaccharides and galactooligosaccharides. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2011;315:141–8.

362. Patron NJ, Keeling PJ. Common evolutionary origin of starch biosynthetic enzymes in green ans red algae. J Phycol. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (10.1111); 2005;41:1131–41.

363. Ball SG, Morell MK. From bacterial glycogen to starch : understanding the biogenesis of the plant starch granule. Annu Rev Plant Biol. Annual Reviews 4139 El Camino Way, P.O. Box 10139, Palo Alto, CA 94303-0139, USA; 2003;54:207–33.

364. Suzuki E, Suzuki R. Distribution of glucan-branching enzymes among prokaryotes. Cell Mol Life Sci. Springer International Publishing; 2016;73:2643–60.

365. Palomo M, Pijning T, Booiman T, Dobruchowska JM, van der Vlist J, Kralj S, et al. Thermus thermophilus glycoside hydrolase family 57 branching enzyme: crystal structure, mechanism of action, and products formed. J Biol Chem. American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology; 2011;286:3520–30.

366. Lee S, Cantarel B, Henrissat B, Gevers D, Birren BW, Huttenhower C, et al. Gene-targeted metagenomic analysis of glucan-branching enzyme gene profiles among human and animal fecal microbiota. ISME J. Nature Publishing Group; 2014;8:493–503.

367. Rumbak E, Rawlings DE, Lindsey GG, Woods DR. Characterization of the *Butyrivibrio fibrisolvens* glgB gene, which encodes a glycogen-branching enzyme with starch-clearing activity. J Bacteriol. American Society for Microbiology Journals; 1991;173:6732–41.

368. Tsusaki K, Watanabe H, Nishimoto T, Yamamoto T, Kubota M, Chaen H, et al. Structure of a novel highly branched α -glucan enzymatically produced from maltodextrin. Carbohydr Res. Elsevier; 2009;344:2151–6.

369. Kittisuban P, Lee B-H, Suphantharika M, Hamaker BR. Slow glucose release property of enzyme-synthesized highly branched maltodextrins differs among starch sources. Carbohydr Polym. Elsevier; 2014;107:182–91.

370. Wu S, Liu Y, Yan Q, Jiang Z. Gene cloning, functional expression and characterisation of a novel glycogen branching enzyme from Rhizomucor miehei and its application in wheat

breadmaking. Food Chem. Elsevier; 2014;159:85–94.

371. Li W, Li C, Gu Z, Qiu Y, Cheng L, Hong Y, et al. Relationship between structure and retrogradation properties of corn starch treated with 1,4-α-glucan branching enzyme. Food Hydrocoll. Elsevier; 2016;52:868–75.

372. Hoover R, Hadziyev D. Characterization of Potato Starch and Its Monoglyceride Complexes.Starch - Stärke. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 1981;33:290–300.

373. Hinrichs W, Büttner G, Steifa M, Betzel C, Zabel V, Pfannemüller B, et al. An amylose antiparallel double helix at atomic resolution. Science. American Association for the Advancement of Science; 1987;238:205–8.

374. Yui T, Uto T, Nakauchida T, Yamamoto K, Kadokawa J. Double helix formation from nonnatural amylose analog polysaccharides. Carbohydr Polym. Elsevier; 2018;189:184–9.

375. Garza DR, Van Verk MC, Huynen MA, Dutilh BE. Towards predicting the environmental metabolome from metagenomics with a mechanistic model. Nat Microbiol. 2018;3.

376. Kim E-J, Ryu S-I, Bae H-A, Huong NT, Lee S-B. Biochemical characterisation of a glycogen branching enzyme from Streptococcus mutans: Enzymatic modification of starch. Food Chem. Elsevier; 2008;110:979–84.

377. Kim E-J, Ryu S-I, Bae H-A, Huong NT, Lee S-B. Biochemical characterisation of a glycogen branching enzyme from Streptococcus mutans: Enzymatic modification of starch. Food Chem. Elsevier; 2008;110:979–84.

378. Tsusaki K, Watanabe H, Nishimoto T, Yamamoto T, Kubota M, Chaen H, et al. Structure of a novel highly branched α -glucan enzymatically produced from maltodextrin. Carbohydr Res. Elsevier; 2009;344:2151–6.

379. Myers AM, Morell MK, James MG, Ball SG. Recent progress toward understanding

biosynthesis of the amylopectin crystal. Plant Physiol. American Society of Plant Biologists; 2000;122:989–97.

380. Wu S, Liu Y, Yan Q, Jiang Z. Gene cloning, functional expression and characterisation of a novel glycogen branching enzyme from Rhizomucor miehei and its application in wheat breadmaking. Food Chem. Elsevier; 2014;159:85–94.

381. Banks W, Greenwood CT, Khan KM. The interaction of linear, amylose oligomers with iodine. Carbohydr Res. Elsevier; 1971;17:25–33.

382. Mcmahon TC, Blais BW, Wong A, Carrillo CD. Multiplexed Single Intact Cell Droplet Digital PCR (MuSIC ddPCR) method for specific detection of Enterohemorrhagic *E*. *coli*(EHEC) in food enrichment cultures. 2017;8:1–14.

383. Hindson CM, Chevillet JR, Briggs HA, Gallichotte EN, Ruf IK, Hindson BJ, et al. Absolute quantification by droplet digital PCR versus analog real-time PCR. Nat Methods. Nature Publishing Group; 2013;10:1003–5.

384. Hindson BJ, Ness KD, Masquelier DA, Belgrader P, Heredia NJ, Makarewicz AJ, et al. Highthroughput droplet digital PCR system for absolute quantitation of DNA copy number. Anal Chem. 2011;83:8604–10.

385. Looft T, Allen HK, Cantarel BL, Levine UY, Bayles DO, Alt DP, et al. Bacteria, phages and pigs: The effects of in-feed antibiotics on the microbiome at different gut locations. ISME J. Nature Publishing Group; 2014;8:1566–76.

386. Rakoff-Nahoum S, Foster KR, Comstock LE. The evolution of cooperation within the gut microbiota. Nature. Nature Publishing Group; 2016;533:255–9.

387. Walter J. Ecological role of lactobacilli in the gastrointestinal tract: implications for fundamental and biomedical research. Appl Env Microbiol. 2008;74:4985–96.

388. Duar RM, Clark KJ, Patil PB, Hernandez C, Bruning S, Burkey TE, et al. Identification and characterization of intestinal lactobacilli strains capable of degrading immunotoxic peptides present in gluten. J Appl Microbiol. 2015;118:515–27.

389. Gänzle MG, Zheng J. Lifestyles of sourdough lactobacilli – Do they matter for microbial ecology and bread quality? Int J Food Microbiol. 2018;

390. Mitri S, Richard Foster K. The Genotypic View of Social Interactions in Microbial Communities. Annu Rev Genet. 2013;47:247–73.